Neurobiology of Cost-Benefit Decision Making

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

Mani Erfanian Abdoust

aus Mainz

Düsseldorf, Mai 2024

aus dem Institut für Experimentelle Psychologie, Biologische Psychologie des Entscheidungsverhaltens der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Berichterstatter:

1. Prof. Dr. Gerhard Jocham

2. Prof. Dr. Tobias Kalenscher

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 28.08.2024

Danksagung – Acknowledgments

Nach mehr als drei Jahren ist es nun endlich soweit, dass ich meine Promotion abschließe. Wenn ich auf das zurückschaue, was ich in der Zeit alles getan habe und was in all der Zeit passiert ist, spüre ich Freude, Erleichterung und Dankbarkeit. Freude, da ich nun langsam erst realisiere, was ich in den mehr als drei Jahren alles erreicht und vor allem gelernt habe. Erleichterung, da trotz all der positiven Erfahrungen eine solche Arbeit immer auch mit Anstrengung und Aufwand einhergeht, welche ich zum Glück größtenteils meistern konnte. Und Dankbarkeit, da all das ohne bestimmte Personen niemals möglich gewesen wäre. Diesen Personen ist dieser Abschnitt gewidmet.

Der größte Dank gilt meinen Eltern, meiner Schwester, und meiner Freundin. Ohne euch hätte ich die Promotion, und all die Herausforderung, niemals in der Form überstanden. Vermutlich hätte ich die Promotion ohne euch gar nicht erst angefangen. Ich wusste, dass ihr mich immer unterstützen werdet und, dass ich mich immer auf euch verlassen kann.

Lieber Gerhard, wir wissen beide, dass meine Promotionszeit alles andere als nach Plan lief. Doch trotz der ganzen damit verbundenen Unsicherheiten, wusste ich immer, dass ich mich auf dich verlassen kann. Daher bin ich dir unendlich dankbar für deine Unterstützung in allen Bereichen, sowohl was das wissenschaftliche, als auch was andere Themen angeht. Letztendlich war es dein Einsatz und auch deine Offenheit für Themen, die es mir ermöglicht haben, so frei wie möglich daran zu forschen und genau das zu machen, worauf ich Lust hatte.

Liebe Hannah, liebe Antonia, gemeinsam haben wir die ersten Schritte in Bayesscher Modellierung unternommen, uns Plots angeguckt und oft überlegt, ob das Ganze überhaupt irgendeinen Sinn macht. Die Gespräche mit euch und eure Tipps waren ein wichtiger Antrieb für mich und wahrscheinlich hätte ich nicht einmal ein Bash Skript benutzen können, wenn ich euch nicht so oft nach den korrekten Befehlen gefragt hätte. Ihr habt für eine schöne Zeit im Büro gesorgt. Wenn ihr demnächst auch eure Promotion beendet, bin ich mir sicher, dass ihr euren Weg findet. Vielleicht werden wir ja tatsächlich nochmal Arbeitskolleg*innen in einem richtigen Unternehmen mit Obstkorb, Dachterrasse und Freigetränken.

Liebe Monja, eine Person wie dich hätte ich mir seit dem ersten Semester als Dozentin gewünscht. Eine Person, die sich für Wissenschaft begeistert, immer die richtigen Tipps parat und ein offenes Ohr hat, Interesse an einem zeigt und auch auf persönlicher Ebene total angenehm ist. Vielen Dank für deine Hilfe und deine Unterstützung in den letzten Jahren! Ich bin überzeugt, dass du sowohl innerhalb der Wissenschaft, als auch außerhalb, einen tollen Job machen wirst.

Dear Anna, dear Lina, although we didn't share the same office, we shared a lot of happy moments together. Anna, I always admired you for your commitment for science in general and your support for the students that you assisted. I know that the dedication you gave and give are nothing but natural in our field. Lina, I was always impressed by your determination and your self-confidence. I think you already know where your path is leading you and I am sure that you'll do a great work.

Lieber Eduard, lieber Felix, auch wir hatten leider während meiner gesamten Zeit nicht viel miteinander zu tun, aber die Zeit mit euch war immer entspannt. Eduard, ich kann bis heute nicht verstehen, wie du es schaffst, regelmäßig von Holland aus zu pendeln, Respekt dafür! Und Felix, wir hatte nur eine kurze Überschneidung im Lab, aber von Anfang an war ich beeindruckt darüber, wie sehr du dich für die Wissenschaft begeisterst und wie viel Spaß es dir macht.

Christiane, vielen Dank für deine Hilfe bei all den organisatorischen und bürokratischen Themen. Ohne dich wäre ich an der Bürokratie noch mehr verzweifelt, als ich es sowieso schon bin. Und auch vielen Dank für das großes Angebot an Snacks, die mich oft über den Tag gebracht haben, wenn es in der Mensa mal wieder nichts Richtiges gab.

Liebe Kira, liebe Hannah, lieber Lukas, für uns alle lief es auf der "Insel" alles andere als optimal. Aber mit euch gemeinsam im Büro zu sein, über Forschung und Privates zu reden und gemeinsam essen zu gehen hat letztendlich dazu geführt, dass ich ohne Bauchschmerzen die Zeit dort verbracht habe und letztendlich auch etwas wehmütig zurückblicke.

Liebe Bettina, auch wenn unsere Zeit zusammen nur ein Jahr dauerte, möchte ich mich dennoch bei dir bedanken. Deine Anleitung und dein Rat haben mir in dieser Anfangsphase sehr geholfen und ich schätze es auch sehr, dass du mir selbst nach deinem Abgang noch mit deiner Hilfe zur Seite standest.

Mein Dank geht auch raus an Bibiana, Maria Angelina, Evelina und Alina, ohne die ich die Datenerhebung niemals geschafft hätte. Auf euch war immer Verlass und im Notfall seid ihr auch kurzfristig eingesprungen. Vielen Dank dafür!

Zusammenfassung

Menschen stehen täglich vor Entscheidungen, bei denen sie zwischen verschiedenen Optionen wählen, die unterschiedliche Konsequenzen haben können. Wenn Individuen solche Entscheidungen treffen, berücksichtigen sie nicht nur den Nutzen der Option, sondern auch die Kosten, die mit dieser Wahl verknüpft sind. Diese Dissertation trägt dazu bei, das Verständnis über die Mechanismen, die diesen Kosten-Nutzen-Entscheidungen zugrunde liegen, zu vertiefen.

Die vorliegende Arbeit setzt einen Schwerpunkt auf die Neurobiologie von Entscheidungen, die den Abwägungsprozess zwischen Belohnungen und korrespondierenden Kosten beinhalten. Speziell wurde der Einfluss zwei verschiedener Neurotransmitter untersucht: Dopamin und Acetylcholin. Während eine Vielzahl von Studien zeigen, dass Dopamin eine wichtige Rolle bei Kosten-Nutzen-Entscheidungen spielt, ist die Rolle des Acetylcholins in diesen Prozessen weniger klar. Um die unterschiedlichen Rollen der beiden Neurotransmitter zu untersuchen, wurde das Entscheidungsverhalten gesunder Menschen in einer psychopharmakologischen, Placebo-kontrollierten Studie mit Messwiederholung untersucht. Dopaminerge und cholinerge Transmission wurden mit Haloperidol, einem Dopaminantagonisten, wirksam an den Rezeptoren der D2-Familie, und Biperiden, einem cholinergen Muskarinantagonisten, wirksam am M1 Rezeptor, manipuliert. Zwei Verhaltensparadigmen wurden verwendet, um getrennt den Einfluss zeitlicher Verzögerungskosten und physikalischer Aufwandskosten auf belohnungsbasiertes Entscheidungsverhalten zu erfassen. Regressionsanalysen und computationale Modellierungen wurden verwendet, um die Auswirkungen der pharmakologischen Manipulationen Kosten-Nutzen-Entscheidungen zu messen. Dabei konnten auf unterschiedliche Effekte beider Neuromodulatoren aufgezeigt werden. Haloperidol verringerte die Bereitschaft, eine körperliche Anstrengung aufzubringen um eine Belohnung zu erhalten, während Biperiden diese erhöhte. Zusätzlich reduzierte Haloperidol den Einfluss zeitlicher Verzögerungen auf das Entscheidungsverhalten, während Biperiden in diesem Bereich keine Auswirkungen zeigte.

Darüber hinaus untersucht die vorliegende Arbeit ein klinisches Beispiel für die aufwandsbasierte Entscheidungsfindung. Hierzu wurden Unterschiede in aufwandsbasierten Entscheidungsfindungsprozessen zwischen Schlaganfallpatient*innen, die während täglicher Rehabilitationsmaßnahmen Motivationsdefizite vorwiesen, und Kontroll-Schlaganfallpatient*innen, deren Verhalten unauffällig war, analysiert. Diese Studie zeigte einen komplexen Zusammenhang zwischen der Entscheidung, eine bestimmte Handlung zu vollziehen, und der tatsächlichen Ausführung dieser Handlung. Die beobachteten Motivationsdefizite konnten weder durch klinische Fragebogen, noch durch das

V

Entscheidungsverhalten im Rahmen des Verhaltensparadigmas erfasst werden. Vielmehr zeigen die Ergebnisse, dass Patient*innen mit Motivationsdefiziten nach der Entscheidung darüber, einen bestimmten körperlichen Aufwand zu erbringen, häufiger daran scheiterten, diesen Aufwand auch erfolgreich auszuführen.

Insgesamt liefert die vorliegende Arbeit Hinweise für eine kostenübergreifende Rolle von Dopamin und eine kosten-spezifische Rolle von Acetylcholin in der Modulation von Kosten-Nutzen-Entscheidungen. Zusätzlich wurde in einem spezifischen klinischen Beispiel gezeigt, dass Motivationsdefizite während rehabilitativer Maßnahmen bei Schlaganfallpatient*innen nicht durch eine verringerte Bereitschaft zur Aufbringung körperlichen Aufwands erklärt werden konnte, sondern durch eine verminderte Ausdauerfähigkeit, um die anstrengenden Handlungen auszuführen.

Abstract

Humans constantly face decisions where they have to choose between different options involving varying possible outcomes. When individuals make these decisions, they not only take into account the reward of the option, but also the corresponding costs that are associated with the option. This thesis contributes to a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying these cost-benefit decision-making processes.

The present work focuses on the neurobiology of choices that involve trade-offs between rewards and corresponding costs. Specifically, we investigated the role of two distinct neurotransmitters: dopamine and acetylcholine. While a wide range of studies suggest a crucial role of dopamine on cost-benefit decisions, the role of acetylcholine in these choices is rather unclear. To study these distinct roles, we examined choice behaviour in healthy human participants in a psychopharmacological, placebo-controlled, within-subjects design. Dopaminergic and cholinergic transmission was manipulated using haloperidol, a D2-like dopamine receptor antagonist, and biperiden, an M1 muscarinic receptor antagonist. The experimental paradigm included two tasks that separately measured the impact of temporal delay and physical effort costs on reward-based choices. We used regression-based methods and computational modelling to investigate the effects of both neuromodulators on choices that involve physical effort, with haloperidol decreasing and biperiden increasing the willingness to invest effort in return for reward. In addition to that, haloperidol reduced the impact of delays on choices, while biperiden had no effect on this aspect.

Additionally, this work investigates a clinical case of effort-based decision making. Particularly, we analysed differences in effort-based decision making between stroke patients that showed motivational deficits during rehabilitation training and control stroke patients that were unaffected. This revealed a rather complex relationship between the decision to perform an action and the actual performance of that action. Observed motivational deficits in stroke patients could not be captured by clinical questionnaires, nor by choice behaviour in the decision-making paradigm. Rather, after choosing to engage in an effortful trial, patients with motivational deficits were more likely to fail performing the physical effort.

Taken together, the present work provides evidence for a cost-general role of dopamine and a cost-specific role of acetylcholine in modulating cost-benefit decision making. Moreover, in a specific clinical case, we show that reduced motivation during rehabilitative therapy in post-stroke patients is not explained by a reduced willingness to invest physical effort, but rather by a reduced persistence with effortful behaviour.

Contents

Zusammenfassung	V
Abstract	VII
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Effort-Based Decision Making	2
1.2. Delay-Based Decision Making	4
1.3. Interplay between Dopamine and Acetylcholine	5
1.4. Objectives and Hypotheses	7
2. Methods	9
2.1. Effort Discounting Paradigm	9
2.2. Delay Discounting Paradigm	
2.3. Pharmacological Manipulations in Healthy Participants	11
2.4. Patient Groups	
2.5. Statistical Analyses	
2.5.1. Regression-Based Analysis	
2.5.2. Computational Modelling	
3. Results	
3.1. Experiment I: Distinct roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in delay decision making in humans	- and effort-based
3.2. Experiment II: Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in	ı stroke patients19
4. General Discussion	
5. Future Research	
6. Conclusion	
References	
Eidesstattliche Erklärung	
List of Publications	
Attachments	

1. Introduction

Imagine you are at home, in the mood for pizza, living in a bustling city filled with numerous pizzerias. The decision of which pizzeria to visit involves comparing and weighing the restaurant's different factors against each other: the quality of the food, the cost of the meal, the distance to the restaurant, the size of the pizza, as well as the atmosphere of the place. This seemingly simple decision illustrates the fundamental process of cost-benefit decision making, where individuals must balance potential rewards or benefits against associated costs.

Individuals highly differ in their valuations of costs against benefits, and these individual differences can be linked to specific personality traits (Bonnelle et al., 2015; Holt et al., 2003). Moreover, neurological and psychiatric disorders, such as addiction and mood disorders, have been shown to alter cost-benefit decision making. This suggests that changes in brain structures or neurochemical processes may influence how costs and rewards impact choices (Amlung et al., 2017; Bickel & Marsch, 2001; Le Heron et al., 2018a; Pessiglione et al., 2018; Peters & Büchel, 2011).

This thesis focuses on the neurobiological mechanisms underlying two distinct cost factors involved in decision-making processes: delay costs (i.e., the time one must wait to receive a reward) and physical effort costs (i.e., the physical energy expenditure that is required to obtain a reward). While years of research have contributed to a better understanding of these processes, important aspects of the underlying mechanisms, including the role of non-dopaminergic neurotransmitters, remain elusive. To fill this gap, in Experiment I, we investigated the neurochemical dynamics that govern delay- and effort-based decisions by pharmacologically manipulating dopaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmitter systems in healthy participants.

In Experiment II, we set the perspective to a clinical context, focusing on stroke patients. Impaired goal-directed behaviour and motivational deficits can ultimately reduce participation in rehabilitation training and have wide-ranging impacts on recovery (Knecht et al., 2016; Kwakkel et al., 2004; Luker et al., 2015). Thus, in a second study, we examined the neurocognitive mechanisms of effort-based decision making in stroke patients with motivational impairments, aiming to provide insights into how these deficits manifest in a specific clinical group.

This work links the neurobiological understanding of cost-benefit decision-making processes to the practical challenges faced by a clinical population, emphasizing the translational potential of this research. This introduction provides a broad overview of the decision-making processes related to effort and delay. Furthermore, this work will offer a more detailed explanation of the reciprocal interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine.

1.1. Effort-Based Decision Making

Effort-based decision making involves evaluating whether the value of a particular goal is worth the physical (or cognitive) effort required to obtain it. Such trade-offs play a critical role in everyday life decisions. As illustrated in the example before, the decision to visit your favourite pizzeria is influenced not only by the potential reward that you assign to the pizza but also by the effort required to reach the location, such as the convenience of transportation. Driving an easy route with a car may be appropriate, but what if you have to ride a bike up a steep hill? Individuals tend to maximize rewards while minimizing effort (Rigoux & Guigon, 2012; Salamone et al., 2018; Walton et al., 2007). As the associated effort level increases, the value of the reward decreases, a phenomenon that is commonly described as effort discounting (Chong et al., 2016; Hartmann et al., 2013).

Effort-based decision making is traditionally assessed through paradigms in which participants must choose between a high-reward option that requires more effort and a lowreward alternative with a smaller effort demand (Cousins et al., 1996; Font et al., 2008; Randall et al., 2012; Salamone et al., 1991). In this context, motivation can be characterized as a series of cost-benefit decisions, where individuals weigh the physical effort they are willing to invest in return for an associated reward (Chong et al., 2016). Research in animal models has highlighted the crucial role of striatal dopamine in behavioural activation and the exertion of effort (Denk et al., 2005; Salamone et al., 1991, 1994). Studies in rodents show that nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion or the administration of dopamine antagonists consistently affect effort-based decision making, inducing a low-effort bias that shifts choices away from high-effort options towards low-effort alternatives (Correa et al., 2016; Pardo et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2020; Yohn et al., 2015). Conversely, pharmacological enhancements of dopaminergic neurotransmission in rodents increase the willingness to choose high-effort options (Bardgett et al., 2009; Cagniard et al., 2006). These findings suggest that high levels of dopamine are associated with an enhanced willingness to invest physical effort in exchange for a reward, while low levels of dopamine have the opposite effect. Importantly, similar findings have been observed in human studies. For instance, agents that enhance dopaminergic transmission increase the tendency to exert effort for a reward in both healthy humans and clinical populations (Bogdanov et al., 2022; Chong et al., 2023; Le Bouc et al., 2016; Le Heron, et al., 2018c; Soder et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011). On the other hand, dopamine antagonists produce opposing effects, reducing the willingness to invest effort for rewards (Korb et al., 2020; Ohmann et al., 2020).

While the role of dopamine as a critical neuromodulator of effort-based decision making is well-established, in recent years, many laboratories have begun to explore the contribution of non-dopaminergic neurotransmitters. Electrophysiological recordings in primates revealed a positive correlation between effort initiation and the firing rate of neurons in the locus coeruleus, suggesting a potential role of noradrenaline in modulating effort-based decision making (Varazzani et al., 2015). Furthermore, pharmacological studies conducted in healthy humans indicate a potential involvement of serotonin in these processes, as increasing serotonin levels through selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor administration has been shown to decrease the impact of costs on effort-related choices (Meyniel et al., 2016). Studies conducted in rats further suggest that the stimulation of GABA receptors in the ventral pallidum induces a low-effort bias (Farrar et al., 2008), while the administration of adenosine receptor antagonists produces the opposite effect by reversing a drug-induced low-effort bias (Correa et al., 2016; Nunes et al., 2013; Pardo et al., 2012; Randall et al., 2011, 2012).

Recently, acetylcholine emerged as a potential neuromodulator in effort-based decision making, as studies report interactions between dopaminergic and cholinergic neurons at both functional and cellular levels (Di Chiara et al., 1994; Gerber et al., 2001; Myslivecek, 2021). In line with that, injections of cholinergic agonists acting at muscarinic receptors in rats induce behavioural changes similar to those produced by dopamine antagonists (Hailwood et al., 2019; Nunes et al., 2013), underscoring the potential interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine in modulating cost-benefit decision making. The reciprocal relationship between dopamine and acetylcholine will be explored more extensively in the next chapters. Notably, to the best of our knowledge, the effects of cholinergic manipulations on effort-based decision making have not been investigated in humans yet.

Effort-based decision making is a process that involves various neural structures and neurotransmitters, and changes in these systems can have profound implications on motivational function across several neurological and psychiatric disorders. Conditions such as Parkinson's disease, schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease, and major depressive disorder are known to exhibit motivational dysfunctions in patients (Blouzard et al., 2023; Gold et al., 2013; Le Heron, et al., 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b; Treadway et al., 2012), potentially caused by shifted reward and effort trade-offs. Similarly, stroke patients have also been observed to exhibit deficits in motivation (Nicholson et al., 2013; Tay et al., 2021; West & Bernhardt, 2012), but despite significant consequences for the patients, this phenomenon has received less attention. In clinical practice, diminished motivation can directly affect patients' outcomes by influencing engagement in rehabilitative therapy. Thus, reductions in activity and participation can further impede patients' recovery process, making it a particularly detrimental aspect of post-stroke rehabilitation (Knecht et al., 2016; Kwakkel et al., 2004). Despite the prevalence of motivational deficits in clinical practice, quantitative research on the underlying behavioural mechanisms of these impairments is limited. Gaining a deeper understanding of these deficits is critical for enhancing rehabilitation strategies and optimizing outcomes for stroke patients.

1.2. Delay-Based Decision Making

Returning to the previous pizza example, the decision of which pizzeria to visit is influenced not only by the required effort but also by the associated time delay until receiving the reward. Imagine a highly recommended pizzeria that tests your patience with an hour-long wait. In this scenario, the decision to visit this restaurant and endure the larger waiting costs, rather than opting for a less tasty pizza with a shorter waiting time, requires individuals to balance the benefit of a more recommended pizza against the desire for immediate gratification. Delay discounting refers to the devaluation of rewards as a function of their delayed delivery, a phenomenon common among both humans and animals (Kalenscher & Pennartz, 2008; Mazur, 1987; Peters & Büchel, 2011). Similar to effort discounting, the extent of delay discounting can be quantified through experimental decision-making tasks, where participants choose between a high reward option delivered later in time and a smaller, more immediate reward. Selecting the smaller, immediate reward can be described as impulsive behaviour, while choosing the later, larger reward reflects patience and self-control (Bevilacqua & Goldman, 2013; Madden et al., 2003).

Neuroimaging studies in humans have identified a crucial role of the ventral striatum in impulsive choices, implicating an involvement of dopamine in delay-based decision making (Hariri et al., 2006; Peters & Büchel, 2010, 2011; Smith et al., 2016). However, unlike the relatively coherent picture of the role of dopamine in effort valuation and motivation, the modulatory effects of dopamine on delay discounting are less clear, and it remains uncertain whether dopamine's effect on effort discounting generalizes to the temporal dimension.

Studies in rodents have reported mixed results, with some indicating increased impulsivity under dopamine antagonists (Denk et al., 2005; Wade et al., 2000), while others showed no effect after administration of agonistic or antagonistic agents (Koffarnus et al., 2011; van Gaalen et al., 2006). Discrepancies regarding the modulatory effects of dopaminergic manipulations on delay-based choices also appear in human studies. For instance, the finding that acute administration of D-amphetamine, a drug that mainly increases dopamine levels, decreases delay discounting (de Wit et al., 2002), could not be replicated in later studies (Acheson & de Wit, 2008; Hamidovic et al., 2008). Additionally, two different agents that both increase dopaminergic transmission through different mechanisms – levodopa and tolcapone – had opposite effects on delay-based decision making in separate studies, with levodopa increasing and tolcapone decreasing delay discounting (Kayser et al., 2012; Pine et al., 2010). This lack of consistent findings might be attributed to differences in baseline dopamine levels, the use of different pharmacological agents with distinct mechanisms, or different effects of D1 versus D2 receptor manipulations (Soutschek et al., 2023). These inconsistencies highlight the need for further research on the role of dopamine in delay discounting to understand its

underlying neurobiological mechanisms. Notably, emerging evidence suggests that selectively reducing dopaminergic neurotransmission at the D2 receptor consistently decreases delay discounting (Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020; Weber et al., 2016).

Research on the neurobiology of delay-based decision making further indicates a crucial role of non-dopaminergic neurotransmitters in weighing rewards versus delays, suggesting a broader neurobiological basis for delay discounting. Studies with rodents have shown that the administration of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors increase the selection of high-reward/high-delay options (Bizot et al., 1988), while substances that reduce serotonergic levels induce the opposite effect (Bizot et al., 1999; Denk et al., 2005; Winstanley et al., 2004). Similarly, pharmacological elevations of noradrenaline levels reduce delay discounting, implicating the involvement of noradrenergic mechanisms in impulsive decision making (Bizot et al., 2011; Robinson et al., 2008). While the influence of cholinergic modulation on delay-based decision making has not been explored extensively, existing research in animal models suggests a modulating role of acetylcholine through both muscarinic and nicotinic receptors, while the findings remain inconclusive (Dallery & Locey, 2005; Kolokotroni et al., 2011; Ozga & Anderson, 2018). This emphasizes the need for further research in this area to investigate the role of acetylcholine in delay discounting.

Lastly, it is important to note that pathological levels of delay discounting are characteristics of a range of different clinical conditions, including attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, gambling and substance use disorders (Bickel et al., 2007; Jackson & MacKillop, 2016; Peters & Büchel, 2011; Petry, 2001). This underlines the potential role of delay discounting to serve as a trans-diagnostic marker, providing insights into various psychopathologies (Amlung et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2021). A deeper understanding of the neurobiological basis of delay discounting could enable clinicians and researchers to better predict treatment outcomes, optimize interventions, and develop preventative strategies based on an individual's discounting behaviour.

1.3. Interplay between Dopamine and Acetylcholine

There is an extensive body of literature investigating the effects of dopamine transmission on effort- and delay-based decision making. As mentioned in the preceding chapters, prior research has consistently demonstrated a critical role of striatal dopamine in promoting motivation and shifting behaviour towards high-effort choices in both rodents and humans. Specifically, reducing dopaminergic transmission via dopamine blockade has been shown to reduce the tendency to choose high-effort options, whereas enhancements of dopamine levels have produced the opposite effect (Denk et al., 2005; Le Bouc et al., 2016; Michely et al., 2020; Salamone et al., 1991; Soder et al., 2020; Soutschek et al., 2020). While the interplay between

dopamine and effort-based decision making is relatively coherent, the relationship between dopamine and delay-based choices is more complex. However, recent evidence suggests that D2 receptor blockade diminishes delay discounting (Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020; Weber et al., 2016). Considering the evidence implicating the involvement of striatal dopamine in both processes, examining other neuromodulators that influence dopaminergic transmission may provide additional insights into both effort- and delay-based decision making.

The striatum does not only contain the highest concentration of dopamine receptors but also the highest density of acetylcholine, primarily released by cholinergic interneurons (Holt et al., 1997; Jones et al., 2001; Lavoie et al., 1989; Macintosh, 1941). In clinical contexts, the treatment of Parkinson's disease involves opposing manipulations of both dopaminergic and cholinergic transmission. This is accomplished either by increasing the extracellular levels of dopamine or by decreasing the levels of acetylcholine in the striatum (Brocks, 1999; Goetz et al., 2002; Pisani et al., 2003). In line with that, on a cellular level, studies have shown that rewards and reward-predicting stimuli elicit a phasic increase in striatal dopamine transmission, which is accompanied by a corresponding phasic decrease in acetylcholine (Chantranupong et al., 2023; Cohen et al., 2012; Morris et al., 2004; Schultz et al., 1997). This mechanism is thought to facilitate motor activity and act as a learning signal (Krok et al., 2023). Consistently, activation of muscarinic M1 receptors inhibits dopaminergic D2 receptormediated effects in the striatum (Di Chiara et al., 1994; Threlfell et al., 2010). Moreover, deletion of muscarinic M1 receptors in rats leads to an elevated dopamine transmission in the striatum, while enhancing acetylcholine concentrations via acetylcholinesterase inhibition reduces stimulus-induced dopamine release (Gerber et al., 2001; Kudernatsch & Sutor, 1994). Beyond these cellular interconnections, a functional interplay between both neurotransmitter systems has been demonstrated. For instance, the administration of a muscarinic receptor agonist has been shown to reverse amphetamine-induced effects on rodents (Woolley et al., 2009). Similarly, muscarinic antagonists reduce the side effects of dopamine antagonists, while muscarinic agonists display antipsychotic properties, similar to the actions of D2 receptor antagonists (Brocks, 1999; Stanhope et al., 2001). Based on this, the idea of a dopamine/acetylcholine balance postulates that both transmitters act antagonistically, thereby directly influencing each other's release.

This interaction between acetylcholine and dopamine in the striatum, along with the evidence of dopamine's involvement in impulsive and motivational decision making, suggests that acetylcholine may act as a potential modulator of such behaviours. Nevertheless, we still lack an understanding of how these two neuromodulators interact in humans to influence costbenefit trade-offs during decision making, as studies investigating this are missing. However, studies in rodents indicate that inhibiting muscarinic M1 receptors can enhance performance and reverse the detrimental effects of dopamine antagonists in effort-based decision-making tasks (Hailwood et al., 2019; Nunes et al., 2013), supporting the idea of a reciprocal relationship between dopamine and acetylcholine. Notably, the association between acetylcholine and delay discounting is less clear. The effects of nicotine receptor stimulation on delay-based decision making are mixed, with some studies reporting a decrease in impulsivity, while others report an increase (Dallery & Locey, 2005; Kolokotroni et al., 2011; Ozga & Anderson, 2018). Another study that investigated how manipulations of cholinergic transmission affect delay discounting showed that muscarinic receptor antagonists increase delay discounting (Mendez et al., 2012), further supporting the idea of an antagonistic relationship between dopamine and acetylcholine in cost-benefit decision making.

1.4. Objectives and Hypotheses

Given the well-documented modulatory role of dopamine in cost-benefit decision making and the bidirectional relationship between dopamine and acetylcholine in the striatum, in Experiment I, we examined the effects of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on delay- and effort-based decision making. Specifically, we performed a placebo-controlled psychopharmacological study involving healthy participants with a within-subjects design. We administered two drugs that selectively manipulate dopaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission: haloperidol, a dopaminergic D2-like receptor antagonist, and biperiden, a muscarinic M1 receptor antagonist.

To the best of our knowledge, no prior research has studied the acute effects of cholinergic M1 receptor manipulations on different dimensions of cost-benefit decision making in humans. Further, no human studies have investigated the effects of dopaminergic D2-like receptor manipulations on both effort and delay discounting within the same participants. Based on previous findings, we postulated that dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations would exert opposing effects on choice behaviour (Di Chiara et al., 1994; Krok et al., 2023; Morris et al., 2004; Threlfell et al., 2010). Specifically, we aimed to conceptually replicate the effects of D2 blockade on delay- and effort-based decision making, hypothesizing an increase in effort discounting and, consistent with recent findings, a decrease in delay discounting (Ohmann et al., 2020; Soder et al., 2020; Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020). Conversely, we expected opposing effects of biperiden. Based on the reciprocal relationship within the striatum, we predicted that reducing cholinergic activity at the M1 receptor would decrease effort discounting and increase delay discounting.

The significance of understanding the principles of cost-benefit decision making extends beyond daily choices and has profound clinical implications. For instance, motivational deficits, characterized by aberrant effort-based decision making, are observed in various neurological and psychiatric disorders (Le Heron et al., 2018a, 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b;

Treadway et al., 2012). In light of the clinical significance of this issue, in Experiment II, we specifically focused on stroke patients, a group that has been understudied in the context of motivational deficits and cost-benefit decision making. To this end, we assessed effort-based decision making and questionnaire scores of stroke patients exhibiting motivational deficits during neurorehabilitation training and compared them with a matched control group of stroke patients without such deficits. We hypothesised that stroke patients with motivational deficits would display higher levels of effort discounting compared to stroke patients without motivational deficits, in accordance with findings from similar experimental tasks in other clinical populations (Le Heron et al., 2018b, 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b). Additionally, we expected those patients to show more severe apathy symptoms. Experiment II aimed to enhance our understanding of the neurocognitive mechanisms governing effort-based decision making among stroke patients, with the goal of providing insights to strengthen neurorehabilitative therapies and ultimately improve functional recovery.

2. Methods

This section provides a brief overview of the experimental paradigms and primary analytical methods employed in the current work. Both experiments used decision-making scenarios that presented participants with binary choice options, varying in reward magnitude and associated cost requirements.

2.1. Effort Discounting Paradigm

In Experiments I and II, two distinct versions of a physical effort-based decision-making paradigm were employed. Both involved binary choices assessing participants' willingness to invest physical effort in exchange for a monetary reward.

In Experiment I, we used a two-alternative choice paradigm. Participants chose between two simultaneously available options, both varying in physical effort and monetary reward level (Fig. 1a). Notably, one option consistently required a lower effort and offered a lower reward than the alternative, creating a consistent choice scenario between a low-reward/low-effort and a high-reward/high-effort offer. After selecting an option, participants had to perform the corresponding physical effort by squeezing a hand dynamometer and maintaining the force for at least one second to receive the associated reward.

In Experiment II, we adapted the experimental paradigm to be more suitable for clinical populations. To this end, the amount of sensory information was reduced by showing only a single option that combined reward and effort information (Fig. 1b). Patients could either accept the offer, resulting in a performance phase akin to Experiment I, or reject the offer, leading to a fixed resting period.

In both experiments, participants had to evaluate whether the offered monetary reward was worth the required physical effort by weighing reward and effort information. Physical effort was operationalized as the amount of force that was exerted on a handheld dynamometer. The effort requirement was based on each individual's maximum voluntary contraction, calibrated before starting the task. The effort level per trial was then adapted to their individual force capacity. To account for any order effects, each reward and effort combination was sampled in a randomized order across trials for each participant.





Figure 1. Effort Discounting Paradigm in Experiments I and II. (a) In Experiment I, the low-reward/low-effort option required less effort (indicated by the horizontal yellow line) and offered a smaller reward (indicated by the number of apples). Conversely, the high-effort/high-reward option required more effort and provided a larger reward. Participants had to choose one option and exert the required effort (adjusted to the maximum voluntary contraction) for at least one second. (b) In Experiment II, sensory information was reduced and participants were presented only with a single image of an apple tree. Again, the tree depicted information regarding a monetary reward available in exchange for a physical effort. Patients could either accept ("Ja") or reject ("Nein") the offer. After accepting, participants had to perform the physical effort and maintain the force for at least one second. Rejecting an offer led to a short break.

In Experiment I, the primary outcome variable was the selection of the high-reward/high-effort option (versus the low-reward/low-effort alternative). We analysed this choice behaviour using a logistic mixed-effects regression analysis and computational modelling. In addition, we investigated decision times using a linear mixed-effects regression model. In Experiment II, the primary outcome variables included choice behaviour (accepting versus rejecting an offer) and the subsequent performance phase, investigating whether participants successfully met the effort demand (success versus failure). We also analysed two essential criteria for successful effort performance, namely *produced force* (i.e., were participants able to exceed the required effort) and *persistence* (i.e., were participants able to maintain the effort for the necessary duration). All variables in Experiment II were analysed using logistic mixed-effects regression models.

2.2. Delay Discounting Paradigm

In Experiment I, we extended our analysis of the impact of costs on decision making by evaluating the influence of temporal delays on choices. Similar to the two-alternative effortbased decision-making task from the same experiment, in the delay-based decision-making task, participants chose between a high-reward/high-delay and a low-reward/low-delay option on each trial. We operationalized delay as the number of days participants had to wait to receive a monetary reward (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Delay Discounting Paradigm in Experiment I. Similar to the effort discounting task in Experiment I, in the delay discounting task, participants had to choose between a varying high-reward/high-delay offer and a fixed low-reward/low-delay alternative. The low-reward/low-delay option always offered 20 € available immediately.

Unlike the effort discounting task, the delay discounting task consistently involved a fixed lowreward/low-delay option (i.e., $20 \in$ available immediately), in line with the majority of studies in this field (Ballard & Knutson, 2009; Madden et al., 2003; Petry, 2001). On the other hand, the reward and delay levels of the high-reward/high-delay option were parametrically manipulated across trials in a pseudorandomized order. Consequently, the delay discounting paradigm required participants to consider a trade-off between a larger reward with longer associated delay costs and a smaller reward with no delay costs. In accordance with prior research, the choices made in this task were hypothetical (Bickel et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2011; Madden et al., 2003).

The primary outcome measure of interest was the selection of the high-reward/high-delay option (versus the fixed low-reward/low-delay alternative), which was analysed using a logistic mixed-effects model and computational modelling. Similar to the effort discounting task, decision times were analysed using linear mixed-effects models.

2.3. Pharmacological Manipulations in Healthy Participants

In Experiment I, we investigated the effects of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on decision making in healthy participants (N = 62, 32 women), using a psychopharmacological intervention in a double-blinded, placebo-controlled, within-subject design. To modulate dopaminergic transmission, we administered 2 mg haloperidol, a dopaminergic D2-like receptor antagonist. In contrast, cholinergic neurotransmission was manipulated with 4 mg biperiden, a muscarinic M1 receptor antagonist. To account for variations in the drugs' peak times, we implemented a dummy drug application. After the initial drug administration, each participant received a second capsule 120 minutes later. Importantly, at least one of these capsules contained a placebo. This design ensured that the start of the experimental tasks

coincided with the drugs' peak concentration – approximately 180 minutes after haloperidol and 60 minutes after biperiden administration (Brocks, 1999; Grimaldi et al., 1986; Kudo & Ishizaki, 1999). Eventually, participants engaged first in the effort- and then delay-based decision-making task under three different conditions, enabling the evaluation of their choice behaviour under the influence of each pharmacological manipulation in comparison to their baseline performance.

2.4. Patient Groups

In Experiment II, we recruited participants undergoing inpatient neurorehabilitation. We compared stroke patients (N = 30, 13 women) with motivational deficits to a control stroke group (N = 30, 12 women) who did not display any apparent motivational impairment during their inpatient treatment. Motivational impairments were defined as exhibiting reduced (or no) drive, initiation, and endurance during both rehabilitative training and various activities of daily living.

The behavioural deficits were routinely and repeatedly evaluated by treating physical and occupational therapists, as well as nurses, during standard clinical practice using Likert scales and further cross-validated through weekly interdisciplinary team discussions. Physical and occupational therapists rated patients' drive, initiation, and active participation in rehabilitative training using a six-level Likert scale (ranging from 0 to 5). On the other hand, nurses evaluated patients' drive and participation during activities of daily living and self-care training using a three-level Likert scale (ranging from 0 to 2). Patients were assigned to the *drive-impaired* group when they scored two or less on the six-level Likert scale used by physical and occupational therapists and/or when they scored one or less on the nurse-assessed three-level Likert scale. Control patients were matched to the drive-impaired patients on age, gender, and degree of impairment, quantified by the Barthel Index (Lübke et al., 2004; Mahoney & Barthel, 1965). They were included in the study if their scores on both rating scales were higher than the cut-off levels.

During the experimental task, patients completed different depression and apathy selfreport questionnaires. These questionnaires included the depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (Petermann, 2011; Zigmond & Snaith, 1983), the depression subscale of the 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (Antony et al., 1998; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995), the German version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (Lueken et al., 2006; Marin et al., 1991), and a German translation of the Apathy Motivation Index (Ang et al., 2017). The severity of depression and apathy was compared between both groups using unpaired t-tests, corrected for multiple comparisons.

2.5. Statistical Analyses

We used different statistical methods to investigate the underlying mechanisms of cost-benefit decision making. This section outlines the two primary analytical techniques that were applied: regression-based analysis and computational modelling. The former assessed the direct effects of experimental task parameter manipulations on the participants' choice behaviour (i.e., reward and cost sensitivity), offering a straightforward interpretation of the behavioural outcomes. The latter aimed to reveal the latent decision mechanisms underlying these decision-making processes.

2.5.1. Regression-Based Analysis

We employed logistic mixed-effects regression models to analyse the effects of experimental task manipulations on choice behaviour as a function of pharmacological interventions (Experiment I) and patients' drive states (Experiment II). In all choice models, we regressed binary choices (choosing the high-reward/high-cost option versus choosing the low-reward/low-cost option for Experiment I; accepting versus rejecting the offer for Experiment II) on several predictors, including reward magnitude, cost levels (i.e., delay and effort), and their interactions. To investigate how drug manipulations modulated choice behaviour in Experiment I, we included the drug administration, as well as all possible two- and three-way interaction terms between drug administration, reward, and cost levels as additional predictors. Similarly, in Experiment II, we analysed group effects on the evaluation of varying levels of reward and cost on choices. To do this, we included the group status (drive-impaired versus control group) and all possible two- and three-way interaction effects between group and both task parameters as additional predictors in the analysis.

Moreover, in Experiment I, choice decision times were analysed for both tasks using linear mixed-effects regression models with the same set of predictors and log-transformed decision times as outcome variables. In Experiment II, in an explorative analysis, performance during the effort production phase (success versus failure to reach the effort demand) was analysed using the same logistic mixed-effects regression model, with performance outcome rather than choice as the dependent variable. Additionally, we analysed persistence and produced force using similar regression models.

2.5.2. Computational Modelling

While regression-based analyses offer straightforward computable methods that provide valuable insights into choice behaviour, they lack a theoretical foundation of the underlying neurocomputational processes. To better understand the latent decision processes that govern

delay- and effort-based decision making and to reveal the distinct effects of pharmacological manipulations on these aspects, in Experiment I, we employed computational modelling to quantify participants' choice behaviour. Computational models aim to capture and define human information processing using mathematical equations. This approach enables us to generate precise predictions of behaviour and quantitatively test competing hypotheses (Ahn et al., 2017; Farrell & Lewandowsky, 2018; Wilson & Collins, 2019). Our motivation to employ the computational modelling was twofold: first, we sought to identify the mathematical model that most accurately describes participants' choice behaviour, and second, we aimed to estimate parameter values that quantify the impact of both drug administrations on decision making.

Traditionally, computational modelling is accomplished using the maximum-likelihood approach, which estimates parameters at the subject level (Myung, 2003; Wilson & Collins, 2019). However, in the current work, we adopted a hierarchical Bayesian estimation method combined with a Markov Chain Monte Carlo sampling scheme, which involves continuously updating prior parameter distributions to posterior distributions based on the observed data, using Bayes' theorem (Lee & Wagenmakers, 2014). This method offers an advantage over maximum-likelihood estimations as it simultaneously generates subject- and group-level distributions for a given parameter instead of point estimates (Vincent, 2016). This range of "true" values represents the degree of belief/certainty associated with each parameter estimate, a feature that point estimates, traditionally derived from maximum likelihood methods, cannot provide (Benjamin et al., 2018; Wagenmakers et al., 2018). This Bayesian approach of interpreting probability as a degree of belief enables us to interpret parameters and quantify their associated uncertainties directly from the posterior distribution (Kruschke, 2010, 2014). Moreover, Bayesian techniques have demonstrated more reliable parameter estimations compared to alternative approaches, and they are particularly effective at capturing variability between and within individuals, making the method well-suited for our within-subjects design (Ahn et al., 2017; Rouder & Lu, 2005; Vandekerckhove et al., 2011).

In our study, we initially fitted four distinct classes of effort and delay discounting models to identify the mathematical equation that best describes the observed choice behaviours, using data from the placebo condition. These candidate models propose different mathematical explanations for how rewards are discounted as a function of changing costs. In other words, all models share the principle that they describe how the subjective value (*SV*) of a reward (*R*) for each option is devalued as a function of costs (*C*) on trial *t*. However, they differ in the shape of the discounting curve. In the effort discounting task, *C* represents the effort level, and in the delay discounting task, *C* represents the delay level of the high-cost option. The impact of the costs on the subjective value is weighed by a condition-specific free discounting parameter κ , with higher κ values indicating greater discounting and lower κ values

suggesting less discounting. In line with previous studies, the models we investigated included hyperbolic (Eq. 1), parabolic (Eq. 2), linear (Eq. 3), and exponential (Eq. 4) discounting functions (Białaszek et al., 2017; Chong et al., 2017; Hartmann et al., 2013; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015). In the hyperbolic model, due to the skewed distribution of the free discounting parameter towards zero, κ was modelled in log space.

$$SV(t) = \frac{R(t)}{1 + \exp(\kappa) * C(t)}$$
(1)

$$SV(t) = R(t) - \kappa * C(t)^2$$
 (2)

$$SV(t) = R(t) - \kappa * C(t)$$
(3)

$$SV(t) = R(t) * e^{-\kappa * C(t)}$$
(4)

In the effort discounting task, the subjective value of the high- (*HC*) and low-cost (*LC*) option is calculated separately. In contrast, in the delay discounting task, the subjective value of the low-cost option is a fixed variable at 20. This is because the low-reward/low-delay option consistently offers 20 \in immediately. In the next step, we used a softmax function to transform option values into choice probabilities (Eq. 5). Here, *P* represents the probability of choosing the high-cost option over the low-cost alternative on trial *t*. We used the inverse temperature parameter β to model choice stochasticity, with lower β values indicating more stochastic behaviour. Conversely, higher β values suggest more deterministic choices.

$$P(HC_{(t)}) = \frac{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta)}{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta) + \exp(SV(LC_{(t)})*\beta)}$$
(5)

Model fits were compared post hoc using the Leave-One-Out Information Criterion, which provides an estimate of the predictive accuracy (Vehtari et al., 2017). Lower values indicate better model fit, analogous to conventional information criteria such as Akaike's information criterion and Bayesian information criterion (Akaike, 1974; Schwarz, 1978). Consistent with prior studies (Green & Myerson, 2004; Hartmann et al., 2013; Kirby & Maraković, 1995; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015; Lockwood et al., 2017), model comparisons showed that effort discounting was best described by a parabolic/concave model, which suggests steeper discounting was best described by a hyperbolic/convex model, which assumes steeper discounting for smaller rather than larger delays.

After identifying the best-fitting discounting functions separately for each task, we aimed to quantify how different drug manipulations modulated cost-benefit decision making. To capture potential drug effects on the discounting parameter κ and the inverse temperature parameter β , we extended the single-parameter discounting model and softmax function by introducing separate shift parameters for haloperidol and biperiden (Eq. 6 and Eq. 7). A positive shift parameter value indicates a drug-induced increase, while a negative value indicates a drug-induced decrease of the associated parameter. Importantly, this shift is always relative to the baseline behaviour from the placebo condition. The drug manipulation is indicated by the dummy-coded variable *I*, which refers to the drug condition of the current trial *t*.

$$\kappa = \kappa_{PLC} + I_{HAL_{(t)}} * s_{\kappa_{HAL}} + I_{BIP_{(t)}} * s_{\kappa_{BIP}}$$
(6)

$$\beta = \beta_{PLC} + I_{HAL(t)} * s_{\beta_{HAL}} + I_{BIP(t)} * s_{\beta_{BIP}}$$
(7)

For a more detailed description of the model selection and fitting procedure, please refer to the original publication (Erfanian Abdoust et al., 2023).

3. Results

3.1. Experiment I: Distinct roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in delay- and effort-based decision making in humans

The following chapter is based on our submitted manuscript, which is currently under review at *PLOS Biology* (see attachments):

Erfanian Abdoust, M., Froböse, M. I., Schnitzler, A., Schreivogel, E., Jocham, G. Dopaminergic and Cholinergic Modulation of Human Cost-Benefit Decision Making. Preprint at bioRxiv (2023), doi: 10.1101/2023.11.20.566558v2

Previous studies have demonstrated the crucial role of dopamine in discounting rewards based on increasing levels of effort and delay (Denk et al., 2005; Floresco et al., 2008; Pine et al., 2010; Salamone & Correa, 2012; Soder et al., 2020; Webber et al., 2020). Moreover, studies at the cellular and functional level suggest a reciprocal interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine in the striatum (Di Chiara et al., 1994; Morris et al., 2004; Myslivecek, 2021; Threlfell et al., 2010). However, to the best of our knowledge, the effects of acute cholinergic manipulations on human effort or delay discounting have not been investigated yet. Additionally, while the association between dopamine and effort-based decision making is relatively well-established, evidence regarding the role of dopamine in delay-based choices is more complex and inconsistent (de Wit et al., 2002; Denk et al., 2005; Hamidovic et al., 2008; Kayser et al., 2012; Soder et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011).

In Experiment I, we sought to investigate the effects of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on effort and delay discounting in healthy volunteers (N = 62) who performed two decision-making tasks, each designed to measure the degree of effort and delay discounting. We modulated dopaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission by administrating haloperidol, a D2-like dopamine receptor antagonist, and biperiden, a M1 muscarinic receptor antagonist. Based on previous findings, we hypothesized that reducing dopaminergic activity via D2 antagonism would elevate effort discounting and, in line with more recent findings, reduce delay discounting (Soder et al., 2020; Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011; Weber et al., 2016). Additionally, consistent with the reciprocal activity in the striatum, we further postulated that inhibiting cholinergic activity via muscarinic antagonism would yield contrasting effects, namely a decrease in effort and an increase in delay discounting.

In the effort-based decision-making task, participants were presented with two options varying in reward magnitude and the physical effort required to obtain the reward. As expected,

regression-based analysis confirmed that participants discounted rewards based on increasing levels of effort. Further, and in line with our hypothesis, the analysis showed opposing effects of the drugs on specific features of choice behaviour. Reducing dopaminergic D2 receptor activity via haloperidol decreased participants' willingness to invest more effort for greater rewards. In contrast, administration of the muscarinic M1 receptor antagonist biperiden increased this general willingness. In addition to that, biperiden increased the reward sensitivity, indicating that reduced levels of cholinergic transmission amplify the impact of rewards on choices, while haloperidol did not affect reward sensitivity. Computational modelling of behaviour further supported these findings. We introduced condition-specific shift parameters to capture drug effects on the discounting parameter κ , with positive/negative shift parameter values reflecting increased/decreased discounting under the influence of either haloperidol or biperiden in comparison to placebo. In line with the regression-based results, biperiden and haloperidol again exerted opposing effects on the effort discounting parameter. Specifically, haloperidol increased effort discounting, while biperiden diminished it. These contrasting mechanisms were further reflected in the effects of the drugs on the choice stochasticity parameter β , supporting the idea of a reciprocal relationship between both transmitters in cost-benefit decision making. Again, condition-specific parameters captured potential drug effects. This analysis revealed an increase under haloperidol, while biperiden decreased choice stochasticity.

In the delay discounting task, participants had to choose between two options, one that offered a fixed low reward available immediately versus a varying alternative offer with a larger reward delivered after a temporal delay. Again, a regression-based analysis showed that participants discounted rewards based on delay, indicating their adherence to the task structure. However, in contrast to the effort discounting task, neither drug affected the general tendency to choose the high-reward/high-delay option. However, regression-based analysis revealed an attenuated delay sensitivity under haloperidol, suggesting that reduced dopaminergic activity diminishes the influence of time costs on choice behaviour. In line with this reduction in delay sensitivity, the computational modelling revealed evidence for a reduced delay discounting parameter under haloperidol. We did not observe any effect of biperiden on the discounting parameter. However, while haloperidol had no modulatory effect on choice stochasticity, biperiden administration increased it.

In additional analyses, we further investigated how the drug manipulations affected choice dynamics, reflected by the decision times. In both experimental tasks, higher reward magnitudes decreased, while higher cost levels increased decision times. Moreover, haloperidol induced an overall decrease in decision times in the delay discounting task, but not in the effort task. Importantly, haloperidol reduced the speeding effect of reward magnitude in

both tasks, suggesting a general reduction in sensitivity towards rewards. Furthermore, haloperidol attenuated the decelerating effect of delay, but not effort, on decision times. This indicates that haloperidol reduced sensitivity specifically towards delay costs, consistent with the analysis of delay-based choice behaviour, which similarly revealed decreased delay sensitivity and delay discounting under haloperidol. Notably, biperiden did not modulate any aspect of the decision times. This lack of biperiden-induced changes in decision dynamics contrasts with the partly opposing effect patterns of biperiden and haloperidol observed in the primary analysis of choice behaviour.

In summary, our findings support the hypothesis of opposing effects of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on decision making only within specific components of effortbased decision making. While dopaminergic antagonism reduced the general willingness to invest effort, increased effort discounting, and decreased delay sensitivity and delay discounting, cholinergic antagonism had the opposite effect only in the context of effort-based choices. Importantly, these opposing mechanisms were not present in all effort-related processes, such as the sensitivity towards rewards or decision times. These findings suggest a cost-general role of dopamine and a rather cost-specific role of acetylcholine in mediating specific features of cost-benefit decision making.

3.2. Experiment II: Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in stroke patients

The following chapter is based on our manuscript published in *Brain and Cognition* (see attachments):

Erfanian Abdoust, M., Knecht, S., Husain, M., Le Heron, C., Jocham, G., & Studer, B. (2024). Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in stroke patients. *Brain and cognition, 175,* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2023.106123

In Experiment I, we demonstrated the involvement of dopaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission in modulating different components of effort-based decision making. Notably, alterations in effort discounting have been observed in clinical diseases such as Parkinson's disease or major depressive disorder. However, the specific behavioural mechanisms underlying these aberrant cost-benefit choices across different clinical conditions remain elusive (Le Heron, et al., 2018a, 2018c; Saleh, 2021a; Treadway et al., 2012). To elucidate these mechanisms, in Experiment II, we shifted our focus to a relatively understudied clinical group: stroke patients. Specifically, we investigated whether stroke inpatients who exhibit reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during functional rehabilitative training display

systematic changes in effort-based decisions compared to matched stroke patients with intact motivation.

We recruited stroke patients who showed motivational deficits (N = 30), as assessed by their treating specialist, and compared them to an age-, sex- and severity-matched control group (N = 30). Patients performed a well-established effort-based decision-making task similar to the paradigm used in Experiment I (Chong et al., 2018; Le Heron, 2018b, 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b). Importantly, we adapted the task to suit the clinical population. We minimised sensory overload by adopting a simplified accept/reject paradigm rather than a twoalternative choice design. Patients were presented with a single offer on each trial, combining information on a monetary reward associated with a physical effort requirement. Patients then decided to accept or reject the offer, leading either to a corresponding performance phase (if accepted) or a short break (if rejected). Further, to evaluate whether clinical measures of apathy or depression could explain differences in motivational states, patients completed different questionnaires assessing the severity of these constructs. We hypothesised that patients with drive impairment would exhibit higher levels of apathy and a reduced willingness to invest physical effort in exchange for a reward. We initially focused on choice behaviour, i.e., accepting or rejecting an offer. However, contrary to our prediction and previous findings in clinical populations with other disorders (Le Heron, et al., 2018b; 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b), a substantial proportion of participants from both groups (N = 18) did not show any discounting behaviour at all; i.e., they accepted all offers regardless of effort or reward level. Specifically, this behaviour was observed in 10 patients from the drive-impairment group and 8 patients from the control groups, without a significant difference between both groups in this regard. To address this unexpected behavioural pattern, we further explored a second dependent variable: performance outcome. In other words, we examined whether participants successfully completed the physical effort after choosing to engage in the trial.

A regression-based analysis did not reveal significant group differences in accepting or rejecting the high-effort option. However, after choosing to engage in a trial, patients with apparent drive impairment were less likely to successfully complete the required effort compared to control patients. To analyse the underlying mechanisms of this performance discrepancy, we examined whether participants could successfully (i) produce the necessary effort demand and (ii) maintain the force for the required duration of one second to earn the reward. This analysis showed that patients with drive impairment failed more often due to reduced persistence. While they could generate the required force level, they failed to maintain the force over the required duration, indicating a lack of short-time persistence with physical effort compared to control patients.

Notably, we did not find significant group differences in questionnaire scores, indicating that variations in clinical severity of depression or apathy could not explain the (observed)

reduced drive during neurorehabilitation training and reduced persistence during the performance phase.

In conclusion, stroke patients with diminished drive during neurorehabilitative therapy did not differ from matched control patients in their general willingness to engage in effortful behaviour. However, after choosing to perform an action, they failed more frequently to complete the trial successfully due to deficits in maintaining the effort force over the required duration. This reduced ability to maintain physical effort, rather than a general unwillingness to invest effort, could explain the apparent observations of reduced drive during rehabilitative therapy. Notably, this altered behavioural dimension of goal-directed activity was not captured by apathy or depression questionnaires but only through clinical observation.

4. General Discussion

This work investigated the neurobiological and cognitive mechanisms underlying cost-benefit decision making. Previous studies have consistently demonstrated dopamine's crucial role in amplifying motivation in choices involving physical effort (Michely et al., 2020; Soder et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011). However, as previous studies reported rather inconsistent findings, the exact contribution of dopamine to decisions that involve rewards and an associated temporal delay remains unclear (de Wit et al., 2002; Hamidovic et al., 2008; Kayser et al., 2012; Petzold et al., 2019; Pine et al., 2010). Furthermore, the modulatory influence of neurotransmitters beyond dopamine, particularly acetylcholine, has received less attention despite the established functional interplay between cholinergic and dopaminergic neurons in the striatum (Chantranupong et al., 2023; Di Chiara et al., 1994; Gerber et al., 2001; Myslivecek, 2021). Moreover, alterations in effort-based decision making and motivational deficits are prevalent among different clinical conditions, including stroke patients. In these patients, motivational impairments typically manifest as diminished drive during daily activities and training, challenging successful rehabilitation and long-term recovery (Knecht et al., 2016; Kwakkel et al., 2004; Van Peppen et al., 2004). However, the cognitive mechanisms underlying these behavioural deficits are less clear.

This work comprises two experiments to address these research questions. In the first experiment, we investigated the roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in cost-benefit decision making in healthy individuals, using choice scenarios that involve temporal delay and physical effort costs. In the second experiment, we examined effort-based decision making in stroke patients with motivational deficits during rehabilitation, aiming to elucidate the mechanisms behind these impairments. We present evidence of a cost-general role for dopamine and a novel cost-specific role for acetylcholine in modulating human decision-making processes that involve the evaluation of rewards and associated costs, encompassing physical effort and temporal delay costs. Additionally, we demonstrate that stroke inpatients exhibiting clinically diminished drive during neurorehabilitation training are not characterized by alterations in effort-based decisions, i.e., they do not show a reduced willingness to engage in effortful actions. Instead, their motivational impairments manifest as a deficit in maintaining effortful behaviour over an extended period.

In Experiment I, we conceptually replicated previous studies on the relationship between dopamine and effort-based decision making by demonstrating that haloperidol, a dopaminergic D2-like receptor antagonist, reduced participants' willingness to invest physical effort in exchange for a monetary reward (Soder et al., 2020; Soutschek et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011). Moreover, we showed that haloperidol not only enhanced effort discounting but also attenuated delay discounting, aligning with more recent findings in this domain (Soutschek

& Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020; Weber et al., 2016). These findings are in line with a theoretical framework proposing that dopamine, acting at D2-like receptors, influences decision making not only by modulating the impact of reward amount and associated costs on choices but also by integrating the psychological proximity of the available options (Soutschek et al., 2023; Westbrook & Frank, 2018). In other words, this theory suggests that dopamine plays a dual role in decision-making processes. On the one hand, it biases choices towards options with the highest reward by computing the acceptability of costs associated with obtaining a reward. This is the traditional view positing that dopaminergic activity energizes behaviour to pursue high-reward options despite associated costs (Bailey et al., 2016; Berke, 2018; Salamone & Correa, 2012). On the other hand, according to this theory, dopamine also biases actions towards options that have a psychological proximity advantage over more distant alternatives, for instance, as in our experimental paradigm, rewards that are available sooner in time. This would explain why dopamine antagonists, such as haloperidol, have been shown to reduce delay discounting (Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020; Weber et al., 2016). They potentially diminish the preference for the option with a psychological proximity advantage (i.e., the immediately available low-reward option), thereby leading to an increased tendency to endure higher temporal costs. In contrast, in the context of effort-based decisions, neither option holds a distinct proximity advantage. Therefore, the administration of a dopaminergic D2 receptor antagonist simply modulates the impact of reward and cost on choices, resulting in a higher devaluation of rewards as effort levels increase.

Building upon prior research and based on the cellular and functional interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine in the striatum (Brocks, 1999; Di Chiara et al., 1994; Stanhope et al., 2001), we hypothesized that biperiden, a muscarinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist, would elicit effects contrary to those of haloperidol. Regarding effort-based decisions, we partly observed contrasting effects between biperiden and haloperidol, particularly on the general willingness to invest effort and the effort discounting parameter from the computational model. This aligns with our hypothesis about the opposing roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in cost-benefit decision making. However, it is important to note that this opposing relationship was not evident across all components of effort-based decision making. For instance, biperiden increased reward sensitivity, while haloperidol had no effect. Conversely, haloperidol affected decision times, while biperiden did not. Regarding delay-based decision making, we did not observe an effect of biperiden on delay discounting, whereas haloperidol attenuated it. Together, these findings indicate that dopamine likely plays a role in integrating both types of costs, while acetylcholine appears to exert a more specific influence on some components of effort-based decision making.

In a clinical case, we demonstrated that stroke patients who exhibit clinically diminished motivation during neurorehabilitation training, as assessed by their treating specialists, did not

display differences from unaffected control stroke patients in their willingness to engage in physical effort. However, after choosing an effort-demanding option, they were more prone to failing the required effort demand. This failure was not attributed to an inability to achieve the required effort threshold. Instead, the patients demonstrated a deficit in maintaining effortful behaviour for the necessary time duration. This distinction between the choice to act and the subsequent performance of that action aligns with a recently proposed neurocognitive framework for cost-benefit decision making (Le Heron, et al., 2018a). This framework defines three distinct phases of goal-directed behaviour: (a) choosing whether to act or not, (b) performing and persisting with the chosen action, and (c) evaluating the outcome and learning from the consequences. Our findings suggest that stroke patients with drive impairment appear to be affected specifically in the performance phase of effort-based decision making. This could potentially be explained by a discrepancy between the patient's expectation of their ability to perform and their actual capabilities. Such performance deficits might contribute to the clinical observations of reduced motivation during functional neurorehabilitative training.

Notably, our finding that drive-impaired stroke patients showed no differences in the decision but differed in the subsequent performance phase contrasts with previous studies in Parkinson's disease and cerebral small vessel disease patients. In those clinical populations, studies showed a reduced willingness to accept effortful offers compared to controls, with no reported difference in performance once they engaged in the effortful task (Le Heron, et al., 2018b, 2018c; Saleh, et al., 2021b). This suggests potential differences in the underlying cognitive mechanisms of motivational deficits across various neurological conditions and states.

Individuals routinely encounter cost-benefit decision-making scenarios requiring a trade-off between potential benefits against associated costs, such as time and effort. Carefully weighing these rewards and costs is essential for intact decision making across various domains. Alterations in these decision processes can lead to impulsive behaviour, diminished motivation, and maladaptive decision-making patterns (Amlung et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2021; Le Heron, et al., 2018a). For instance, motivational impairments in the context of neurorehabilitation can substantially reduce recovery and long-term success (Oyake, et al., 2020a, 2020b). Therefore, understanding the neurochemical and behavioural underpinnings of these choice processes is crucial for developing therapeutic interventions and enhancing functional rehabilitation outcomes. Our findings provide evidence for a cost-general role of dopamine in modulating decisions that involve physical effort and delay. Furthermore, we demonstrate that acetylcholine plays a specialized role in specific features of effort-based decision making. Moreover, our results suggest that motivational deficits in stroke patients are not primarily characterized by alterations in their willingness to perform effortful acts or not but rather by deficits in persisting with the required effortful behaviour, indicating a need for

specialized rehabilitation strategies focusing on aiding patients in sustaining effort during physically demanding therapy sessions.

5. Future Research

In Experiment I, we provided evidence for distinct roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in shaping cost-benefit decision making. While dopamine modulates the integration of rewards and both types of costs on choices, acetylcholine appears to exert a more specialized effect on some components of effort-based decision making. This work, however, focused solely on physical effort and delay as cost factors. Therefore, the potential roles of both neurotransmitters in integrating other cost dimensions, such as cognitive effort or probability, remain unclear. While the role of dopamine in these types of cost-benefit decisions has been reported in the literature (Froböse et al., 2020; McGuigan et al., 2019; Ojala et al., 2018; Petzold et al., 2019; Westbrook et al., 2020), studies on the modulatory effects of acetylcholine on these aspects in humans are missing. Thus, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of acetylcholine's role in cost-benefit decision making, future research could employ behavioural paradigms that encompass these additional cost dimensions, allowing for a more general exploration of the relationship between cholinergic activity and other types of costbenefit choices. Similarly, we measured effort and delay discounting in separate tasks at different time points, making a direct comparison of these two constructs complicated. Therefore, to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the neuropharmacology in costbenefit decision making across different dimensions of costs, future studies could apply paradigms that measure the impact of different costs within the same task, enabling a more precise analysis of how different neurotransmitters influence distinct cost-benefit computations.

Prior research studies indicate the potential for a U-shaped dose-response function of dopamine, suggesting that both extremely high and extremely low levels of dopamine can have adverse effects on behaviour (Cools & D'Esposito, 2011; Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000). This pattern implies that the impact of dopamine-modulating drugs may vary depending on the individual's baseline dopamine levels. Given the functional interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine, it is plausible that a similar U-shaped dose-response function may also exist for acetylcholine. Consequently, future investigations could consider individual differences in baseline levels of these neurotransmitters when evaluating the effects of cholinergic and dopaminergic manipulations on decision making, using neuroimaging techniques such as positron emission tomography or single photon emission computed tomography.

Furthermore, combining these neuroimaging techniques with pharmacological manipulations could provide additional valuable insights. Investigating whether alterations of different neurotransmitter systems affect similar or distinct brain regions would further elucidate the neural mechanisms underlying their roles in cost-benefit decision making.

Experiment II revealed that motivational deficits observed during neurorehabilitation training were not characterized by aberrant choices in an effort-based decision-making paradigm but rather by the inability to perform the required effort. However, the identification of patients with diminished drive was based solely on subjective ratings provided by their treating clinicians. While this approach offers insights into patients' behaviour during everyday clinical life, it is susceptible to potential biases introduced by subjective assessments. To improve reliability and validity, future research should develop and incorporate a validated construct of motivational deficits during training, specifically designed to identify patients who meet validated criteria for drive impairment. This would eventually lead to more robust and generalizable findings directly applicable to clinical practice.

Lastly, as a clinical translation of Experiment I and II, a pharmacological intervention study might be considered for patients showing motivational deficits during rehabilitation training. Administrating drugs that either increase dopaminergic activity or act as antagonists at the cholinergic M1 receptor could provide insights into whether the reported neuropharmacological effects in Experiment I translate to clinically relevant improvements in patients with motivational deficits during rehabilitation training. It could also help to assess whether the modulatory effects of these neurotransmitters influence not only decisions to engage in an effortful option but also in performing the corresponding act.

6. Conclusion

The present work investigated two distinct dimensions of cost-benefit decision making: effort and delay discounting. We examined the neurobiological underpinnings of delay- and effortbased decisions in humans, specifically the impact of dopamine and acetylcholine. In a clinical case, we further explored alterations in effort-based decision-making processes among poststroke patients exhibiting motivational deficits during training. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effects of both dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on cost-benefit decisions in humans. Furthermore, studies directly investigating the processes underlying reduced drive during neurorehabilitation training in post-stroke patients are scarce. Therefore, we aimed to examine the latent neurocognitive mechanisms contributing to these motivational deficits.

Cost-benefit decision making involves the evaluation of potential rewards against associated costs, which include different dimensions such as time or effort. A careful weighing of these two aspects is critical across diverse domains and alterations in these processes can contribute to maladaptive behaviours observed in various clinical conditions and syndromes, such as apathy, major depressive disorder, and substance use disorder (Le Heron, et al., 2018a; Madden et al., 2003; Petry, 2001; Treadway et al., 2012). For instance, in the clinical setting, alterations in effort-based decision making can have detrimental consequences, particularly in scenarios where active participation and endurance are required. Therefore, understanding the influence of distinct neurotransmitter systems and the underlying neurocognitive mechanisms guiding these cost-benefit decision-making processes, may not only identify the causes of maladaptive decision making, but also enable possible interventions that improve these issues.

Our study supports prior findings, providing a conceptual replication of dopamine's invigorating effect on motivation, and we contributed to understanding its role in delay discounting. Furthermore, we revealed partly opposing effects of dopamine and acetylcholine in human effort-based decision making, a phenomenon previously observed exclusively in animal studies. Moreover, our findings indicate that post-stroke patients exhibiting diminished drive during neurorehabilitative training display similar choice patterns to unaffected control participants in an effort-based decision-making task. However, these patients showed deficits in sustaining physical effort over a prescribed duration, a behavioural characteristic which was not captured by clinical questionnaires but rather through observations by clinical specialists.
References

- Acheson, A., & de Wit, H. (2008). Bupropion improves attention but does not affect impulsive behavior in healthy young adults. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 16(2), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.16.2.113
- Ahn, W.-Y., Haines, N., & Zhang, L. (2017). Revealing Neurocomputational Mechanisms of Reinforcement Learning and Decision-Making With the hBayesDM Package. *Computational Psychiatry (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 1, 24–57. https://doi.org/10.1162/CPSY_a_00002
- Akaike, H. (1974). A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, *19*(6), 716–723. https://doi.org/10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705
- Amlung, M., Marsden, E., Holshausen, K., Morris, V., Patel, H., Vedelago, L., Naish, K. R., Reed, D. D., & McCabe, R. E. (2019). Delay Discounting as a Transdiagnostic Process in Psychiatric Disorders: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(11), 1176–1186. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.2102
- Amlung, M., Vedelago, L., Acker, J., Balodis, I., & MacKillop, J. (2017). Steep delay discounting and addictive behavior: a meta-analysis of continuous associations. *Addiction*, *112*(1), 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13535
- Ang, Y.-S., Lockwood, P., Apps, M. A. J., Muhammed, K., & Husain, M. (2017). Distinct Subtypes of Apathy Revealed by the Apathy Motivation Index. *PloS One*, *12*(1), e0169938. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169938
- Antony, M. M., Bieling, P. J., Cox, B. J., Enns, M. W., & Swinson, R. P. (1998). Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales in clinical groups and a community sample. *Psychological Assessment*, *10*(2), 176– 181. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.10.2.176
- Bailey, M. R., Simpson, E. H., & Balsam, P. D. (2016). Neural substrates underlying effort, time, and risk-based decision making in motivated behavior. *Neurobiology of Learning* and Memory, 133, 233–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2016.07.015
- Ballard, K., & Knutson, B. (2009). Dissociable neural representations of future reward magnitude and delay during temporal discounting. *NeuroImage*, 45(1), 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.11.004

- Bardgett, M. E., Depenbrock, M., Downs, N., Points, M., & Green, L. (2009). Dopamine modulates effort-based decision making in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 123(2), 242– 251. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014625
- Benjamin, D. J., Berger, J. O., Johannesson, M., Nosek, B. A., Wagenmakers, E.-J., Berk, R.,
 Bollen, K. A., Brembs, B., Brown, L., Camerer, C., Cesarini, D., Chambers, C. D.,
 Clyde, M., Cook, T. D., De Boeck, P., Dienes, Z., Dreber, A., Easwaran, K., Efferson,
 C., ... Johnson, V. E. (2018). Redefine statistical significance. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 2(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0189-z
- Berke, J. D. (2018). What does dopamine mean? *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*(6), 787–793. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0152-y
- Bevilacqua, L., & Goldman, D. (2013). Genetics of impulsive behaviour. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 368(1615), 20120380. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0380
- Białaszek, W., Marcowski, P., & Ostaszewski, P. (2017). Physical and cognitive effort discounting across different reward magnitudes: Tests of discounting models. *PloS One*, *12*(7), e0182353. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182353
- Bickel, W. K., & Marsch, L. A. (2001). Toward a behavioral economic understanding of drug dependence: delay discounting processes. *Addiction*, 96(1), 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2001.961736.x
- Bickel, W. K., Miller, M. L., Yi, R., Kowal, B. P., Lindquist, D. M., & Pitcock, J. A. (2007). Behavioral and neuroeconomics of drug addiction: competing neural systems and temporal discounting processes. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *90 Suppl 1*, S85-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.09.016
- Bickel, W. K., Pitcock, J. A., Yi, R., & Angtuaco, E. J. C. (2009). Congruence of BOLD response across intertemporal choice conditions: fictive and real money gains and losses. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(27), 8839–8846. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5319-08.2009
- Bizot, J. C., David, S., & Trovero, F. (2011). Effects of atomoxetine, desipramine, damphetamine and methylphenidate on impulsivity in juvenile rats, measured in a Tmaze procedure. *Neuroscience Letters*, 489(1), 20–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2010.11.058

- Bizot, J. C., Le Bihan, C., Puech, A. J., Hamon, M., & Thiébot, M. (1999). Serotonin and tolerance to delay of reward in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 146(4), 400–412. https://doi.org/10.1007/pl00005485
- Bizot, J. C., Thiébot, M. H., Le Bihan, C., Soubrié, P., & Simon, P. (1988). Effects of imipramine-like drugs and serotonin uptake blockers on delay of reward in rats. Possible implication in the behavioral mechanism of action of antidepressants. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 246(3), 1144–1151. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3418513
- Blouzard, E., Pouchon, A., Polosan, M., Bastin, J., & Dondé, C. (2023). Effort-Cost Decision-making Among Individuals With Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 80(6), 548–557. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2023.0553
- Bogdanov, M., LoParco, S., Otto, A. R., & Sharp, M. (2022). Dopaminergic medication increases motivation to exert cognitive control by reducing subjective effort costs in Parkinson's patients. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *193*, 107652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2022.107652
- Bonnelle, V., Veromann, K.-R., Burnett Heyes, S., Lo Sterzo, E., Manohar, S., & Husain, M. (2015). Characterization of reward and effort mechanisms in apathy. *Journal of Physiology, Paris*, *109*(1–3), 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphysparis.2014.04.002
- Brocks, D. R. (1999). Anticholinergic drugs used in Parkinson's disease: An overlooked class of drugs from a pharmacokinetic perspective. Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences: A Publication of the Canadian Society for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Societe Canadienne Des Sciences Pharmaceutiques, 2(2), 39–46. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10952768
- Cagniard, B., Balsam, P. D., Brunner, D., & Zhuang, X. (2006). Mice with chronically elevated dopamine exhibit enhanced motivation, but not learning, for a food reward. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31(7), 1362–1370. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300966
- Chantranupong, L., Beron, C. C., Zimmer, J. A., Wen, M. J., Wang, W., & Sabatini, B. L. (2023). Dopamine and glutamate regulate striatal acetylcholine in decision-making. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06492-9

- Chen, Z., Becker, B., Qin, P., Lei, W., Chen, J., Liu, P., Lin, T., Zhang, C., Zhang, R., Wang, M., Xu, T., Yang, Y., Feng, P., & Feng, T. (2021). Neural networks during delay discounting as trans-disease marker: A meta-analytical review. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *139*, 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.05.008
- Chong, T. T.-J., Apps, M., Giehl, K., Sillence, A., Grima, L. L., & Husain, M. (2017). Neurocomputational mechanisms underlying subjective valuation of effort costs. *PLoS Biology*, *15*(2), e1002598. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002598
- Chong, T. T.-J., Bonnelle, V., & Husain, M. (2016). Quantifying motivation with effort-based decision-making paradigms in health and disease. *Progress in Brain Research*, 229, 71–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.05.002
- Chong, T. T.-J., Bonnelle, V., Veromann, K.-R., Juurmaa, J., Taba, P., Plant, O., & Husain, M. (2018). Dissociation of reward and effort sensitivity in methcathinone-induced Parkinsonism. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, *12*(2), 291–297. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnp.12122
- Chong, T. T.-J., Fortunato, E., & Bellgrove, M. A. (2023). Amphetamines improve the motivation to invest effort in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0982-23.2023
- Cohen, J. Y., Haesler, S., Vong, L., Lowell, B. B., & Uchida, N. (2012). Neuron-type-specific signals for reward and punishment in the ventral tegmental area. *Nature*, 482(7383), 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10754
- Cools, R., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Inverted-U-shaped dopamine actions on human working memory and cognitive control. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(12), e113-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.03.028
- Correa, M., Pardo, M., Bayarri, P., López-Cruz, L., San Miguel, N., Valverde, O., Ledent, C., & Salamone, J. D. (2016). Choosing voluntary exercise over sucrose consumption depends upon dopamine transmission: effects of haloperidol in wild type and adenosine A₂AKO mice. *Psychopharmacology*, 233(3), 393–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-4127-3
- Cousins, M. S., Atherton, A., Turner, L., & Salamone, J. D. (1996). Nucleus accumbens dopamine depletions alter relative response allocation in a T-maze cost/benefit task.

Behavioural Brain Research, 74(1–2), 189–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(95)00151-4

- Dallery, J., & Locey, M. L. (2005). Effects of acute and chronic nicotine on impulsive choice in rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *16*(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200502000-00002
- de Wit, H., Enggasser, J. L., & Richards, J. B. (2002). Acute administration of d-amphetamine decreases impulsivity in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 27(5), 813–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(02)00343-3
- Denk, F., Walton, M. E., Jennings, K. A., Sharp, T., Rushworth, M. F. S., & Bannerman, D. M. (2005). Differential involvement of serotonin and dopamine systems in cost-benefit decisions about delay or effort. *Psychopharmacology*, *179*(3), 587–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-2059-4
- Di Chiara, G., Morelli, M., & Consolo, S. (1994). Modulatory functions of neurotransmitters in the striatum: ACh/dopamine/NMDA interactions. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *17*(6), 228– 233. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(94)90005-1
- Farrar, A. M., Font, L., Pereira, M., Mingote, S., Bunce, J. G., Chrobak, J. J., & Salamone, J. D. (2008). Forebrain circuitry involved in effort-related choice: Injections of the GABAA agonist muscimol into ventral pallidum alter response allocation in food-seeking behavior. *Neuroscience*, 152(2), 321–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.12.034
- Farrell, S., & Lewandowsky, S. (2018). *Computational Modeling of Cognition and Behavior*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316272503
- Floresco, S. B., Tse, M. T. L., & Ghods-Sharifi, S. (2008). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic regulation of effort- and delay-based decision making. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 33(8), 1966–1979. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301565
- Font, L., Mingote, S., Farrar, A. M., Pereira, M., Worden, L., Stopper, C., Port, R. G., & Salamone, J. D. (2008). Intra-accumbens injections of the adenosine A2A agonist CGS 21680 affect effort-related choice behavior in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 199(4), 515– 526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-008-1174-z

- Froböse, M. I., Westbrook, A., Bloemendaal, M., Aarts, E., & Cools, R. (2020). Catecholaminergic modulation of the cost of cognitive control in healthy older adults. *PloS One*, *15*(2), e0229294. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229294
- Gerber, D. J., Sotnikova, T. D., Gainetdinov, R. R., Huang, S. Y., Caron, M. G., & Tonegawa,
 S. (2001). Hyperactivity, elevated dopaminergic transmission, and response to amphetamine in M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(26), 15312–15317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.261583798
- Goetz, C. G., Koller, W. C., Poewe, W., & Rascol, O. (2002). Anticholinergic therapies in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society*, 17 Suppl 4, S7-12. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.5556
- Gold, J. M., Strauss, G. P., Waltz, J. A., Robinson, B. M., Brown, J. K., & Frank, M. J. (2013).
 Negative symptoms of schizophrenia are associated with abnormal effort-cost computations. *Biological Psychiatry*, 74(2), 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.12.022
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S., Muly, III, E.C, & Williams, G. V. (2000). D1 receptors in prefrontal cells and circuits. *Brain Research Reviews*, *31*(2), 295–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00045-4
- Green, L., & Myerson, J. (2004). A discounting framework for choice with delayed and probabilistic rewards. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130(5), 769–792. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.5.769
- Grimaldi, R., Perucca, E., Ruberto, G., Gelmi, C., Trimarchi, F., Hollmann, M., & Crema, A. (1986). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies following the intravenous and oral administration of the antiparkinsonian drug biperiden to normal subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 29(6), 735–737. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00615970
- Hailwood, J. M., Heath, C. J., Phillips, B. U., Robbins, T. W., Saksida, L. M., & Bussey, T. J. (2019). Blockade of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors facilitates motivated behaviour and rescues a model of antipsychotic-induced amotivation. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *44*(6), 1068–1075. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0281-8

- Hamidovic, A., Kang, U. J., & de Wit, H. (2008). Effects of low to moderate acute doses of pramipexole on impulsivity and cognition in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 28(1), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1097/jcp.0b013e3181602fab
- Hariri, A. R., Brown, S. M., Williamson, D. E., Flory, J. D., de Wit, H., & Manuck, S. B. (2006).
 Preference for immediate over delayed rewards is associated with magnitude of ventral striatal activity. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(51), 13213–13217. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3446-06.2006
- Hartmann, M. N., Hager, O. M., Tobler, P. N., & Kaiser, S. (2013). Parabolic discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Behavioural Processes*, 100, 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2013.09.014
- Holt, D. D., Green, L., & Myerson, J. (2003). Is discounting impulsive?. Evidence from temporal and probability discounting in gambling and non-gambling college students. *Behavioural Processes*, 64(3), 355–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0376-6357(03)00141-4
- Holt, D. J., Graybiel, A. M., & Saper, C. B. (1997). Neurochemical architecture of the human striatum. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 384(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1096-9861(19970721)384:1<1::aid-cne1>3.0.co;2-5
- Jackson, J. N. S., & MacKillop, J. (2016). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Monetary
 Delay Discounting: A Meta-Analysis of Case-Control Studies. *Biological Psychiatry. Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*, 1(4), 316–325.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2016.01.007
- Jones, I. W., Bolam, J. P., & Wonnacott, S. (2001). Presynaptic localisation of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor beta2 subunit immunoreactivity in rat nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurones. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *439*(2), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.1345
- Kalenscher, T., & Pennartz, C. M. A. (2008). Is a bird in the hand worth two in the future? The neuroeconomics of intertemporal decision-making. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *84*(3), 284–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.11.004
- Kang, M. J., Rangel, A., Camus, M., & Camerer, C. F. (2011). Hypothetical and real choice differentially activate common valuation areas. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The*

Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, *31*(2), 461–468. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1583-10.2011

- Kayser, A. S., Allen, D. C., Navarro-Cebrian, A., Mitchell, J. M., & Fields, H. L. (2012). Dopamine, corticostriatal connectivity, and intertemporal choice. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(27), 9402–9409. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1180-12.2012
- Kirby, K. N., & Maraković, N. N. (1995). Modeling myopic decisions: Evidence for hyperbolic delay-discounting within subjects and amounts. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 64(1), 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.1995.1086
- Klein-Flügge, M. C., Kennerley, S. W., Saraiva, A. C., Penny, W. D., & Bestmann, S. (2015). Behavioral modeling of human choices reveals dissociable effects of physical effort and temporal delay on reward devaluation. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *11*(3), e1004116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004116
- Knecht, S., Roßmüller, J., Unrath, M., Stephan, K.-M., Berger, K., & Studer, B. (2016). Old benefit as much as young patients with stroke from high-intensity neurorehabilitation: cohort analysis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 87(5), 526–530. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2015-310344
- Koffarnus, M. N., Newman, A. H., Grundt, P., Rice, K. C., & Woods, J. H. (2011). Effects of selective dopaminergic compounds on a delay-discounting task. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 22(4), 300–311. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e3283473bcb
- Kolokotroni, K. Z., Rodgers, R. J., & Harrison, A. A. (2011). Acute nicotine increases both impulsive choice and behavioural disinhibition in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 217(4), 455–473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2296-2
- Korb, S., Götzendorfer, S. J., Massaccesi, C., Sezen, P., Graf, I., Willeit, M., Eisenegger, C.,
 & Silani, G. (2020). Dopaminergic and opioidergic regulation during anticipation and consumption of social and nonsocial rewards. *ELife*, 9. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.55797
- Krok, A. C., Maltese, M., Mistry, P., Miao, X., Li, Y., & Tritsch, N. X. (2023). Intrinsic dopamine and acetylcholine dynamics in the striatum of mice. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-05995-9

- Kruschke, J. K. (2010). Bayesian data analysis. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Cognitive Science*, *1*(5), 658–676. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.72
- Kruschke, J. K. (2014). *Doing Bayesian Data Analysis: A Tutorial with R, JAGS, and Stan.* Academic Press.
- Kudernatsch, M., & Sutor, B. (1994). Cholinergic modulation of dopamine overflow in the rat neostriatum: a fast cyclic voltammetric study in vitro. *Neuroscience Letters*, 181(1–2), 107–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3940(94)90571-1
- Kudo, S., & Ishizaki, T. (1999). Pharmacokinetics of haloperidol: an update. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, *37*(6), 435–456. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-199937060-00001
- Kwakkel, G., van Peppen, R., Wagenaar, R. C., Wood Dauphinee, S., Richards, C., Ashburn,
 A., Miller, K., Lincoln, N., Partridge, C., Wellwood, I., & Langhorne, P. (2004). Effects of augmented exercise therapy time after stroke: a meta-analysis. *Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation*, 35(11), 2529–2539. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000143153.76460.7d
- Lavoie, B., Smith, Y., & Parent, A. (1989). Dopaminergic innervation of the basal ganglia in the squirrel monkey as revealed by tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemistry. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 289(1), 36–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.902890104
- Le Bouc, R., Rigoux, L., Schmidt, L., Degos, B., Welter, M.-L., Vidailhet, M., Daunizeau, J., & Pessiglione, M. (2016). Computational Dissection of Dopamine Motor and Motivational Functions in Humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *36*(25), 6623–6633. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3078-15.2016
- Le Heron, C., Apps, M. A. J., & Husain, M. (2018a). The anatomy of apathy: A neurocognitive framework for amotivated behaviour. *Neuropsychologia*, *118*(Pt B), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.07.003
- Le Heron, C., Manohar, S., Plant, O., Muhammed, K., Griffanti, L., Nemeth, A., Douaud, G., Markus, H. S., & Husain, M. (2018b). Dysfunctional effort-based decision-making underlies apathy in genetic cerebral small vessel disease. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 141(11), 3193–3210. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy257

- Le Heron, C., Plant, O., Manohar, S., Ang, Y.-S., Jackson, M., Lennox, G., Hu, M. T., & Husain,
 M. (2018c). Distinct effects of apathy and dopamine on effort-based decision-making
 in Parkinson's disease. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *141*(5), 1455–1469.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy110
- Lee, M. D., & Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2014). *Bayesian Cognitive Modeling: A Practical Course*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139087759
- Lockwood, P. L., Hamonet, M., Zhang, S. H., Ratnavel, A., Salmony, F. U., Husain, M., & Apps,
 M. A. J. (2017). Prosocial apathy for helping others when effort is required. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(7), 0131. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-017-0131
- Lovibond, P. F., & Lovibond, S. H. (1995). The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *33*(3), 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-u
- Lübke, N., Meinck, M., & Von Renteln-Kruse, W. (2004). [The Barthel Index in geriatrics. A context analysis for the Hamburg Classification Manual]. *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie und Geriatrie*, *37*(4), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00391-004-0233-2
- Lueken, U., Seidl, U., Schwarz, M., Völker, L., Naumann, D., Mattes, K., Schröder, J., & Schweiger, E. (2006). [Psychometric properties of a German version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale]. *Fortschritte der Neurologie-Psychiatrie*, *74*(12), 714–722. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-932164
- Luker, J., Lynch, E., Bernhardsson, S., Bennett, L., & Bernhardt, J. (2015). Stroke Survivors' Experiences of Physical Rehabilitation: A Systematic Review of Qualitative Studies. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 96(9), 1698-708.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2015.03.017
- Macintosh, F. C. (1941). The distribution of acetylcholine in the peripheral and the central nervous system. *The Journal of Physiology*, *99*(4), 436–442. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1941.sp003913
- Madden, G. J., Begotka, A. M., Raiff, B. R., & Kastern, L. L. (2003). Delay discounting of real and hypothetical rewards. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *11*(2), 139– 145. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.11.2.139

- Mahoney, F. I., & Barthel, D. W. (1965). FUNCTIONAL EVALUATION: THE BARTHEL INDEX. *Maryland State Medical Journal*, *14*, 61–65. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14258950
- Marin, R. S., Biedrzycki, R. C., & Firinciogullari, S. (1991). Reliability and validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Psychiatry Research*, *38*(2), 143–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(91)90040-v
- Mazur, J. E. (1987). The effect of delay and of intervening events on reinforcement value. *Quantitative Analyses of Behavior*.
- McGuigan, S., Zhou, S.-H., Brosnan, M. B., Thyagarajan, D., Bellgrove, M. A., & Chong, T. T.-J. (2019). Dopamine restores cognitive motivation in Parkinson's disease. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *142*(3), 719–732. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy341
- Mendez, I. A., Gilbert, R. J., Bizon, J. L., & Setlow, B. (2012). Effects of acute administration of nicotinic and muscarinic cholinergic agonists and antagonists on performance in different cost-benefit decision making tasks in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 224(4), 489– 499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-012-2777-y
- Meyniel, F., Goodwin, G. M., Deakin, J. W., Klinge, C., MacFadyen, C., Milligan, H., Mullings,
 E., Pessiglione, M., & Gaillard, R. (2016). A specific role for serotonin in overcoming effort cost. *ELife*, 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17282
- Michely, J., Viswanathan, S., Hauser, T. U., Delker, L., Dolan, R. J., & Grefkes, C. (2020). The role of dopamine in dynamic effort-reward integration. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *45*(9), 1448–1453. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0669-0
- Morris, G., Arkadir, D., Nevet, A., Vaadia, E., & Bergman, H. (2004). Coincident but distinct messages of midbrain dopamine and striatal tonically active neurons. *Neuron*, *43*(1), 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.06.012
- Myslivecek, J. (2021). Two Players in the Field: Hierarchical Model of Interaction between the Dopamine and Acetylcholine Signaling Systems in the Striatum. *Biomedicines*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9010025
- Myung, I. J. (2003). Tutorial on maximum likelihood estimation. *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, *47*(1), 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2496(02)00028-7

- Nicholson, S., Sniehotta, F. F., van Wijck, F., Greig, C. A., Johnston, M., McMurdo, M. E. T., Dennis, M., & Mead, G. E. (2013). A systematic review of perceived barriers and motivators to physical activity after stroke. *International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society*, 8(5), 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00880.x
- Nunes, E. J., Randall, P. A., Podurgiel, S., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D. (2013). Nucleus accumbens neurotransmission and effort-related choice behavior in food motivation: effects of drugs acting on dopamine, adenosine, and muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(9 Pt A), 2015–2025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.002
- Ohmann, H. A., Kuper, N., & Wacker, J. (2020). A low dosage of the dopamine D2-receptor antagonist sulpiride affects effort allocation for reward regardless of trait extraversion. *Personality Neuroscience*, 3, e7. https://doi.org/10.1017/pen.2020.7
- Ojala, K. E., Janssen, L. K., Hashemi, M. M., Timmer, M. H. M., Geurts, D. E. M., Ter Huurne,
 N. P., Cools, R., & Sescousse, G. (2018). Dopaminergic Drug Effects on Probability
 Weighting during Risky Decision Making. *ENeuro*, *5*(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0330-18.2018
- Oyake, K., Suzuki, M., Otaka, Y., Momose, K., & Tanaka, S. (2020a). Motivational Strategies for Stroke Rehabilitation: A Delphi Study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *101*(11), 1929–1936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2020.06.007
- Oyake, K., Suzuki, M., Otaka, Y., & Tanaka, S. (2020b). Motivational Strategies for Stroke Rehabilitation: A Descriptive Cross-Sectional Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *11*, 553. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00553
- Ozga, J. E., & Anderson, K. G. (2018). Reduction in delay discounting due to nicotine and its attenuation by cholinergic antagonists in Lewis and Fischer 344 rats. *Psychopharmacology*, *235*(1), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-4752-0
- Pardo, M., Lopez-Cruz, L., Valverde, O., Ledent, C., Baqi, Y., Müller, C. E., Salamone, J. D., & Correa, M. (2012). Adenosine A2A receptor antagonism and genetic deletion attenuate the effects of dopamine D2 antagonism on effort-based decision making in mice. *Neuropharmacology*, 62(5–6), 2068–2077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.12.033

- Pessiglione, M., Vinckier, F., Bouret, S., Daunizeau, J., & Le Bouc, R. (2018). Why not try harder? Computational approach to motivation deficits in neuro-psychiatric diseases. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 141(3), 629–650. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx278
- Petermann, F. (2011). Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Deutsche Version (HADS-D). Zeitschrift Fur Klinische Psychologie, Psychiatrie Und Psychotherapie / Im Auftrag Der Gorres-Gesellschaft, 59(3), 251–253. https://doi.org/10.1024/1661-4747/a000077
- Peters, J., & Büchel, C. (2010). Neural representations of subjective reward value. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *213*(2), 135–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.04.031
- Peters, J., & Büchel, C. (2011). The neural mechanisms of inter-temporal decision-making: understanding variability. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *15*(5), 227–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2011.03.002
- Petry, N. M. (2001). Pathological gamblers, with and without substance use disorders, discount delayed rewards at high rates. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*(3), 482–487. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843x.110.3.482
- Petzold, J., Kienast, A., Lee, Y., Pooseh, S., London, E. D., Goschke, T., & Smolka, M. N. (2019). Baseline impulsivity may moderate L-DOPA effects on value-based decisionmaking. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 5652. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42124-x
- Pine, A., Shiner, T., Seymour, B., & Dolan, R. J. (2010). Dopamine, time, and impulsivity in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 30(26), 8888–8896. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6028-09.2010
- Pisani, A., Bonsi, P., Centonze, D., Gubellini, P., Bernardi, G., & Calabresi, P. (2003). Targeting striatal cholinergic interneurons in Parkinson's disease: focus on metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 45(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0028-3908(03)00137-0
- Randall, P. A., Nunes, E. J., Janniere, S. L., Stopper, C. M., Farrar, A. M., Sager, T. N., Baqi,
 Y., Hockemeyer, J., Müller, C. E., & Salamone, J. D. (2011). Stimulant effects of adenosine antagonists on operant behavior: differential actions of selective A2A and A1 antagonists. *Psychopharmacology*, 216(2), 173–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2198-3
- Randall, P. A., Pardo, M., Nunes, E. J., López Cruz, L., Vemuri, V. K., Makriyannis, A., Baqi, Y., Müller, C. E., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D. (2012). Dopaminergic modulation of

effort-related choice behavior as assessed by a progressive ratio chow feeding choice task: pharmacological studies and the role of individual differences. *PloS One*, *7*(10), e47934. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047934

- Rigoux, L., & Guigon, E. (2012). A model of reward- and effort-based optimal decision making and motor control. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 8(10), e1002716. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002716
- Robinson, E. S. J., Eagle, D. M., Mar, A. C., Bari, A., Banerjee, G., Jiang, X., Dalley, J. W., & Robbins, T. W. (2008). Similar effects of the selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor atomoxetine distinct forms on three of impulsivity the rat. in Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 33(5), 1028-1037. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301487
- Rouder, J. N., & Lu, J. (2005). An introduction to Bayesian hierarchical models with an application in the theory of signal detection. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, *12*(4), 573–604. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03196750
- Salamone, J. D., & Correa, M. (2012). The mysterious motivational functions of mesolimbic dopamine. *Neuron*, *76*(3), 470–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.021
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Ferrigno, S., Yang, J.-H., Rotolo, R. A., & Presby, R. E. (2018).
 The Psychopharmacology of Effort-Related Decision Making: Dopamine, Adenosine, and Insights into the Neurochemistry of Motivation. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *70*(4), 747–762. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.117.015107
- Salamone, J. D., Cousins, M. S., & Bucher, S. (1994). Anhedonia or anergia? Effects of haloperidol and nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion on instrumental response selection in a T-maze cost/benefit procedure. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 65(2), 221– 229. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(94)90108-2
- Salamone, J. D., Steinpreis, R. E., McCullough, L. D., Smith, P., Grebel, D., & Mahan, K. (1991). Haloperidol and nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion suppress lever pressing for food but increase free food consumption in a novel food choice procedure. *Psychopharmacology*, 104(4), 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02245659
- Saleh, Y., Jarratt-Barnham, I., Fernandez-Egea, E., & Husain, M. (2021a). Mechanisms Underlying Motivational Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 15, 709753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2021.709753

- Saleh, Y., Le Heron, C., Petitet, P., Veldsman, M., Drew, D., Plant, O., Schulz, U., Sen, A., Rothwell, P. M., Manohar, S., & Husain, M. (2021b). Apathy in small vessel cerebrovascular disease is associated with deficits in effort-based decision making. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab013
- Schultz, W., Dayan, P., & Montague, P. R. (1997). A neural substrate of prediction and reward. *Science*, 275(5306), 1593–1599. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.275.5306.1593
- Schwarz, G. (1978). Estimating the Dimension of a Model. *The Annals of Statistics*, 6(2), 461–464. https://doi.org/10.1214/aos/1176344136
- Smith, C. T., Wallace, D. L., Dang, L. C., Aarts, E., Jagust, W. J., D'Esposito, M., & Boettiger, C. A. (2016). Modulation of impulsivity and reward sensitivity in intertemporal choice by striatal and midbrain dopamine synthesis in healthy adults. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *115*(3), 1146–1156. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00261.2015
- Soder, H. E., Cooper, J. A., Lopez-Gamundi, P., Hoots, J. K., Nunez, C., Lawlor, V. M., Lane,
 S. D., Treadway, M. T., & Wardle, M. C. (2020). Dose-response effects of damphetamine on effort-based decision-making and reinforcement learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0779-8
- Soutschek, A., Gvozdanovic, G., Kozak, R., Duvvuri, S., de Martinis, N., Harel, B., Gray, D. L., Fehr, E., Jetter, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2020). Dopaminergic D1 Receptor Stimulation Affects Effort and Risk Preferences. *Biological Psychiatry*, *87*(7), 678–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.09.002
- Soutschek, A., Jetter, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2023). Toward a Unifying Account of Dopamine's Role in Cost-Benefit Decision Making. *Biological Psychiatry Global Open Science*, *3*(2), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsgos.2022.02.010
- Soutschek, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2023). A process model account of the role of dopamine in intertemporal choice. *ELife*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83734
- Stanhope, K. J., Mirza, N. R., Bickerdike, M. J., Bright, J. L., Harrington, N. R., Hesselink, M. B., Kennett, G. A., Lightowler, S., Sheardown, M. J., Syed, R., Upton, R. L., Wadsworth, G., Weiss, S. M., & Wyatt, A. (2001). The muscarinic receptor agonist xanomeline has an antipsychotic-like profile in the rat. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 299(2), 782–792. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11602695

- Tay, J., Morris, R. G., & Markus, H. S. (2021). Apathy after stroke: Diagnosis, mechanisms, consequences, and treatment. *International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society*, 1747493021990906. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747493021990906
- Threlfell, S., Clements, M. A., Khodai, T., Pienaar, I. S., Exley, R., Wess, J., & Cragg, S. J. (2010). Striatal muscarinic receptors promote activity dependence of dopamine transmission via distinct receptor subtypes on cholinergic interneurons in ventral versus dorsal striatum. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 30(9), 3398–3408. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5620-09.2010
- Treadway, M. T., Bossaller, N. A., Shelton, R. C., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Effort-based decisionmaking in major depressive disorder: a translational model of motivational anhedonia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 121(3), 553–558. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028813
- van Gaalen, M. M., van Koten, R., Schoffelmeer, A. N. M., & Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J. (2006). Critical involvement of dopaminergic neurotransmission in impulsive decision making. *Biological Psychiatry*, *60*(1), 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.005
- Van Peppen, R. P. S., Kwakkel, G., Wood-Dauphinee, S., Hendriks, H. J. M., Van der Wees, P. J., & Dekker, J. (2004). The impact of physical therapy on functional outcomes after stroke: what's the evidence? *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *18*(8), 833–862. https://doi.org/10.1191/0269215504cr843oa
- Vandekerckhove, J., Tuerlinckx, F., & Lee, M. D. (2011). Hierarchical diffusion models for twochoice response times. *Psychological Methods*, 16(1), 44–62. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021765
- Varazzani, C., San-Galli, A., Gilardeau, S., & Bouret, S. (2015). Noradrenaline and dopamine neurons in the reward/effort trade-off: a direct electrophysiological comparison in behaving monkeys. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(20), 7866–7877. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0454-15.2015
- Vehtari, A., Gelman, A., & Gabry, J. (2017). Practical Bayesian model evaluation using leaveone-out cross-validation and WAIC. *Statistics and Computing*, 27(5), 1413–1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11222-016-9696-4

- Vincent, B. T. (2016). Hierarchical Bayesian estimation and hypothesis testing for delay discounting tasks. *Behavior Research Methods*, 48(4), 1608–1620. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-015-0672-2
- Wade, T. R., de Wit, H., & Richards, J. B. (2000). Effects of dopaminergic drugs on delayed reward as a measure of impulsive behavior in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, *150*(1), 90– 101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130000402
- Wagenmakers, E.-J., Marsman, M., Jamil, T., Ly, A., Verhagen, J., Love, J., Selker, R., Gronau, Q. F., Šmíra, M., Epskamp, S., Matzke, D., Rouder, J. N., & Morey, R. D. (2018). Bayesian inference for psychology. Part I: Theoretical advantages and practical ramifications. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 25(1), 35–57. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-017-1343-3
- Wagner, B., Clos, M., Sommer, T., & Peters, J. (2020). Dopaminergic Modulation of Human Intertemporal Choice: A Diffusion Model Analysis Using the D2-Receptor Antagonist Haloperidol. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 40(41), 7936–7948. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0592-20.2020
- Walton, M. E., Rudebeck, P. H., Bannerman, D. M., & Rushworth, M. F. S. (2007). Calculating the cost of acting in frontal cortex. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1104*, 340–356. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1390.009
- Wardle, M. C., Treadway, M. T., Mayo, L. M., Zald, D. H., & de Wit, H. (2011). Amping up effort: effects of d-amphetamine on human effort-based decision-making. *The Journal* of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 31(46), 16597– 16602. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4387-11.2011
- Webber, H. E., Lopez-Gamundi, P., Stamatovich, S. N., de Wit, H., & Wardle, M. C. (2020).
 Using pharmacological manipulations to study the role of dopamine in human reward functioning: A review of studies in healthy adults. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.11.004
- Weber, S. C., Beck-Schimmer, B., Kajdi, M.-E., Müller, D., Tobler, P. N., & Quednow, B. B. (2016). Dopamine D2/3- and µ-opioid receptor antagonists reduce cue-induced responding and reward impulsivity in humans. *Translational Psychiatry*, 6(7), e850. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2016.113
- West, T., & Bernhardt, J. (2012). Physical activity in hospitalised stroke patients. *Stroke Research and Treatment*, 2012, 813765. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/813765

- Westbrook, A., van den Bosch, R., Määttä, J. I., Hofmans, L., Papadopetraki, D., Cools, R., & Frank, M. J. (2020). Dopamine promotes cognitive effort by biasing the benefits versus costs of cognitive work. *Science*, 367(6484), 1362–1366. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz5891
- Wilson, R. C., & Collins, A. G. (2019). Ten simple rules for the computational modeling of behavioral data. *ELife*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.49547
- Winstanley, C. A., Dalley, J. W., Theobald, D. E. H., & Robbins, T. W. (2004). Fractionating impulsivity: contrasting effects of central 5-HT depletion on different measures of impulsive behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29(7), 1331–1343. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300434
- Woolley, M. L., Carter, H. J., Gartlon, J. E., Watson, J. M., & Dawson, L. A. (2009). Attenuation of amphetamine-induced activity by the non-selective muscarinic receptor agonist, xanomeline, is absent in muscarinic M4 receptor knockout mice and attenuated in muscarinic M1 receptor knockout mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 603(1–3), 147–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.12.020
- Yang, J.-H., Presby, R. E., Jarvie, A. A., Rotolo, R. A., Fitch, R. H., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D. (2020). Pharmacological studies of effort-related decision making using mouse touchscreen procedures: effects of dopamine antagonism do not resemble reinforcer devaluation by removal of food restriction. *Psychopharmacology*, 237(1), 33–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-019-05343-8
- Yohn, S. E., Thompson, C., Randall, P. A., Lee, C. A., Müller, C. E., Baqi, Y., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D. (2015). The VMAT-2 inhibitor tetrabenazine alters effort-related decision making as measured by the T-maze barrier choice task: reversal with the adenosine A2A antagonist MSX-3 and the catecholamine uptake blocker bupropion. *Psychopharmacology*, 232(7), 1313–1323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-014-3766-0
- Zigmond, A. S., & Snaith, R. P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67(6), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass die Dissertation von mir selbstständig und ohne unzulässige fremde Hilfe unter Beachtung der "Grundsätze zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf" erstellt worden ist.

Erklärung über bisherige Promotionsversuche

Die Dissertation wurde in der vorliegenden oder in ähnlicher Form noch bei keiner anderen Institution eingereicht. Ich habe bisher keine erfolglosen Promotionsversuche unternommen.

M:

Düsseldorf, den 02.05.2024

List of Publications

The following section lists the publications and manuscripts submitted to peer-reviewed journals that form the basis of this thesis. It further details the contributions of each author to the respective articles.

I.) <u>Erfanian Abdoust, M.</u>, Froböse, M. I., Schnitzler, A., Schreivogel, E., Jocham, G. (under review at *PLOS Biology*) Dopaminergic and Cholinergic Modulation of Human Cost-Benefit Decision Making. Preprint at bioRxiv (2023), doi: 10.1101/2023.11.20.566558v2

Mani Erfanian Abdoust: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft. Monja Isabel Froböse: Formal Analysis, Investigation, Writing – Review & Editing. Alfons Schnitzler: Resources, Writing – Review & Editing. Elisabeth Schreivogel: Investigation, Writing – Review & Editing. Gerhard Jocham: Funding Acquisition, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – Review & Editing.

II.) <u>Erfanian Abdoust, M.</u>, <u>Erfanian Abdoust, M.</u>, Knecht, S., Husain, M., Le Heron, C., Jocham, G., & Studer, B. (2024). Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in stroke patients. *Brain and cognition*, *175*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2023.106123

Mani Erfanian Abdoust: Formal analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft. Stefan Knecht: Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. Masud Husain: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Campbell Le Heron: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Gerhard Jocham: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. Bettina Studer: Data curation, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Software, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Attachments

Published and submitted manuscripts under review

1	Distinct roles of dopamine and acetylcholine in delay- and effort-based
2	decision making in humans
3	
4	Short title: Dopaminergic and cholinergic modulation of cost-benefit decision making
5	
6	
7	Mani Erfanian Abdoust ^a , Monja Isabel Froböse ^a , Alfons Schnitzler ^b , Elisabeth
8	Schreivogel ^b , Gerhard Jocham ^a
9	
10	
11	^a Biological Psychology of Decision Making, Institute of Experimental Psychology, Heinrich Heine
12	University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany
13	^b Institute of Clinical Neuroscience and Medical Psychology, Medical Faculty, Heinrich Heine University
14	Düsseldorf, Germany
15	
16	
17	¹ correspondence to
18	Mani Erfanian Abdoust
19	erfanian@hhu.de

20 Abstract

21 In everyday life, we encounter situations that require tradeoffs between potential 22 rewards and associated costs, such as time and (physical) effort. The literature 23 indicates a prominent role for dopamine in discounting of both delay and effort, with 24 mixed findings for delay discounting in humans. Moreover, the reciprocal antagonistic 25 interaction between dopaminergic and cholinergic transmission in the striatum suggests a potential opponent role of acetylcholine in these processes. We found 26 opposing effects of dopamine D2 (haloperidol) and acetylcholine M1 receptor 27 28 (biperiden) antagonism on specific components of effort-based decision making in 29 healthy humans: haloperidol decreased, whereas biperiden increased the willingness 30 to exert physical effort. In contrast, delay discounting was reduced under haloperidol, 31 but not affected by biperiden. Together, our data suggest that dopamine, acting at D2 32 receptors, modulates both effort and delay discounting, while acetylcholine, acting at 33 M1 receptors, appears to exert a more specific influence on effort discounting only.

34

35

36

37

38 Introduction

39 Consider the following scenarios: Would you prefer to order an average pizza that can 40 be delivered within minutes or rather wait an extra hour for your most favourite pizza? 41 Similarly, would you visit a highly-rated pizza place that requires climbing up a steep 42 hill or opting for a conveniently accessible pizza place right in front of the next bus 43 stop? In scenarios like this, decision making involves the balancing of potential 44 rewards against distinct costs required to obtain them. The tendency to devalue 45 rewards as a function of effort or delay costs are commonly described as effort and 46 delay discounting, respectively (Bickel & Marsch, 2001; Hartmann et al., 2013).

47 Striatal dopamine has been suggested to play a central role in both effort and 48 delay discounting. For effort-based decision making, studies in both humans and 49 rodents indicate that diminished dopamine transmission-makes individuals less willing 50 to exert physical effort in exchange for larger rewards (Denk et al., 2005; Farrar et al., 51 2010; Le Heron et al., 2018; McGuigan et al., 2019; Salamone & Correa, 2012; Soder 52 et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011). Pharmacological studies consistently demonstrate 53 that agents that enhance dopaminergic transmission in humans increase reward 54 sensitivity and decrease effort sensitivity, while studies directly investigating the effects 55 of selective D2-receptor antagonism in healthy humans are rare (Bogdanov et al., 2022; Chong et al., 2023; Le Bouc et al., 2016). For delay discounting, the existing 56 57 literature is somewhat more mixed. Some studies suggest that increased dopamine transmission decreases delay discounting (de Wit et al., 2002; Floresco et al., 2008; 58 59 Kayser et al., 2012), whereas others have found either no effect (Acheson & de Wit, 2008; Hamidovic et al., 2008) or an increase in delay discounting (Pine et al., 2010). 60 61 Notably, more recent evidence in humans indicates decreased delay discounting after 62 blockade of D2 receptors (Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; Wagner et al., 2020). While 63 dopamine has received much attention in cost-benefit decision making, other 64 neuromodulators may also play an important role (Borderies et al., 2020; Meyniel et 65 al., 2016; Nunes et al., 2013). One modulator that has not received much attention in 66 this regard is acetylcholine, which is surprising given the literature on reciprocal 67 antagonistic interactions between acetylcholine and dopamine signalling in the 68 striatum (Chantranupong et al., 2023; Foster et al., 2016; Gerber et al., 2001; 69 Myslivecek, 2021; Threlfell et al., 2010). This suggests that pharmacological blockade 70 of M1 receptors will have effects on cost-benefit decision making that are opposite to 71 those of blocking dopamine D2 receptors. In line with this, animal studies indicate that 72 muscarinic agonists induce behavioural changes in effort-based choices that are 73 similar to those produced by dopamine antagonists (Hailwood et al., 2019; Nunes et 74 al., 2013), underscoring the potential interplay between dopamine and acetylcholine 75 in modulating cost-benefit decision making. Furthermore, research in animal models 76 points to a role for acetylcholine in modulating delay-based choices through both 77 muscarinic and nicotinic receptors, albeit with inconsistent findings (Dallery & Locey, 2005; Kolokotroni et al., 2011; Mendez et al., 2012; Ozga & Anderson, 2018). 78 79 Importantly, studies directly investigating these effects in human decision making are 80 lacking.

To our knowledge, there has been no study so far that tested the impact of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on both aspects of cost-benefit decision making in one single experiment. To fill this gap, we investigated the effects of two drugs, haloperidol and biperiden, that selectively block either dopamine D2-like or muscarinic M1 acetylcholine receptors in human participants performing two decisionmaking tasks involving effort- and delay-based decisions. The goal of our study was threefold. First, we aimed to conceptually replicate the finding that dopamine D2

88 antagonists increase discounting of physical effort. Second, we aimed to assess the 89 contribution of acetylcholine to cost-benefit decision making and conceptually contrast 90 it with the effects of dopamine. In doing so, we investigated whether any effects of 91 muscarinic or dopaminergic receptor antagonism would modulate the computation of 92 both time and effort costs or have a more specific effect on one cost dimension. Third, 93 we sought to contribute new evidence to the thus far conflicting literature on the role 94 of dopamine in delay-based decision making using a large sample size and a within-95 subjects design. Based on previous findings, we hypothesized that the administration 96 of haloperidol will (1) increase effort discounting and (2) reduce delay discounting. In 97 contrast, we expected opposite effects of biperiden, in particular (3) a decrease in 98 effort discounting and (4) an increase in delay discounting. In brief, we found opposing 99 effects of haloperidol and biperiden only on specific components of effort-based 100 choices. Specifically, haloperidol reduced the willingness to invest physical effort, 101 whereas biperiden increased it. Results for delay discounting were less consistent. 102 While haloperidol decreased delay discounting, there was no credible modulation by 103 biperiden.

104

105

insert Figure 1 here –

106

107 **Results**

108 62 healthy participants performed two cost-benefit decision-making tasks aimed to 109 quantify the extent to which the subjective value of a monetary reward is discounted 110 as a function of either effort or delay costs. Participants completed both tasks during 111 three sessions under the influence of either the D2 receptor antagonist haloperidol (2 112 mg), the M1 acetylcholine receptor antagonist biperiden (4 mg), or a placebo in a within-subjects design (Fig. 1a). The effort-based decision-making task (effort discounting task, Fig. 1b) involved choices between options varying in reward magnitude and effort requirement (using handgrip force), while the delay-based decision-making task (delay discounting task, Fig. 1c) involved choices between one option varying in reward magnitude and delay versus a fixed one. Thus, both tasks required participants to choose between a high-reward/high-cost (high-cost option) and a low-reward/low-cost (low-cost option) alternative.

120

121 Drug Effects on Choice Behaviour

122 Participants consistently exhibited a preference for the high-cost option over the low-123 cost alternative in both tasks (effort discounting task: 78.50% ± 1.03; delay discounting 124 task: 71.31% ± 1.12; Fig. 2a). For each of the two tasks, we used a Logistic Bayesian 125 Generalized Linear Mixed Model (GLMM) to investigate the impact of drug 126 manipulation, changes in task parameters, and the interaction between both, on 127 choosing the high-cost option. Specifically, to regress participants' choices, we 128 included the following fixed-effect predictors: drug condition, reward magnitude, cost 129 level (i.e., effort or delay), and all possible interactions. In the effort discounting task, 130 we used the difference terms (high-cost option minus low-cost option) for both reward 131 and effort. For the delay discounting task, we used the absolute reward and delay 132 levels of the varying high-cost option. To account for within-subject variability, we 133 included random intercepts for each subject along with random slopes for all fixed-134 effect predictors (see Materials and Methods). We first confirmed that participants 135 effectively discounted rewards based on costs and thereby adhered to the task 136 requirements: As expected, in both discounting tasks higher reward magnitudes 137 increased, while higher cost levels (effort or delay) decreased participants' likelihood to select the high-cost option (reward effect on effort discounting: $HDI_{Mean} = 3.44$, HDI_{95%} = [2.96; 3.95]; reward effect on delay discounting: $HDI_{Mean} = 55.64$, $HDI_{95\%} =$ [41.76; 69.38], effort effect on effort discounting: $HDI_{Mean} = -1.64$, $HDI_{95\%} = [-1.87; -$ 141 1.40]; delay effect on delay discounting: $HDI_{Mean} = -2.29$, $HDI_{95\%} = [-3.30; -1.25]$, Fig. 2b-c).

- 143
- 144

insert Figure 2 here –

145

146 Notably, and in line with our predictions, we found that the two drugs had opposite 147 effects on the tendency to choose high-effort options in the effort discounting task 148 relative to placebo. Haloperidol reduced the willingness to invest higher effort for 149 greater reward, while biperiden increased this willingness (placebo: 79.17% ± 1.76; 150 haloperidol: 74.34% ± 1.85; biperiden: 81.99% ± 1.64; Fig. 2a (left panel)). These 151 effects were confirmed by credible main effects of both haloperidol (HDI_{Mean} = -0.532, 152 $HDI_{95\%} = [-0.943; -0.136]$) and biperiden ($HDI_{Mean} = 0.620$, $HDI_{95\%} = [0.230; 1.048]$; Fig. 153 3a) on choosing the high-cost option relative to placebo. Moreover, this analysis 154 revealed that biperiden increased reward sensitivity, as evidenced by a credible interaction effect between biperiden and reward (HDI_{Mean} = 0.802, HDI_{95%} = [0.256; 155 156 1.409]; Fig. 3b). See Supplementary Table 1 for the full results.

In contrast, in the delay discounting task, both drugs had no effect on the average rate of choosing the high-cost option (placebo: 71.59% \pm 2.25; haloperidol: 71.55% \pm 1.73; biperiden: 70.79% \pm 1.82; Fig. 2a (right panel)), as indicated by the absence of credible main effects for haloperidol (HDI_{Mean} = -0.046, HDI_{95%} = [-2.648; 1.884]) and biperiden (HDI_{Mean} = -1.315, HDI_{95%} = [-4.147; 0.655]; Fig. 3d). Importantly, however, the analysis revealed a reduced sensitivity to delays under haloperidol, evidenced by a credible interaction effect between haloperidol and delay (HDI_{Mean} = 1.332, HDI_{95%} = [0.328; 2.440]; Fig. 3f), while the other drug interactions did not reach credibility (Fig. 3 and Supplementary Table 2). This indicates that diminished dopaminergic activity attenuates the impact of time costs on decision making.

- 167
- 168 insert Figure 3 here –
- 169

Having established distinct task-specific drug effects on participants' choice behaviour, we next investigated potential confounding order and fatigue effects using separate GLMMs for effort- and delay-based decision making. These models mirrored the previously described GLMMs but included additional predictors to test for fatigue and session effects and their modulation by drugs.

175 To test for possible fatigue effects, we added trial number as well as the two-176 way interaction with drug as additional predictors. This analysis revealed a credible 177 main effect of trial number for both the effort and delay discounting task (trial number 178 effect on effort discounting: HDI_{Mean} = -0.60, HDI_{95%} = [-0.75; -0.46]; trial number effect 179 on delay discounting: $HDI_{Mean} = -0.20$, $HDI_{95\%} = [-0.33; -0.08]$), suggesting that the 180 tendency to choose high-cost options, irrespective of cost type, decreased over the 181 course of the experiment. Notably, we found a credible interaction effect between trial 182 number and haloperidol in the effort discounting task (HDI_{Mean} = -0.43, HDI_{95%} = [-0.63]; 183 -0.23]), indicating that the fatigue effect was more pronounced under haloperidol 184 compared to placebo. Importantly, even after accounting for these fatigue-related 185 effects, the main effect of haloperidol on effort discounting remained credible (HDI_{Mean} 186 = -0.48, HDI_{95%} = [-0.90; -0.05]) (Supplementary Table 12 and 13).

187 Next, to investigate session and drug-order effects, we included session and 188 the two-way interactions between session and drug as additional predictors. These 189 analyses confirmed a main effect of session only for effort-based choices (HDI_{Mean} = 190 0.49, HDl_{95%} = [0.13; 0.85]), suggesting increased preference for high-effort options in 191 later sessions, likely reflecting task familiarity. Crucially, the interaction effects 192 between either drug and session were not credible in both tasks (Supplementary Table 193 14 and 15). This indicates that neither dopaminergic nor cholinergic manipulations 194 modulated learning effects across sessions. Moreover, this finding underscores that 195 the observed drug-induced effects cannot be explained by drug order effects.

To summarize, regression-based results show that haloperidol reduced the overall propensity to choose the high-cost options in the effort domain. While haloperidol had no effect on the average rate of selecting the high-cost option in delaybased choices, it attenuated participants' sensitivity to delay costs. In contrast, biperiden increased the overall propensity of selecting the high-cost option in the effort discounting task, opposite to the effect of haloperidol. Consistent with this, biperiden also increased sensitivity to reward magnitudes during effort-based choices.

203

204 Drug Effects on Computational Parameters

To obtain a more detailed understanding of the mechanism underlying the drug effects on behaviour described above, we used hierarchical Bayesian modelling. To begin with, we determined the best-fitting discounting models for both effort and delay, comparing four commonly used models (linear, parabolic, hyperbolic, exponential). In line with previous findings (Green & Myerson, 2004; Hartmann et al., 2013; Kirby & Maraković, 1995; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015; Lockwood et al., 2017), model comparisons revealed that effort discounting was best described by a parabolic model, 212 suggesting a greater impact of changes in high rather than low effort levels. In contrast, 213 delay discounting was best described by a hyperbolic model, indicating a greater 214 impact of changes in low rather than high delay levels (Supplementary Table 3). For 215 each model, we first calculated the subjective values of all choice options, based on 216 participant-specific weighing of reward magnitude and associated costs (i.e., effort and delay levels). By introducing condition-specific shift parameters, we captured potential 217 218 drug effects on the effort and delay discounting parameter κ (denoted as $S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$ for 219 haloperidol and S_{KBP} for biperiden), with positive/negative shift parameter values 220 indicating increased/decreased effort and delay discounting, respectively. We then 221 used a softmax function to transform the option values into choice probabilities, with 222 choice stochasticity being modelled by an inverse temperature parameter β . Again, 223 condition-specific shift parameters for haloperidol and biperiden captured potential 224 drug effects on choice stochasticity ($S_{\beta_{HAL}}$ for haloperidol and $S_{\beta_{BIP}}$ for biperiden), with 225 positive/negative shift parameters indicating more deterministic/more stochastic 226 decision making (see Materials and Methods and Supplementary Methods). Model 227 validation and parameter recovery confirmed that both models accurately captured 228 key features of the choice data (see Supplementary Results).

229

- 230 insert Figure 4 here –
- 231

The results from the computational model of the effort discounting task align with and extend the regression-based results presented above. Specifically, again biperiden and haloperidol exerted opposing effects on both the discounting and inverse temperature parameter. Haloperidol increased effort discounting, while biperiden

10

236 diminished it. Similarly, haloperidol induced more stochastic choices, while biperiden 237 led to more deterministic decisions (Table 1). For both drug-specific effects on the 238 effort discounting parameter κ , we acknowledge that, strictly speaking, the 95% HDI 239 of $S_{\kappa_{BIP}}$ (HDI_{Mean} = -0.012, HDI_{95%} = [-0.000; 0.027]) and $S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$ (HDI_{Mean} = 0.013, HDI_{95%} 240 = [-0.025; 0.000]) did overlap with zero, albeit to a very small extent (Fig. 4a). Notably, 241 the density that did not overlap with zero still accounted for more than 94% of the 242 posterior distribution (94.8% HDI > 0 for haloperidol and 94.4% HDI > 0 for biperiden). 243 This provides strong evidence for a credible modulation of effort discounting by 244 cholinergic M1 and dopaminergic D2 receptor manipulation, despite the slight overlap. 245 A similar pattern emerged in the analysis of the inverse temperature parameter, 246 further supporting the partly opposing effects of these neurotransmitters. The HDIs for 247 $S \beta_{HAL}$ (HDI_{Mean} = -0.089, HDI_{95%} = [-0.164; -0.010]) and $S \beta_{BIP}$ (HDI_{Mean} = 0.127, HDI_{95%} = 248 [0.048; 0.219]) did not overlap with zero, supporting the modulatory effects of these 249 drugs on choice stochasticity. Specifically, haloperidol increased choice stochasticity, 250 while biperiden exhibited the opposite effect (Fig. 4b).

- 251
- 252
- 253

For the delay discounting task, computational modelling revealed credible evidence only for a dopaminergic, but not cholinergic modulation of delay discounting (Fig. 4d and Table 2). In line with the diminished delay sensitivity reported above, haloperidol reduced delay discounting, making participants more willing to wait for greater financial rewards with increasing levels of delay (S_{KHAL} : HDI_{Mean} = -0.630, HDI_{95%} = [-1.083; -0.237]). For biperiden, we did not observe any shift of the discounting parameter (S_{KHP} :

--insert Table 1 here--

HDI_{Mean} = -0.125, HDI_{95%} = [-0.410; 0.148]). Next, we examined the effects of dopaminergic and muscarinic antagonism on choice stochasticity (Fig. 4e). Biperiden credibly increased the choice stochasticity ($S\beta_{BHP}$: HDI_{Mean} = -0.043, HDI_{95%} = [-0.085; -0.000]), while we did not find credible evidence for a modulatory effect of haloperidol, as the 95% HDI overlapped with zero ($S\beta_{HAL}$: HDI_{Mean} = -0.055, HDI_{95%} = [-0.114; 0.006]).

- 266
- 267

--insert Table 2 here--

268

269 Lastly, to test whether putatively confounding side effects of the pharmacological 270 treatment account for our main effects of interest, we tested medication effects on 271 several control measures, including mood (alertness, calmness, and contentedness) 272 and basic physiological parameters (heart rate, systolic, and diastolic blood pressure), 273 using Bayesian Linear Mixed Models. In short, biperiden administration induced 274 reductions in systolic blood pressure and heart rate at T₁ and at T₂. Moreover, relative 275 to placebo, both biperiden and haloperidol caused decreases in subjective alertness 276 ratings at T_2 (all HDI_{95%} < 0). T_1 represents the measurement taken before participants 277 began the effort discounting task, and T₂ represents the measurement taken after they 278 completed the delay discounting task. Importantly, neither the changes in blood 279 pressure or heart rate, nor reductions in alertness showed credible correlations with 280 any shift parameter that was credibly modulated by haloperidol or biperiden in both 281 tasks. This implies that the drug-induced changes in behaviour were not linked to drug 282 effects on alertness, heart rate, or blood pressure. More detailed information can be 283 found in the Supplementary Results.

284 Taken together, the results derived from hierarchical Bayesian modelling are 285 consistent with findings obtained from the GLMMs. Diminishing dopaminergic D2 286 receptor activity decreases the willingness to invest effort for rewards, possibly by 287 amplifying effort discounting. Conversely, the administration of a cholinergic M1 288 receptor antagonist produces opposite effects. However, this pattern of opponent 289 dopaminergic and cholinergic effects on specific components of effort discounting was 290 not present in the delay discounting task. Instead, the findings suggest a reduced 291 impact of delay on decision making under haloperidol, while biperiden affected only 292 the choice stochasticity. This implies that contrasting effects of dopaminergic and 293 cholinergic manipulations may reflect computationally-specific, rather than universal 294 effects.

295

296 Across-Task Relationship of Discounting Behaviour

297 Lastly, as an exploratory analysis, we asked whether there was a relationship between 298 discounting of delays versus efforts across individuals. In other words, we tested 299 whether people showing steep discounting of physical efforts would also show steep 300 delay-based discounting. In line with previous findings (Klein-Flügge et al., 2015; 301 Seaman et al., 2018), we found no relationship between individuals' tendency to 302 discount rewards based on efforts compared to delays (no credible correlation between the effort and delay discounting parameters κ under placebo; r = -0.17, 303 304 $HDI_{95\%} = [-0.06; 0.39]).$

305

306 Discussion

307 In this study, we investigated the effects of pharmacologically manipulating308 dopaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission on cost-benefit decision making in

309 healthy young adults. Specifically, we administered haloperidol or biperiden, two drugs 310 that selectively block either dopamine D2-like or muscarinic M1 acetylcholine 311 receptors, respectively, and tested the effects on discounting a monetary reward as a 312 function of either effort or delay. In short, we found that reducing dopaminergic 313 transmission at D2-like receptors decreased participants' willingness to invest physical 314 effort for monetary rewards and attenuated the impact of delay on decision making. In 315 contrast, cholinergic M1 receptor manipulations promoted the preference for high-316 effort options, without affecting delay-based choices.

The goal of our study was threefold. First, we sought to conceptually replicate the boosting effects of dopamine on motivation. Second, we examined the contribution of acetylcholine, acting at M1 receptors, on cost-benefit decision making, as the influence of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors on human (value-based) decision making has rarely been reported. Third, we aimed to address the conflicting literature on dopamine's role in delay-based decision making by providing data from a large sample using a within-subjects design.

324 Dopamine has been widely suggested to play a key role in various aspects of 325 reward processing and cost-benefit decision making (Jocham et al., 2011, 2014; 326 Webber et al., 2020). It modulates choices based on expected rewards and costs 327 associated with different options (Schultz, 2016a, 2016b; Tanaka et al., 2019). 328 However, the direction of dopaminergic manipulations on different aspects of costs 329 remains ambiguous. Traditionally, dopamine has been implicated in promoting 330 behaviour that maximizes reward outcomes, suggesting that increased dopaminergic 331 activity energizes behaviour to approach high-reward options despite associated costs 332 (Bailey et al., 2016; Berke, 2018; Phillips et al., 2007; Salamone & Correa, 2012). 333 According to this view, increasing dopaminergic transmission should bias decision making toward high-reward options, even when they involve higher costs such as
effort, delay, and risk. Conversely, decreasing dopaminergic transmission should have
the opposite effect.

337 In line with this view, in our study, the administration of a D2-like receptor 338 antagonist did in fact reduce the willingness to invest physical effort for reward. 339 However, contrary to the notion that dopamine supports reward-maximizing 340 behaviour, our findings in the delay discounting task did not confirm the expected 341 pattern. We observed a decrease in delay discounting under haloperidol, rather than an increase. While there is indeed a substantial body of evidence suggesting 342 343 enhancing effects of dopamine on motivation, as demonstrated by studies highlighting 344 its involvement in promoting reward-seeking behaviour (Michely et al., 2020; Soder et 345 al., 2020; Soutschek et al., 2020; Wardle et al., 2011), the impact of pharmacological 346 manipulations targeting other cost-related factors, such as delay (de Wit et al., 2002; 347 Hamidovic et al., 2008; Kayser et al., 2012; Petzold et al., 2019) and risk (Burke et al., 348 2018; Rutledge et al., 2015; Zack & Poulos, 2007), has produced rather inconsistent 349 findings. These studies showed either contradicting results regarding dopaminergic 350 manipulations or no effect at all. These inconsistencies challenge traditional views of 351 dopamine and raise questions about the specific mechanisms through which 352 dopamine modulates choices that incorporate time-dependent costs. A more recent 353 theory proposes that dopamine, acting at D2-like receptors, biases action selection by 354 increasing the preference for options with a proximity advantage over more distant 355 alternatives (Soutschek et al., 2023; Westbrook & Frank, 2018). This theory is based 356 on studies in rodents, where firing rates of neurons in the nucleus accumbens are 357 increased by spatially proximal rewards, promoting a decision bias towards nearby 358 low-reward options (Morrison & Nicola, 2014). This notion of proximity, originally
359 referring to spatial proximity, has been extended to the context of psychological 360 proximity (Westbrook & Frank, 2018). According to this view, dopamine not only 361 favours options that are physically closer in space, but also options that are 362 psychologically closer, as in our case, rewards that are available sooner in time. 363 Consequently, the administration of D2 receptor antagonists, which, according to this 364 theory, are believed to reduce the proximity bias, have been shown in some studies 365 to increase the preference for delayed and risky reward options, which lack the 366 proximity advantage (Burke et al., 2018; Ojala et al., 2018; Soutschek & Tobler, 2023; 367 Wagner et al., 2020). In other words, this theoretical framework proposes that 368 dopamine may play a dual role in (i) promoting choices towards options with a 369 psychological proximity advantage and (ii) weighing reward magnitudes against 370 associated costs. Our findings of decreased delay discounting under haloperidol align 371 with this theory, potentially suggesting a diminished preference for more proximal 372 options when D2-receptor activity is reduced, resulting in increased endurance for 373 higher (time) costs. On the other hand, the reduction of dopaminergic 374 neurotransmission had the opposite effect on effort discounting, leading to a 375 diminished willingness to bear higher (effort) costs. This apparently conflicting finding 376 between effort and time costs may be explained by the fact that neither the low-effort 377 nor the high-effort option had a pronounced psychological proximity advantage. Thus, 378 in this specific context of cost-benefit decision making, the proximity factor appears to 379 be less relevant, and dopamine instead may promote behaviour aimed at maximizing 380 rewards simply by weighing rewards against associated costs. Importantly, our 381 experimental paradigm did not directly manipulate psychological proximity, nor did it 382 distinguish between proximity effects and the impact of delay. Therefore, specific 383 effects of dopamine on psychological proximity in human delay discounting remain highly speculative and warrant further investigation with experimental paradigmsspecifically tailored to this question.

386 Low doses of dopamine receptor antagonists may facilitate dopaminergic 387 transmission by primarily blocking presynaptic autoreceptors, which may increase 388 rather than decrease dopamine release (Frank & O'Reilly, 2006; Schoemaker et al., 389 1997). We would however argue that such a presynaptic mechanism of action is 390 unlikely to explain our findings. First, a PET study found that the same dose of 391 haloperidol as used here led to high levels of D2 receptor occupancy in the striatum 392 (Kapur et al., 1996). Second, our pattern of results aligns with studies in rodents 393 showing motivational deficits following ventral striatal dopamine depletion (Cousins et 394 al., 1996; Mai et al., 2012; Salamone et al., 1994). Third, high doses of haloperidol 395 have been shown to reduce alertness (Liem-Moolenaar et al., 2010), whereas drugs 396 like methylphenidate that increase synaptic dopamine levels, enhance subjective 397 ratings of alertness (Linssen et al., 2011; Swart et al., 2017). Consistent with this, we 398 observed a reduction in alertness ratings following haloperidol administration. 399 Together, this suggests that our results are best explained by a blockade of 400 postsynaptic D2 receptors by haloperidol.

401 prior research has highlighted the contribution of other Notably, 402 neurotransmitters such as serotonin (Meyniel et al., 2016; Miyazaki et al., 2020), 403 adenosine (Randall et al., 2011; Salamone et al., 2018), and acetylcholine (Betts et 404 al., 2021; Hailwood et al., 2019; Nunes et al., 2013), in the weighing of costs and 405 rewards. However, the exact role of these neurotransmitters in reward processing and 406 cost-benefit decision making in humans has been rarely investigated. Understanding 407 the involvement of acetylcholine, due to its reciprocal activity with dopamine in the 408 striatum, is of particular interest (Chantranupong et al., 2023; Gerber et al., 2001;

409 Moehle & Conn, 2019; Myslivecek, 2021). At the functional level, these mutual 410 interactions are evident from the fact that muscarinic receptor antagonist diminish the 411 extrapyramidal side effects of dopamine antagonists, and, vice versa, muscarinic 412 agonists display antipsychotic properties, resembling the action of D2 antagonists 413 (Brocks, 1999; Stanhope et al., 2001). Additionally, blocking M1 receptors has been 414 shown to reverse motivational impairments induced by dopaminergic antagonism, 415 further emphasizing its potential role in modulating dopamine-related processes 416 (Hailwood et al., 2019). At the cellular level, it has been shown that M1 receptor 417 activation inhibits D2-receptor-mediated effects in the striatum (Di Chiara et al., 1994). 418 These observations highlight an interplay between acetylcholine and dopamine 419 signalling. Therefore, in addition to testing dopaminergic D2-like receptor 420 manipulations, we also investigated the role of cholinergic M1 receptor 421 neurotransmission on decision making.

422 Indeed, we observed opposing effects of dopaminergic and cholinergic 423 manipulations within specific components of effort-, but not delay-based decision 424 making. Specifically, we found evidence for biperiden increasing the willingness to 425 invest effort for rewards and, in line with this, decreasing effort discounting. In contrast, 426 haloperidol reduced the general willingness to invest effort and increased effort 427 discounting. However, we also observed drug effects that were not in opposite 428 directions between biperiden and haloperidol. For example, biperiden increased 429 reward sensitivity, while haloperidol had no credible effect on the impact of rewards 430 on effort-based choices. Furthermore, haloperidol modulated decision times in both 431 experimental tasks, whereas biperiden did not affect them. These findings suggest 432 partially opposing effects between both neurotransmitters, mostly evident within 433 specific components of effort-based choices.

434 This partially opposing mechanistic relationship between dopaminergic and 435 cholinergic neurotransmission during the effort discounting task is further reflected in 436 changes in choice stochasticity. Previous studies have linked D2 receptor antagonism 437 with increased choice stochasticity (Eisenegger et al., 2014; Mikus et al., 2022). 438 Consistent with these findings, our results revealed that haloperidol administration 439 increased stochasticity and thereby reduced value dependency on choices, while 440 biperiden had the opposite effect. After lowering cholinergic M1 receptor activity, 441 participants were more likely to choose the option with the highest expected value 442 compared to placebo. However, it is important to note that biperiden had the opposite 443 effect in the delay discounting task, increasing, rather than reducing choice 444 stochasticity. This discrepancy indicates that the role of cholinergic neurotransmission 445 in balancing deterministic versus stochastic behaviour is more complex and needs 446 further investigation.

447 Some limitations should be noted. First, our focus was primarily on striatal D2 448 receptor activity, as haloperidol predominantly targets D2 receptors in the striatum 449 (Nordström et al., 1992). However, it is important to note that in the context of cost-450 benefit decision making, dissociable roles of D1 versus D2 receptor activity have been 451 reported (Collins & Frank, 2014; Soutschek et al., 2023; Webber et al., 2020), and thus 452 the general role of dopamine beyond its selective activity on striatal D2 receptors 453 remains unclear. Conversely, biperiden primarily targets M1 receptors in the cortex 454 and striatum (Sudo et al., 1999), making it challenging to determine the precise 455 mechanisms underlying cortical and striatal cholinergic modulation and the reciprocal 456 effects on dopaminergic activity. Second, previous research has suggested a U-457 shaped dose-response function for dopamine, indicating deleterious effects of both 458 extremely high and extremely low levels of dopamine (Cools & D'Esposito, 2011; 459 Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000). According to this idea, the same dopamine agent can 460 produce opposing effects in different individuals. Therefore, it may be insightful to 461 consider individual differences in baseline dopamine levels when studying the effects 462 of dopaminergic manipulations. A recent study found evidence for the absence of a 463 correlation between dopamine synthesis capacity and putative behavioural proxies of 464 dopamine, such as working memory or trait impulsivity (van den Bosch et al., 2022). 465 Consequently, investigating baseline dopamine levels require more costly and 466 invasive techniques, such as positron emission tomography. Third, as participants 467 were required to exert physical effort on each trial, fatigue effects could have 468 developed in the effort discounting task. While our additional analysis confirmed a 469 general fatigue effect and a dual role of haloperidol in both reducing the overall 470 propensity to invest effort and in exacerbating the fatigue effect throughout the task, 471 we acknowledge that recent studies revealed the existence of distinct states of fatigue 472 (Matthews et al., 2023; Müller et al., 2021). Importantly, this was discovered by using 473 task paradigms and computational models that were designed to distinguish between 474 these different types of fatigue. Additionally, it is important to consider that potential 475 motor effects, particularly in the context of dopaminergic manipulations, could also 476 affect effort discounting behaviour. Future studies could extend our approach by 477 incorporating measurements of force pulses to investigate potential motor-related 478 effects and apply task designs and computational models specifically tailored to 479 capture how drug manipulations might affect different forms of fatigue. Lastly, it is 480 important to note that several factors preclude a direct quantitative comparison 481 between the delay and effort discounting tasks. These include the distinct nature of 482 rewards and costs (hypothetical vs. real), varying reward magnitudes in both tasks 483 (large vs. small), and differences in task structure (fixed vs. variable alternative option).

484 Additionally, both tasks were consistently performed in a fixed order within and 485 between participants (effort followed by delay). While this ensured consistent drug 486 levels within each task, it is potentially introducing task order effects and possibly 487 leading to differential drug concentrations between tasks. These methodological 488 differences limit our ability to directly compare drug effects across the two cost 489 domains. Future research would benefit from applying experimental paradigms that 490 manipulate both delay and effort costs within the same task, allowing a more controlled 491 and direct comparison of how pharmacological manipulations differentially influence 492 sensitivity to these distinct cost types.

493 In conclusion, our findings support prior research indicating an invigorating 494 effect of dopamine on motivation in an effort-based decision-making task. Moreover, 495 our study contributed to understanding dopamine's involvement in temporal cost-496 benefit tradeoffs by revealing decreased delay discounting following dopaminergic D2-497 like receptor antagonism. Further, we demonstrate that the administration of biperiden, 498 a muscarinic M1 receptor antagonist, had contrasting effects to those of dopaminergic 499 D2 receptor antagonism in the general willingness to choose high-cost options and the 500 effort discounting parameter. This suggests that in the context of human cost-benefit 501 decision making, the previously reported reciprocal relationship between both 502 neurotransmitters may be limited only to specific components of behaviour. Our 503 findings indicate that, while D2 receptor activity plays a role in integrating both delay 504 and effort costs, acetylcholine, acting at M1 receptors, may have a more specific role 505 in effort processing.

507 Materials and Methods

508

509 Ethics

Ethical approval for the study (2021-1549) was obtained from the Ethics Committee of
the Medical Faculty of the University of Düsseldorf, Germany. Prior to participating, all
volunteers provided informed written consent.

513

514 **Participants**

515 Participants were recruited for the study via online advertisements and university 516 postings. They were initially screened via email interviews to verify compliance with 517 the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Inclusion criteria included an age range of 18 to 518 35 years, a body weight ranging from 60 to 90 kg, and a body mass index equal to or 519 greater than 18 and less than 28. Exclusion criteria included a history of psychiatric or 520 neurological illnesses, current intake of prescription medication (excluding oral 521 contraceptives), current pregnancy or breastfeeding, and the presence of any medical 522 conditions contraindicated for the drugs used in the study. Additionally, participants 523 with a history of drug use were excluded, with exceptions for alcohol, nicotine, and 524 cannabis, which were limited to consumption of less than 14 units of alcohol per week, 525 less than 5 cigarettes per day, and no cannabis consumption within the past month.

526 From an initial group of 96 individuals attending the medical screening on site, 527 33 candidates decided not to proceed, or they were excluded due to not meeting the 528 participation criteria (despite otherwise indicated in the prior interview). Eventually, a 529 total of 63 volunteers were enrolled in the study. One participant had to be excluded 530 due to experiencing side effects following the biperiden testing session, resulting in a 531 final sample size of 62 participants (32 female; Mean Age (SD): 22.79 (3.20); Age

Range: 18 - 35). The sample did not include any non-binary participants. All
participants received a fixed reimbursement of 240 € for their participation in all testing
sessions and were provided with a flexible payment based on their performance in the
tasks.

536

537 Procedure

538 A double-blind, randomized, within-subject design was employed. Participation 539 involved three testing sessions, each separated by a minimum of one week to ensure 540 complete drug washout. Prior to participation, on a separate day, participants 541 underwent a medical screening session to determine their eligibility. This screening 542 session consisted of a clinical interview, medical assessment, practice trials of both 543 tasks, and completion of several questionnaires assessing personality traits, including 544 Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) (Lueken et al., 2006; Marin et al., 1991), Beck's Depression Inventory (BDI) (Beck et al., 1996; Kühner et al., 2007), and Barratt 545 546 Impulsiveness Scale (BIS-15) (Meule et al., 2011; Spinella, 2007). The final decision 547 regarding participant suitability for the study was made by a physician at the end of 548 the screening session.

549 Each testing day followed the same procedure, with the only difference being 550 the administration of a placebo, biperiden (4 mg), or haloperidol (2 mg) in separate 551 sessions. Testing sessions were scheduled between 9 a.m. and 12 p.m., with efforts 552 made to assign participants to the same time slot consistently. Participants were 553 instructed to fast overnight and consume only water before the testing session. 554 Additionally, female participants completed a pregnancy test before the start of each 555 testing day. Upon arrival, participants underwent a screening conducted by a 556 physician, who restated the potential effects of the drug and provided a recap of the 557 testing day's procedures. Subsequently, participants received the assigned drug 558 treatment along with a standardized breakfast. Orally administered biperiden reaches 559 its peak concentration between 1 and 1.5 hours after administration (Brocks, 1999; 560 Grimaldi et al., 1986), while haloperidol reaches its peak concentration only between 561 2 and 6 hours after administration (Kudo & Ishizaki, 1999). In order to follow a double-562 blind procedure while also accounting for variations in the drugs' peak times, a dummy 563 drug application was included. Thus, on each testing day, a second capsule was 564 administered 120 minutes after the first drug application, resulting in the planned delay 565 between drug and effort discounting task of approximately 180 minutes for haloperidol 566 (179.57 ± 2.61) and, on a separate day, approximately 60 minutes (59.65 ± 1.30) for 567 biperiden. The second task was performed 205.59 minutes (± 3.12) after haloperidol 568 and 86.24 minutes (± 6.09) after biperiden administration. Shortly before starting the 569 experimental task, participants further completed the trail-making test A (Tombaugh, 570 2004). Blood pressure and heart rate were measured three times throughout the 571 testing day: at T_0 (before drug administration), T_1 (before starting the effort discounting 572 task), and T_2 (after finishing the delay discounting task). These measurements 573 coincided with mood assessments using Visual Analogue Scales (Bond & Lader, 574 1974). Please refer to Fig. 1a for a detailed explanation of the procedure. The tasks 575 were presented in a fixed order during each session, starting with the effort discounting 576 task (Fig. 1b) and concluding with the delay discounting task (Fig. 1c). These 577 discounting paradigms were implemented using Visual Basic software and displayed 578 on a 15.6" laptop screen (Dell Latitude E5550). Participants used an external keypad 579 to indicate their choices, arranging the laptop and keypad in a manner that was most 580 comfortable for them.

582 Experimental Tasks

583 Effort Discounting Task

584 Participants engaged in a modified version of the Apple Tree Task, which has been 585 previously utilized with both healthy volunteers and patients with neurological diseases 586 (Bonnelle et al., 2015; Chong et al., 2018; Le Heron et al., 2018). Unlike the original 587 task where participants accepted or rejected offers, in this modified task, they were 588 presented with two alternative options on each trial. Prior to each experimental 589 session, the participants' maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) was assessed by 590 having them grip a handheld dynamometer (Vernier, Orlando, USA) with their 591 dominant hand as forcefully as possible. The MVC was determined immediately before 592 starting the task by measuring the highest force exerted over three contractions.

593 During each trial, they had to choose between a high-reward/high-effort (high-594 cost) and a low-reward/low-effort (low-cost) offer. Participants had unlimited time for 595 their decision. Notably, both the reward levels and effort levels of each option were 596 varied among five possible levels. The reward levels ranged from 2 to 16 (2, 4, 8, 12, 597 and 16), and the effort levels ranged from no effort to 80% (0, 20, 40, 60, and 80%) of 598 the individually determined MVC. After making a choice, participants were given a 5-599 second window to squeeze the handheld dynamometer and reach the required effort 600 level. They had to maintain the required force for at least 1 second. Throughout this 601 effort production period, a bar visually represented the force exerted, providing real-602 time feedback. Following successful trials, participants received feedback on the 603 reward earned during the trial. If participants failed to reach the designated effort level, 604 no apples were gathered. In cases where participants chose an offer that required no 605 effort, they had to wait for the same duration without engaging in squeezing. At the 606 end of the experiment, we asked participants to rate the perceived level of demand for each effort level using a Likert scale ranging from 0 ("not demanding at all") to 20
("extremely demanding"). This subjective rating allowed us to examine whether the
administration of the drugs had any effects on participants' perception of the demand
associated with each effort level.

611 Each participant completed a total of 125 trials, divided into 5 blocks. The trial 612 structure was full randomized for each participant and experimental session. To 613 prevent strategic behaviour and mitigate delay discounting effects, all blocks and trials 614 were the same length, regardless of previous choices made. Importantly, patients 615 were required to squeeze the handheld dynamometer after every trial (if effort 616 production was chosen), meaning that no hypothetical choices were made. Based on 617 their task performance, participants received a flexible payment consisting of 1 cent 618 for each apple they collected.

619

620 Delay Discounting Task

621 After completing the effort discounting task, participants proceeded to the delay-based 622 decision-making task. In this task, they were presented with a similar choice paradigm, 623 but this time between a high-reward/high-delay (high-cost) and a low-reward/low-delay 624 (low-cost) option on each trial, again without any time limit. The tasks shared a 625 common structure, with participants consistently facing decisions involving a tradeoff 626 between a more favourable outcome with higher associated costs and a less 627 favourable outcome with fewer costs. In contrast to the previous task, the low-cost 628 option was fixed at 20 € and available immediately across all trials. The high-cost 629 option varied between 20.20 € and 260 € (20.20, 20.40, 21, 22, 24, 30, 36, 40, 50, 60, 630 80, 100, 140, 200, 260 \in), with associated delays ranging from 1 day to 60 days (1, 2, 631 3, 5, 8, 30, 60). This resulted in a total of 105 unique high-cost combinations.

Participants completed two blocks, with each block containing all unique combinations, resulting in a total of 210 trials. We used a pseudorandomized trial order, counterbalanced across experimental sessions but not across participants. Consistent with previous studies, all choices in this task were hypothetical (Bickel et al., 2009; Madden et al., 2003). However, participants were instructed to imagine that one of their choices would be randomly selected and paid out.

638

639 Statistical Analysis

640 Regression-Based Analysis

641 To investigate the influence of drug administration (compared to placebo) and 642 experimental manipulations (i.e., reward magnitude, delay, and/or effort) on choice 643 behaviour, we employed Logistic Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models, using 644 the brms package (Bürkner, 2017) in R (Version 4.1.3). In these models, we regressed 645 choices (choosing the high-cost option vs. choosing the low-cost option) on fixed-effect 646 predictors including drug, reward, cost (i.e., delay or effort), and all possible interaction 647 terms. Importantly, to test drug-specific effects on behaviour, we included the drug 648 condition (placebo, haloperidol, biperiden) as a 3-level categorical predictor with 649 placebo set as the reference. Thus, all drug-related main and interaction effects are 650 estimated in reference to the placebo. For the effort discounting task, as predictors we 651 used the difference term between both the reward magnitude and effort levels of the 652 two presented options (high-cost option – low-cost option). In the delay discounting 653 task, the reward and delay levels of the varying high-cost option were included as 654 regressors. To account for individual differences, all fixed-effect predictors were also 655 modelled as random slopes in addition to subject-specific random intercepts. To 656 ensure robust and informative analyses, we followed the approach suggested by 657 Gelman et al. (2008). Weakly informative priors were employed, with nonbinary 658 variables scaled to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 0.5. Posterior 659 distributions of the parameter estimates were obtained by running four chains with 660 3000 samples (1000 samples for warmup). We present the 95% Highest Density 661 Intervals (HDI) of the estimates to capture the uncertainty in the parameter estimates. 662 The 95% HDI indicates that there is a 95% probability that the true parameter value 663 falls within this interval. If the 95% HDI does not overlap with zero, it provides credible 664 evidence that the respective model parameter is meaningful (Ahn et al., 2017; 665 Kruschke, 2014). For detailed information on the models employed in this analysis, 666 please refer to the Supplementary Methods.

667

668 Order and Fatigue Control Analysis

669 To further test for potential confounding effects on choice behaviour, we ran separate 670 control regression analyses. For these models, we used the structure of the original 671 GLMMs but included additional fixed-effect predictors to control for session and fatigue 672 effects. Specifically, we included trial number as a predictor to account for potential 673 systematic changes in choice behaviour throughout the task progress. In separate 674 models, session was included as a fixed effect to control for potential learning or drug 675 order effects across different experimental sessions. Importantly, to capture potential 676 interactions between these control variables and the drug manipulations, we included 677 the two-way interaction terms in the fixed-effects structure. This allows to investigate 678 whether the effects of the drug manipulation on choice behaviour differed as a function 679 of the task progress or experimental session. All other aspects of the model 680 specification, including random-effects structure, priors, and estimation procedures, 681 remained identical to the original regression models described above.

682

683 Hierarchical Bayesian Modelling

684 Next, to investigate the impact of dopaminergic and cholinergic manipulations on 685 underlying cognitive processes, specifically how individuals integrate rewards and 686 costs to discount subjective reward values, we employed hierarchical Bayesian 687 modelling. This approach allowed us to estimate both group-level hyperparameters 688 and individual subject-level estimates, leveraging the hierarchical structure of the 689 experimental design. By incorporating information from each individual's estimates 690 into the group estimates and vice versa, we obtained more robust and reliable 691 parameter estimates compared to conventional methods like maximum likelihood 692 estimation (Ahn et al., 2017).

693 To capture how changes in the subjective values are influenced by reward, 694 effort, and delay, we employed a single-parameter discounting model to determine 695 which discounting function best describes the observed behaviour. Initially, 696 participants' responses from the placebo condition were fitted to four commonly used 697 models for discounting: linear, parabolic, hyperbolic, and exponential (Białaszek et al., 698 2017; Chong et al., 2017; Hartmann et al., 2013; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015). Model fits 699 were compared using the trial-based Leave-One-Out Information Criterion (LOOIC) 700 from the loo package (Vehtari et al., 2017).

Consistent with previous findings, delay discounting was best described by a hyperbolic model (Green & Myerson, 2004; Kirby & Maraković, 1995), whereas effort discounting showed the best fit with a parabolic model (Hartmann et al., 2013; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015; Lockwood et al., 2017). See Supplementary Methods for more details. The discounting parameter in the delay discounting model was modelled in log space due to the skewed distribution of the values towards zero.

708
$$SV(HC_{(t)}) = \frac{R_{(t)}}{1 + \exp(\kappa) * D_{(t)}}$$
 (1)

709

710
$$SV(HC_{(t)}) = R_{HC_{(t)}} - \kappa * E_{HC_{(t)}}^2$$
 (2)

711

712
$$SV(LC_{(t)}) = R_{LC_{(t)}} - \kappa * E_{LC_{(t)}}^{2}$$
 (3)

713

In the delay discounting model (Eq. 1), R_t represents the reward magnitude and D_t represents the delay in days of the high-cost option (HC) on trial t, while the subjective value (SV) of the low-cost option (LC) was fixed at 20 for each trial. In contrast, the effort discounting models (Eq. 2 and 3) involve varying levels of both options. In this model, the SV of the HC option and the SV of the LC option are calculated separately. Once again, R_t denotes the corresponding reward magnitude, and E_t represents the associated effort in percentage on trial t.

721

722
$$\kappa = \kappa_{PLC} + I_{HAL_{(t)}} * s_{\kappa_{HAL}} + I_{BIP_{(t)}} * s_{\kappa_{BIP}}$$
(4)

723

Consistent with previous studies that examined drug effects on changes in discounting (Mathar et al., 2022; Peters & D'Esposito, 2020; Wagner et al., 2020), we extended the original single-parameter model by incorporating two additional free parameters (Eq. 4). In both cases, κ is the discounting parameter, either reflecting delay discounting or effort discounting. A higher κ value indicates a greater degree of discounting, whereas a lower κ value suggests less discounting. To capture potential drug effects (compared to placebo), two separate shift parameters ($S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$ for haloperidol and $S_{K_{BIP}}$ for biperiden) were included to model changes in the discounting rate. A positive shift parameter indicates that the corresponding drug increases discounting, while a negative shift parameter suggests that the drug decreases discounting. The condition for each trial is indicated by the dummy-coded variable *I*, which indicates the drug condition of the current trial.

736

737
$$P(HC_{(t)}) = \frac{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta)}{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta) + \exp(SV(LC_{(t)})*\beta)}$$
(5)

738

$$739 \quad \beta = \beta_{PLC} + I_{HAL_{(t)}} * s_{\beta_{HAL}} + I_{BIP_{(t)}} * s_{\beta_{BIP}}$$
(6)

740

We then used a softmax function to transform the option values to choice probabilities (Eq. 5). The choice stochasticity was modelled using the inverse temperature parameter β . A lower β value indicates more stochastic behaviour. Conversely, a higher β value suggests more deterministic choices.

Similar to the previous analysis, two additional shift parameters ($s \beta_{HAL}$ for haloperidol and $s \beta_{BHP}$ for biperiden) were introduced to capture potential drug effects on choice stochasticity (Eq. 6). A positive $s\beta$ parameter indicates that the corresponding drug decreases the level of stochasticity in choices, while a negative $s\beta$ parameter suggests that the drug increases stochasticity.

Model estimation was performed using MCMC sampling as implemented in STAN (Stan Development Team, 2020) via R and the rSTAN package (Version 2.21.0). We utilized separate group-level distributions for all parameters in the placebo condition (i.e., κ and β), as well as for the shift parameters (i.e., $S_{\kappa_{BP}}$, $S_{\beta_{BAL}}$, and S 754 β_{BP}), which capture potential modulatory effects of the drugs. Prior distributions for the 755 parameter means and standard deviations were chosen within plausible ranges based 756 on previous findings (Knauth & Peters, 2022; Lockwood et al., 2021, 2022; Mathar et 757 al., 2022; Wagner et al., 2020). The sampling process involved running four chains 758 with 4000 iterations after a warmup period of 3000 iterations. Chain convergence was 759 assessed using the Gelman-Rubinstein convergence diagnostic r-hat, with values less than 1.01 considered acceptable (Gelman & Rubin, 1992). We report the mean of the 760 761 posterior group distribution for all parameters, along with the associated 95% HDI.

Please refer to the Supplementary Methods for details of the prior distributions, modelcomparison, and model estimation procedure.

764

765 Model Validation & Parameter Recovery

To assess the model's ability to capture and recover important characteristics of the data, we conducted a model validation and parameter recovery analysis. This involved generating 500 synthetic datasets per participant using the posterior distributions of subject-level parameters obtained from the winning models. From these 500 datasets, we randomly selected 10 datasets for each participant and conducted the same analysis as described above, using the synthetic datasets instead of the actual data.

First, to validate that the simulated data accurately captures the key features of the participants' behaviour, we simulated the relative choice rates and visualized how behavioural patterns changed as a function of varying levels of costs and rewards. Next, to evaluate the recovery of group-level parameters, we examined whether the simulated group-level parameters fell within the 95% HDI of the actual group-level parameter distribution. For the subject-level parameter estimates, we calculated the correlation between the simulated (averaged across all 10 simulated datasets) and true estimated subject-level parameters. The results of the model validation andparameter recovery are presented in the Supplementary Results.

781

782 Drug Effects on Vital Signs, Mood, Trail-Making Performance, MVC, and Effort Rating 783 The effects of the drugs on mood (alertness, calmness, and contentedness) and 784 physiological measures (heart rate, systolic, and diastolic blood pressure) were 785 analysed using Bayesian Linear Mixed Models. If credible drug interactions were 786 found, we further explored the relationship between drug induced alterations in 787 behaviour and potential explanatory factors, including changes in subjective mood 788 ratings and/or physiological responses. Specifically, we calculated the absolute 789 differences in mood ratings and physiological parameters between T₀ (before drug 790 administration) and the time point where a credible drug effect was observed (either 791 T_1 or T_2). These difference values were then correlated with the shift parameters that 792 capture drug-induced changes in performance. The purpose of this Bayesian 793 correlation analysis was to exclude that drug-induced changes in mood ratings or 794 physiological measures could account for the observed drug-induced changes in 795 behaviour. We further investigated potential confounding drug effects on trail-making 796 response times, MVC, and subjective effort perception. These analyses did not reveal 797 significant effects of drug manipulation on any of these measures (see Supplementary 798 Results). More detailed descriptions of these analysis are presented in the 799 Supplementary Methods.

800

Association between task- and drug-specific Computational Parameter Estimates
We investigated the association between discounting tendencies across different cost
domains, specifically exploring whether participants who exhibit stronger effort

804 discounting also displayed stronger delay discounting. To examine this, we performed 805 a Bayesian correlation analysis using the mean estimates of the κ parameters from 806 the placebo conditions in both the effort and delay discounting task.

807

808 Computational parameter estimates, self-ratings scores, and demographics

In a supplementary analysis, we investigated potential associations between selfreported questionnaire scores, demographic data (including age and sex of the participants), and the estimated discounting parameters κ from the baseline (placebo) condition of both tasks. To this end, we performed robust linear regressions with the respective discounting parameter as the outcome variable (see Supplementary Methods and Supplementary Results).

816 **Data availability**

817 Anonymized participant's datasets analysed in the study are available from: 818 https://osf.io/gx76t/

819

820 **Code availability**

821 The regression analysis and computational modelling code is available from:822 https://osf.io/gx76t/

823

824 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG JO-787/5-1). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. We express our gratitude to the students who conducted and supported the data collection: Bibiana Ackers, Evelina Andronova, Alina Hansen, and Maria Angelina Morales Diaz. Computational infrastructure and support were provided by the Centre for Information and Media Technology at Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf.

832

833 Competing interests

834 The authors declare no competing interests.

- 836 References837
- Acheson, A., & de Wit, H. (2008). Bupropion improves attention but does not affect
 impulsive behavior in healthy young adults. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *16*(2), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1037/10641297.16.2.113
- Ahn, W.-Y., Haines, N., & Zhang, L. (2017). Revealing Neurocomputational
 Mechanisms of Reinforcement Learning and Decision-Making With the
 hBayesDM Package. *Computational Psychiatry (Cambridge, Mass.)*, *1*, 24–57.
 https://doi.org/10.1162/CPSY_a_00002
- Bailey, M. R., Simpson, E. H., & Balsam, P. D. (2016). Neural substrates underlying
 effort, time, and risk-based decision making in motivated behavior. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *133*, 233–256.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2016.07.015
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. (1996). Beck Depression Inventory–II. *Psychol. Assess.* https://doi.org/10.1037/t00742-000
- Berke, J. D. (2018). What does dopamine mean? *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*(6), 787–
 793. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0152-y
- Betts, G. D., Hynes, T. J., & Winstanley, C. A. (2021). Pharmacological evidence of a
 cholinergic contribution to elevated impulsivity and risky decision-making
 caused by adding win-paired cues to a rat gambling task. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 269881120972421.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881120972421
- Białaszek, W., Marcowski, P., & Ostaszewski, P. (2017). Physical and cognitive effort
 discounting across different reward magnitudes: Tests of discounting models. *PloS One*, *12*(7), e0182353. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182353
- Bickel, W. K., & Marsch, L. A. (2001). Toward a behavioral economic understanding
 of drug dependence: delay discounting processes. *Addiction*, 96(1), 73–86.
 https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2001.961736.x

Bickel, W. K., Pitcock, J. A., Yi, R., & Angtuaco, E. J. C. (2009). Congruence of BOLD
response across intertemporal choice conditions: fictive and real money gains
and losses. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 29(27), 8839–8846. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.531908.2009

Bogdanov, M., LoParco, S., Otto, A. R., & Sharp, M. (2022). Dopaminergic medication
increases motivation to exert cognitive control by reducing subjective effort
costs in Parkinson's patients. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *193*,
107652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2022.107652

- Bond, A., & Lader, M. (1974). The use of analogue scales in rating subjective feelings. *The British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 47(3), 211–218.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8341.1974.tb02285.x
- Bonnelle, V., Veromann, K.-R., Burnett Heyes, S., Lo Sterzo, E., Manohar, S., &
 Husain, M. (2015). Characterization of reward and effort mechanisms in apathy. *Journal of Physiology, Paris*, 109(1–3), 16–26.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphysparis.2014.04.002
- Borderies, N., Bornert, P., Gilardeau, S., & Bouret, S. (2020). Pharmacological
 evidence for the implication of noradrenaline in effort. *PLoS Biology*, *18*(10),
 e3000793. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000793

884 Brocks, D. R. (1999). Anticholinergic drugs used in Parkinson's disease: An 885 overlooked class of drugs from a pharmacokinetic perspective. Journal of 886 Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences: A Publication of the Canadian Society 887 for Pharmaceutical Sciences, Societe Canadienne Des Sciences 888 Pharmaceutiques, 2(2), 39–46. 889 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10952768

Burke, C. J., Soutschek, A., Weber, S., Raja Beharelle, A., Fehr, E., Haker, H., &
Tobler, P. N. (2018). Dopamine Receptor-Specific Contributions to the
Computation of Value. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 43(6), 1415–1424.
https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2017.302

Bürkner, P.-C. (2017). brms: An R Package for Bayesian Multilevel Models Using
Stan. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 80, 1–28.
https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v080.i01

Chantranupong, L., Beron, C. C., Zimmer, J. A., Wen, M. J., Wang, W., & Sabatini, B.
L. (2023). Dopamine and glutamate regulate striatal acetylcholine in decisionmaking. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06492-9

- 901 Chong, T. T.-J., Apps, M. A. J., Giehl, K., Hall, S., Clifton, C. H., & Husain, M. (2018).
 902 Computational modelling reveals distinct patterns of cognitive and physical
 903 motivation in elite athletes. *Scientific Reports*, *8*(1), 11888.
 904 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30220-3
- Chong, T. T.-J., Apps, M., Giehl, K., Sillence, A., Grima, L. L., & Husain, M. (2017).
 Neurocomputational mechanisms underlying subjective valuation of effort
 costs. *PLoS Biology*, *15*(2), e1002598.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002598
- 909 Chong, T. T.-J., Fortunato, E., & Bellgrove, M. A. (2023). Amphetamines improve the
 910 motivation to invest effort in Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *The*911 *Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*.
 912 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0982-23.2023
- 913 Collins, A. G. E., & Frank, M. J. (2014). Opponent actor learning (OpAL): modeling
 914 interactive effects of striatal dopamine on reinforcement learning and choice
 915 incentive. *Psychological Review*, 121(3), 337–366.
 916 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037015
- 917 Cools, R., & D'Esposito, M. (2011). Inverted-U-shaped dopamine actions on human
 918 working memory and cognitive control. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(12), e113-25.
 919 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.03.028
- Cousins, M. S., Atherton, A., Turner, L., & Salamone, J. D. (1996). Nucleus
 accumbens dopamine depletions alter relative response allocation in a T-maze
 cost/benefit task. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 74(1–2), 189–197.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(95)00151-4

- Dallery, J., & Locey, M. L. (2005). Effects of acute and chronic nicotine on impulsive
 choice in rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 16(1), 15–23.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200502000-00002
- de Wit, H., Enggasser, J. L., & Richards, J. B. (2002). Acute administration of damphetamine decreases impulsivity in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 27*(5), 813–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893133X(02)00343-3
- Denk, F., Walton, M. E., Jennings, K. A., Sharp, T., Rushworth, M. F. S., & Bannerman,
 D. M. (2005). Differential involvement of serotonin and dopamine systems in
 cost-benefit decisions about delay or effort. *Psychopharmacology*, *179*(3), 587–
 596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-004-2059-4
- Di Chiara, G., Morelli, M., & Consolo, S. (1994). Modulatory functions of
 neurotransmitters in the striatum: ACh/dopamine/NMDA interactions. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *17*(6), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(94)900051
- Eisenegger, C., Naef, M., Linssen, A., Clark, L., Gandamaneni, P. K., Müller, U., &
 Robbins, T. W. (2014). Role of dopamine D2 receptors in human reinforcement
 learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 39*(10), 2366–2375.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.84
- Farrar, A. M., Segovia, K. N., Randall, P. A., Nunes, E. J., Collins, L. E., Stopper, C.
 M., Port, R. G., Hockemeyer, J., Müller, C. E., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D.
 (2010). Nucleus accumbens and effort-related functions: behavioral and neural
 markers of the interactions between adenosine A2A and dopamine D2
 receptors. *Neuroscience*, *166*(4), 1056–1067.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.12.056
- Floresco, S. B., Tse, M. T. L., & Ghods-Sharifi, S. (2008). Dopaminergic and
 glutamatergic regulation of effort- and delay-based decision making.
 Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of

- 954
 Neuropsychopharmacology,
 33(8),
 1966–1979.

 955
 https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301565
- 956 Foster, D. J., Wilson, J. M., Remke, D. H., Mahmood, M. S., Uddin, M. J., Wess, J., 957 Patel, S., Marnett, L. J., Niswender, C. M., Jones, C. K., Xiang, Z., Lindsley, C. W., Rook, J. M., & Conn, P. J. (2016). Antipsychotic-like Effects of M4 Positive 958 959 Allosteric Modulators Are Mediated by CB2 Receptor-Dependent Inhibition of 960 Dopamine Release. Neuron, 91(6), 1244-1252. 961 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.08.017
- 962 Frank, M. J., & O'Reilly, R. C. (2006). A mechanistic account of striatal dopamine
 963 function in human cognition: psychopharmacological studies with cabergoline
 964 and haloperidol. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 120(3), 497–517.
 965 https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.120.3.497
- Gelman, A., Jakulin, A., Pittau, M. G., & Su, Y.-S. (2008). A weakly informative default
 prior distribution for logistic and other regression models. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 2(4), 1360–1383. https://doi.org/10.1214/08-AOAS191
- Gelman, A., & Rubin, D. B. (1992). Inference from Iterative Simulation Using Multiple
 Sequences. Statistical Science, 7(4), 457–472.
 https://doi.org/10.1214/ss/1177011136
- Gerber, D. J., Sotnikova, T. D., Gainetdinov, R. R., Huang, S. Y., Caron, M. G., &
 Tonegawa, S. (2001). Hyperactivity, elevated dopaminergic transmission, and
 response to amphetamine in M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor-deficient
 mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States*of America, 98(26), 15312–15317. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.261583798
- 977 Goldman-Rakic, P. S., Muly, III, E.C, & Williams, G. V. (2000). D1 receptors in
 978 prefrontal cells and circuits. *Brain Research Reviews*, *31*(2), 295–301.
 979 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(99)00045-4
- Green, L., & Myerson, J. (2004). A discounting framework for choice with delayed and
 probabilistic rewards. *Psychological Bulletin*, 130(5), 769–792.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.5.769

Grimaldi, R., Perucca, E., Ruberto, G., Gelmi, C., Trimarchi, F., Hollmann, M., &
Crema, A. (1986). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies following
the intravenous and oral administration of the antiparkinsonian drug biperiden
to normal subjects. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 29(6), 735–
737. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00615970

- 988 Hailwood, J. M., Heath, C. J., Phillips, B. U., Robbins, T. W., Saksida, L. M., & Bussey, 989 T. J. (2019). Blockade of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors facilitates 990 motivated behaviour and rescues a model of antipsychotic-induced 991 amotivation. Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American 992 College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 44(6), 1068–1075. 993 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0281-8
- Hamidovic, A., Kang, U. J., & de Wit, H. (2008). Effects of low to moderate acute doses
 of pramipexole on impulsivity and cognition in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 28(1), 45–51.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/jcp.0b013e3181602fab
- Hartmann, M. N., Hager, O. M., Tobler, P. N., & Kaiser, S. (2013). Parabolic
 discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Behavioural Processes*,
 100, 192–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2013.09.014
- Jocham, G., Klein, T. A., & Ullsperger, M. (2011). Dopamine-mediated reinforcement
 learning signals in the striatum and ventromedial prefrontal cortex underlie
 value-based choices. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 31(5), 1606–1613.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3904-10.2011
- Jocham, G., Klein, T. A., & Ullsperger, M. (2014). Differential modulation of
 reinforcement learning by D2 dopamine and NMDA glutamate receptor
 antagonism. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34(39), 13151–13162.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0757-14.2014
- 1011 Kapur, S., Remington, G., Jones, C., Wilson, A., DaSilva, J., Houle, S., & Zipursky, R.
 1012 (1996). High levels of dopamine D2 receptor occupancy with low-dose

1013haloperidol treatment: a PET study. The American Journal of Psychiatry,1014153(7), 948–950. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.153.7.948

- Kayser, A. S., Allen, D. C., Navarro-Cebrian, A., Mitchell, J. M., & Fields, H. L. (2012).
 Dopamine, corticostriatal connectivity, and intertemporal choice. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 32(27),
 9402–9409. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1180-12.2012
- Kirby, K. N., & Maraković, N. N. (1995). Modeling myopic decisions: Evidence for
 hyperbolic delay-discounting within subjects and amounts. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 64(1), 22–30.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.1995.1086
- Klein-Flügge, M. C., Kennerley, S. W., Saraiva, A. C., Penny, W. D., & Bestmann, S.
 (2015). Behavioral modeling of human choices reveals dissociable effects of
 physical effort and temporal delay on reward devaluation. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *11*(3), e1004116. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004116
- 1027 Knauth, K., & Peters, J. (2022). Trial-wise exposure to visual emotional cues increases
 1028 physiological arousal but not temporal discounting. *Psychophysiology*, *59*(4),
 1029 e13996. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13996
- Kolokotroni, K. Z., Rodgers, R. J., & Harrison, A. A. (2011). Acute nicotine increases
 both impulsive choice and behavioural disinhibition in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 217(4), 455–473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-0112296-2
- 1034 Kruschke, J. (2014). *Doing Bayesian Data Analysis: A Tutorial with R, JAGS, and*1035 *Stan.* Academic Press.
- 1036 Kudo, S., & Ishizaki, T. (1999). Pharmacokinetics of haloperidol: an update. *Clinical* 1037 *Pharmacokinetics*, 37(6), 435–456. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088 1038 199937060-00001
- 1039 Kühner, C., Bürger, C., Keller, F., & Hautzinger, M. (2007). [Reliability and validity of 1040 the Revised Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II). Results from German

1041samples]. Der Nervenarzt, 78(6), 651–656. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00115-1042006-2098-7

Le Bouc, R., Rigoux, L., Schmidt, L., Degos, B., Welter, M.-L., Vidailhet, M.,
Daunizeau, J., & Pessiglione, M. (2016). Computational Dissection of
Dopamine Motor and Motivational Functions in Humans. The Journal of
Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 36(25),
6623–6633. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3078-15.2016

- Le Heron, C., Plant, O., Manohar, S., Ang, Y.-S., Jackson, M., Lennox, G., Hu, M. T.,
 & Husain, M. (2018). Distinct effects of apathy and dopamine on effort-based
 decision-making in Parkinson's disease. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *141*(5),
 1455–1469. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy110
- 1052 Liem-Moolenaar, M., Gray, F. A., de Visser, S. J., Franson, K. L., Schoemaker, R. C., 1053 Schmitt, J. A. J., Cohen, A. F., & van Gerven, J. M. A. (2010). Psychomotor and cognitive effects of a single oral dose of talnetant (SB223412) in healthy 1054 1055 volunteers compared with placebo haloperidol. or Journal of 73-82. 1056 Psychopharmacology 24(1), 1057 https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881108094524
- 1058 Linssen, A. M. W., Vuurman, E. F. P. M., Sambeth, A., Nave, S., Spooren, W., Vargas, 1059 G., Santarelli, L., & Riedel, W. J. (2011). Contingent negative variation as a 1060 dopaminergic biomarker: evidence from dose-related effects of 1061 Psychopharmacology, 533-542. methylphenidate. 218(3), 1062 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2345-x
- Lockwood, P. L., Abdurahman, A., Gabay, A. S., Drew, D., Tamm, M., Husain, M., &
 Apps, M. A. J. (2021). Aging Increases Prosocial Motivation for Effort. *Psychological* Science, 956797620975781.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620975781
- Lockwood, P. L., Hamonet, M., Zhang, S. H., Ratnavel, A., Salmony, F. U., Husain,
 M., & Apps, M. A. J. (2017). Prosocial apathy for helping others when effort is
 required. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *1*(7), 0131. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562017-0131

- Lockwood, P. L., Wittmann, M. K., Nili, H., Matsumoto-Ryan, M., Abdurahman, A.,
 Cutler, J., Husain, M., & Apps, M. A. J. (2022). Distinct neural representations
 for prosocial and self-benefiting effort. *Current Biology: CB*.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.08.010
- Lueken, U., Seidl, U., Schwarz, M., Völker, L., Naumann, D., Mattes, K., Schröder, J.,
 & Schweiger, E. (2006). [Psychometric properties of a German version of the
 Apathy Evaluation Scale]. *Fortschritte der Neurologie-Psychiatrie*, 74(12), 714–
 722. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-932164
- 1079 Madden, G. J., Begotka, A. M., Raiff, B. R., & Kastern, L. L. (2003). Delay discounting 1080 hypothetical rewards. of real and Experimental and Clinical 1081 Psychopharmacology, 11(2), 139–145. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.11.2.139 1082
- Mai, B., Sommer, S., & Hauber, W. (2012). Motivational states influence effort-based
 decision making in rats: the role of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Cognitive, Affective & Behavioral Neuroscience, 12*(1), 74–84.
 https://doi.org/10.3758/s13415-011-0068-4
- Marin, R. S., Biedrzycki, R. C., & Firinciogullari, S. (1991). Reliability and validity of the
 Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Psychiatry Research*, 38(2), 143–162.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(91)90040-v
- Mathar, D., Erfanian Abdoust, M., Marrenbach, T., Tuzsus, D., & Peters, J. (2022).
 The catecholamine precursor Tyrosine reduces autonomic arousal and decreases decision thresholds in reinforcement learning and temporal discounting. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *18*(12), e1010785.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010785
- Matthews, J., Pisauro, M. A., Jurgelis, M., Müller, T., Vassena, E., Chong, T. T.-J., &
 Apps, M. A. J. (2023). Computational mechanisms underlying the dynamics of
 physical and cognitive fatigue. Cognition, 240, 105603.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2023.105603

McGuigan, S., Zhou, S.-H., Brosnan, M. B., Thyagarajan, D., Bellgrove, M. A., &
Chong, T. T.-J. (2019). Dopamine restores cognitive motivation in Parkinson's
disease. *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, *142*(3), 719–732.
https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy341

- Mendez, I. A., Gilbert, R. J., Bizon, J. L., & Setlow, B. (2012). Effects of acute administration of nicotinic and muscarinic cholinergic agonists and antagonists on performance in different cost-benefit decision making tasks in rats.
 Psychopharmacology, 224(4), 489–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-012-2777-y
- Meule, A., Vögele, C., & Kübler, A. (2011). Psychometrische Evaluation der deutschen
 Barratt Impulsiveness Scale Kurzversion (BIS-15). *Diagnostica*, *57*(3), 126–
 133. https://doi.org/10.1026/0012-1924/a000042
- Meyniel, F., Goodwin, G. M., Deakin, J. W., Klinge, C., MacFadyen, C., Milligan, H.,
 Mullings, E., Pessiglione, M., & Gaillard, R. (2016). A specific role for serotonin
 in overcoming effort cost. *ELife*, *5*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17282
- Michely, J., Viswanathan, S., Hauser, T. U., Delker, L., Dolan, R. J., & Grefkes, C.
 (2020). The role of dopamine in dynamic effort-reward integration. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(9), 1448–1453.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-020-0669-0
- 1119 Mikus, N., Korb, S., Massaccesi, C., Gausterer, C., Graf, I., Willeit, M., Eisenegger, 1120 C., Lamm, C., Silani, G., & Mathys, C. (2022). Effects of dopamine D2/3 and opioid receptor antagonism on the trade-off between model-based and model-1121 1122 ELife, 11. free behaviour in healthy volunteers. 1123 https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.79661
- Miyazaki, K., Miyazaki, K. W., Sivori, G., Yamanaka, A., Tanaka, K. F., & Doya, K.
 (2020). Serotonergic projections to the orbitofrontal and medial prefrontal
 cortices differentially modulate waiting for future rewards. *Science Advances*,
 6(48). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abc7246

- Moehle, M. S., & Conn, P. J. (2019). Roles of the M4 acetylcholine receptor in the
 basal ganglia and the treatment of movement disorders. *Movement Disorders:*Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society, 34(8), 1089–1099.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.27740
- Morrison, S. E., & Nicola, S. M. (2014). Neurons in the nucleus accumbens promote
 selection bias for nearer objects. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 34(42), 14147–14162.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2197-14.2014
- Müller, T., Klein-Flügge, M. C., Manohar, S., Husain, M., & Apps, M. A. J. (2021).
 Neural and computational mechanisms of momentary fatigue and persistence
 in effort-based choice. Nature Communications, 12(1), 4593.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24927-7
- Myslivecek, J. (2021). Two Players in the Field: Hierarchical Model of Interaction
 between the Dopamine and Acetylcholine Signaling Systems in the Striatum. *Biomedicines*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9010025
- 1143 Nordström, A. L., Farde, L., & Halldin, C. (1992). Time course of D2-dopamine
 1144 receptor occupancy examined by PET after single oral doses of haloperidol.
 1145 *Psychopharmacology*, *106*(4), 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02244811
- Nunes, E. J., Randall, P. A., Podurgiel, S., Correa, M., & Salamone, J. D. (2013).
 Nucleus accumbens neurotransmission and effort-related choice behavior in
 food motivation: effects of drugs acting on dopamine, adenosine, and
 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*,
 37(9 Pt A), 2015–2025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.002
- Ojala, K. E., Janssen, L. K., Hashemi, M. M., Timmer, M. H. M., Geurts, D. E. M., Ter
 Huurne, N. P., Cools, R., & Sescousse, G. (2018). Dopaminergic Drug Effects
 on Probability Weighting during Risky Decision Making. *ENeuro*, *5*(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0330-18.2018
- 1155 Ozga, J. E., & Anderson, K. G. (2018). Reduction in delay discounting due to nicotine
 and its attenuation by cholinergic antagonists in Lewis and Fischer 344 rats.

1157Psychopharmacology, 235(1), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-017-11584752-0

Peters, J., & D'Esposito, M. (2020). The drift diffusion model as the choice rule in intertemporal and risky choice: A case study in medial orbitofrontal cortex lesion
patients and controls. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *16*(4), e1007615.
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007615

- Petzold, J., Kienast, A., Lee, Y., Pooseh, S., London, E. D., Goschke, T., & Smolka,
 M. N. (2019). Baseline impulsivity may moderate L-DOPA effects on valuebased decision-making. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 5652.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42124-x
- Phillips, P. E. M., Walton, M. E., & Jhou, T. C. (2007). Calculating utility: preclinical
 evidence for cost-benefit analysis by mesolimbic dopamine. *Psychopharmacology*, *191*(3), 483–495. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-0060626-6
- Pine, A., Shiner, T., Seymour, B., & Dolan, R. J. (2010). Dopamine, time, and
 impulsivity in humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society* for *Neuroscience*, 30(26), 8888–8896.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6028-09.2010
- 1175 Randall, P. A., Nunes, E. J., Janniere, S. L., Stopper, C. M., Farrar, A. M., Sager, T.
 1176 N., Baqi, Y., Hockemeyer, J., Müller, C. E., & Salamone, J. D. (2011). Stimulant
 1177 effects of adenosine antagonists on operant behavior: differential actions of
 1178 selective A2A and A1 antagonists. *Psychopharmacology*, *216*(2), 173–186.
 1179 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2198-3
- Rutledge, R. B., Skandali, N., Dayan, P., & Dolan, R. J. (2015). Dopaminergic
 Modulation of Decision Making and Subjective Well-Being. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(27),
 9811–9822. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0702-15.2015
- Salamone, J. D., Cousins, M. S., & Bucher, S. (1994). Anhedonia or anergia? Effects
 of haloperidol and nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion on instrumental

- 1186response selection in a T-maze cost/benefit procedure. Behavioural Brain1187Research, 65(2), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(94)90108-2
- Salamone, J. D., & Correa, M. (2012). The mysterious motivational functions of
 mesolimbic dopamine. *Neuron*, 76(3), 470–485.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.10.021
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Ferrigno, S., Yang, J.-H., Rotolo, R. A., & Presby, R. E.
 (2018). The Psychopharmacology of Effort-Related Decision Making:
 Dopamine, Adenosine, and Insights into the Neurochemistry of Motivation. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 70(4), 747–762.
 https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.117.015107
- Schoemaker, H., Claustre, Y., Fage, D., Rouquier, L., Chergui, K., Curet, O., Oblin,
 A., Gonon, F., Carter, C., Benavides, J., & Scatton, B. (1997). Neurochemical
 characteristics of amisulpride, an atypical dopamine D2/D3 receptor antagonist
 with both presynaptic and limbic selectivity. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 280(1), 83–97.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8996185
- Schultz, W. (2016a). Dopamine reward prediction error coding. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *18*(1), 23–32.
 https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2016.18.1/wschultz
- Schultz, W. (2016b). Dopamine reward prediction-error signalling: a two-component
 response. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 183–195.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2015.26
- Seaman, K. L., Brooks, N., Karrer, T. M., Castrellon, J. J., Perkins, S. F., Dang, L. C.,
 Hsu, M., Zald, D. H., & Samanez-Larkin, G. R. (2018). Subjective value
 representations during effort, probability and time discounting across
 adulthood. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 13(5), 449–459.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsy021
- Soder, H. E., Cooper, J. A., Lopez-Gamundi, P., Hoots, J. K., Nunez, C., Lawlor, V.
 M., Lane, S. D., Treadway, M. T., & Wardle, M. C. (2020). Dose-response

- 1215 effects of d-amphetamine on effort-based decision-making and reinforcement
 1216 learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American*1217 *College of Neuropsychopharmacology.* https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-0201218 0779-8
- Soutschek, A., Gvozdanovic, G., Kozak, R., Duvvuri, S., de Martinis, N., Harel, B.,
 Gray, D. L., Fehr, E., Jetter, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2020). Dopaminergic D1
 Receptor Stimulation Affects Effort and Risk Preferences. *Biological Psychiatry*,
 87(7), 678–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.09.002
- Soutschek, A., Jetter, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2023). Toward a Unifying Account of
 Dopamine's Role in Cost-Benefit Decision Making. *Biological Psychiatry Global Open Science*, *3*(2), 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsgos.2022.02.010
- Soutschek, A., & Tobler, P. N. (2023). A process model account of the role of
 dopamine in intertemporal choice. *ELife*, 12.
 https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83734
- Spinella, M. (2007). Normative data and a short form of the Barratt Impulsiveness
 Scale. *The International Journal of Neuroscience*, *117*(3), 359–368.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207450600588881
- Stanhope, K. J., Mirza, N. R., Bickerdike, M. J., Bright, J. L., Harrington, N. R.,
 Hesselink, M. B., Kennett, G. A., Lightowler, S., Sheardown, M. J., Syed, R.,
 Upton, R. L., Wadsworth, G., Weiss, S. M., & Wyatt, A. (2001). The muscarinic
 receptor agonist xanomeline has an antipsychotic-like profile in the rat. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 299(2), 782–792.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11602695
- Sudo, Y., Suhara, T., Suzuki, K., Okubo, Y., Yoshikawa, K., Uchida, S., Sassa, T.,
 Okauchi, T., Sasaki, Y., & Matsushita, M. (1999). Muscarinic receptor
 occupancy by biperiden in living human brain. *Life Sciences*, *64*(8), PL99-104.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0024-3205(98)00613-4
- Swart, J. C., Froböse, M. I., Cook, J. L., Geurts, D. E., Frank, M. J., Cools, R., & den
 Ouden, H. E. (2017). Catecholaminergic challenge uncovers distinct Pavlovian

- 1244and instrumental mechanisms of motivated (in)action. *ELife*, 6.1245https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.22169
- Tanaka, S., O'Doherty, J. P., & Sakagami, M. (2019). The cost of obtaining rewards
 enhances the reward prediction error signal of midbrain dopamine neurons. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3674. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-01911334-2
- Threlfell, S., Clements, M. A., Khodai, T., Pienaar, I. S., Exley, R., Wess, J., & Cragg,
 S. J. (2010). Striatal muscarinic receptors promote activity dependence of
 dopamine transmission via distinct receptor subtypes on cholinergic
 interneurons in ventral versus dorsal striatum. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *30*(9), 3398–3408.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5620-09.2010
- 1256Tombaugh, T. N. (2004). Trail Making Test A and B: normative data stratified by age1257and education. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology: The Official Journal of1258the National Academy of Neuropsychologists, 19(2), 203–214.1259https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6177(03)00039-8
- van den Bosch, R., Lambregts, B., Määttä, J., Hofmans, L., Papadopetraki, D.,
 Westbrook, A., Verkes, R.-J., Booij, J., & Cools, R. (2022). Striatal dopamine
 dissociates methylphenidate effects on value-based versus surprise-based
 reversal learning. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 4962.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32679-1
- Vehtari, A., Gelman, A., & Gabry, J. (2017). Practical Bayesian model evaluation using
 leave-one-out cross-validation and WAIC. *Statistics and Computing*, 27(5),
 1413–1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11222-016-9696-4
- 1268 Wagner, B., Clos, M., Sommer, T., & Peters, J. (2020). Dopaminergic Modulation of Human Intertemporal Choice: A Diffusion Model Analysis Using the D2-1269 1270 Receptor Antagonist Haloperidol. The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official 1271 Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 40(41), 7936-7948. 1272 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0592-20.2020

- Wardle, M. C., Treadway, M. T., Mayo, L. M., Zald, D. H., & de Wit, H. (2011). Amping
 up effort: effects of d-amphetamine on human effort-based decision-making. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 31(46), 16597–16602.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4387-11.2011
- Webber, H. E., Lopez-Gamundi, P., Stamatovich, S. N., de Wit, H., & Wardle, M. C.
 (2020). Using pharmacological manipulations to study the role of dopamine in
 human reward functioning: A review of studies in healthy adults. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.11.004
- Westbrook, A., & Frank, M. J. (2018). Dopamine and Proximity in Motivation and
 Cognitive Control. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 22, 28–34.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.12.011
- 1285 Zack, M., & Poulos, C. X. (2007). A D2 antagonist enhances the rewarding and priming 1286 effects of а gambling episode in pathological gamblers. 1287 Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of 32(8), 1678–1686. 1288 *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 1289 https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301295
- 1290

1291

1292


Fig. 1 Study procedure and experimental tasks. (a) The experimental sessions were standardized across all sessions except for the drug treatment, which was counterbalanced. To account for the different times of haloperidol and biperiden to reach peak plasma levels, a dummy drug application was introduced, ensuring that the maximum concentration of both drugs was aligned to task execution. Approximately 180 minutes after the first capsule and approximately 60 minutes after the second capsule, participants engaged in the effort discounting task (b), followed by the delay discounting task (c). Physiological measures (including heart rate and blood pressure) and mood ratings (using the Bond & Lader Visual Analogue Scales) were collected at three distinct time points. Additionally, participants completed the trail-making test part A before task execution (see Materials and Methods for more details). In both tasks, participants were presented with two alternative options, each providing information about a monetary reward in return for specific costs. (b) Effort Discounting Task. One option required less effort (indicated by the horizontal yellow line) and provided a smaller reward (indicated by the number of apples, low-cost option), while the other option required effort (adjusted to the maximum voluntary contraction, MVC) for at least 1 second. (c) Delay discounting task. Similarly, participants were presented with two offers: a smaller but immediately available reward (low-cost option) or a larger reward available after the delay indicated (high-cost option).



Fig. 2 Behavioural Performance in the Effort (left panel) and Delay (right panel) Discounting Task. (a) The overall proportions of high-cost choices were modulated by drug administration in the effort (left), but not in the delay discounting task (right). Biperiden increased and haloperidol decreased the willingness to invest physical effort in return for reward. (b) The probability of choosing the high-cost option increased as a function of increasing reward magnitude for both the effort and delay discounting tasks. In the effort discounting task (left), biperiden increased the impact of the reward level on choice. (c) Similarly, the tendency to choose the high-cost option decreased as a function of increasing levels of effort and delay. This effect is reduced by haloperidol in the delay discounting task (right). Values in **a** show group-level (single-subject) means represented by bold (light) dots. Values in **b** and **c** display averaged group-level means per reward and cost level, with error bars representing the standard error of the mean. In **b**, reward levels are presented as the difference in magnitude between the high- and low-cost option in the effort discontinuing task and as the absolute reward value of the high-cost option in the delay discounting task. Likewise in **c**, the effort level represents the difference between the proportions of the individually calibrated MVC of the high- versus low-cost option, while the delay levels indicate the delay of the high-cost option.



Fig. 3 Drug Effects on Choice Behaviour. Posterior distributions and 95% HDI of the Logistic Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models depict the estimate of each effect on choosing the high-cost option. (a) Biperiden credibly increased the overall willingness to invest physical effort for a corresponding reward, while haloperidol had the opposite effect. (b) Biperiden increased reward sensitivity in the effort discounting task, as indicated by a biperiden-by-reward interaction, without a credible effect of haloperidol. (c) In contrast, neither drug affected effort sensitivity. (d) In the delay discounting task, the willingness to tolerate delays for rewards was not affected by either drug. (e) Likewise, neither drug modulated reward sensitivity in the delay discounting task. (f) However, haloperidol decreased delay sensitivity, with no credible effect of biperiden. Here, a positive estimate of the interaction effect between haloperidol and delay indicates a reduction of the negative parameter estimate associated with delay, suggesting an attenuation of the impact of delay on choice behaviour. Bold dots represent the mean group-level estimate of the posterior distribution. The horizontal bars represent the group-level 95% highest density interval.



Fig. 4 Drug Effect on Computational Parameters. Posterior distributions and changes in the subjective value from the hierarchical Bayesian models. (**a**) In the effort discounting task, the discounting parameter κ is modulated in opposite directions by the drugs, with haloperidol increasing and biperiden decreasing effort discounting. (**b**) Similarly, these opposite effects are also present in the modulation of the softmax inverse temperature β , reflecting choice stochasticity. Biperiden administration led to more deterministic choices, while haloperidol induced more stochastic choices. (**c**) Modelled discounting functions show steeper discounting under haloperidol and flatter discounting under biperiden. (**d**) In the delay discounting task, the discounting parameter κ is reduced by haloperidol, with no credible modulatory effect of biperiden. (**e**) In contrast, the softmax inverse temperature β is reduced by biperiden, indicating more stochastic choices. (**f**) Overall, participants showed flatter discounting of future rewards under haloperidol compared to placebo. In **a**, **b**, **d**, and **e**, bold (light) dots represent the group-level (participant-level) mean estimate. The horizontal bars represent the group-level 95% highest density interval. In **c** and **f**, the subjective values are displayed as a discount function of effort and delay. Parabolic (effort discounting task) and hyperbolic (delay discounting task) functions are fitted on group-level mean estimates for each drug (see Materials and Methods).

1355 1356	Table 1. Summary of the Group-Level Parameter Estimates for the Effort Discounting Task, Including the Mean, Standard Deviation (SD), and the Lower and Upper Bounds of the 95% HDI
1357 1358	Interval.

Parameter	Mean	SD	2.5%	97.5%
к	0.102	0.008	0.086	0.118
β	0.667	0.032	0.605	0.732
SK _{HAL}	0.013	0.007	-0.000	0.027
$S_{ ext{K}_{ ext{BIP}}}$	-0.012	0.006	-0.025	0.000
${\cal S}eta_{ ext{hal}}$	-0.089	0.038	-0.164	-0.010
${oldsymbol{\mathcal{S}}}eta_{ extsf{bip}}$	0.127	0.043	0.048	0.219
${\cal S}$ β _{hal} ${\cal S}$ β _{bip}	-0.089	0.038	-0.164	0.219

1361	Table 2. Summary of the Group-Level Parameter Estimates for the Delay Discounting Task,
1362	Including the Mean, Standard Deviation (SD), and the Lower and Upper Bounds of the 95% HDI
1363	Interval.
1364	

Parameter	Mean	SD	2.5%	97.5%	
κ	-4.621	0.271	-5.176	-4.107	
β	0.356	0.045	0.272	0.449	
$S\kappa_{ ext{hal}}$	-0.630	0.214	-1.083	-0.237	
$S\kappa_{ ext{bip}}$	-0.125	0.142	-0.410	0.148	
${\cal S}eta_{ ext{hal}}$	-0.055	0.030	-0.114	0.006	
${\cal S}eta_{ ext{bip}}$	-0.043	0.021	-0.085	-0.000	

1	Supplementary Results2
2	1. Baseline Session Analysis2
3	2. Model Validation and Parameter Recovery2
4	3. Drug Effects on Vital Signs, Mood, Trail-Making Performance, MVC, and Effort Rating2
5	4. Drug Effects on Decision Times4
6	5. Computational Model Parameters & Self Ratings4
7	Supplementary Methods6
8	6. Fitting Procedure Bayesian Regression6
9	7. Fitting Procedure Hierarchical Bayesian Model7
10 11	 7.1. Model Fitting and Comparison
12	8. Physiological Measures and Bond-Lader Visual Analogue Scale
13	9. Decision Times Analysis11
14	10. Computational Parameter Estimates, Self-Rating Scores, and Demographics11
15	Supplementary References13
16	Supplementary Figures15
17	Supplementary Tables24

21 Supplementary Results

23 <u>1. Baseline Session Analysis</u>

To analyse choice behaviour in the absence of drug manipulations, we conducted Logistic Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models exclusively focusing on the data from the placebo (baseline) session. This analysis confirmed robust main effects of each task parameters on choice behaviour, demonstrating the expected patterns of reward and cost sensitivity across both tasks. Specifically, in both tasks, increased reward magnitudes were associated with a higher likelihood of choosing the high-cost option, while increased effort or delay levels decreased this likelihood (Supplementary Fig. 1 and Supplementary Table 4 and 5).

31

22

32 <u>2. Model Validation and Parameter Recovery</u>

The simulated datasets mirror the original data reasonably well, confirming the model's ability to capture essential behavioural patterns observed in the actual data (Supplementary Fig. 2). Moreover, the parameter recovery revealed successful recovery of all group-level parameters, such that the mean of the simulated group-level parameters fell within the 95% HDI of the true parameter distribution (Supplementary Fig. 3). Similarly, averaged simulated and actual subjectlevel parameters were strongly correlated (all *r* > 0.8), indicating reliable estimation at the individual subject level (Supplementary Fig. 4).

40

41 <u>3. Drug Effects on Vital Signs, Mood, Trail-Making Performance, MVC, and Effort Rating</u>

42 Bayesian Linear Mixed Models revealed that biperiden administration led to a reduction in heart 43 rate and systolic blood pressure at both T₁ (heart rate: HDI_{Mean} = -6.82, HDI_{95%} = [-10.74; - 2.97]; 44 systolic blood pressure: HDI_{Mean} = -3.91, HDI_{95%} = [-7.74; -0.13]) and T₂ (heart rate: HDI_{Mean} = -45 7.88, HDI_{95%} = [-11.83; -3.89]; systolic blood pressure: HDI_{Mean} = -4.80, HDI_{95%} = [-8.74; -0.95]), 46 with no credible impact on diastolic blood pressure (Supplementary Fig. 5). Moreover, subjective 47 ratings of alertness were credibly lower under both haloperidol and biperiden at T₂ (biperiden: 48 HDI_{Mean} = -0.15, HDI_{95%} = [-0.26; - 0.05]; haloperidol: HDI_{Mean} = -0.15, HDI_{95%} = [-0.25; -0.04]; 49 Supplementary Fig. 6). Notably, we did not find credible drug effects on the response times in the trail-making test A, the subjective rating of effort demand, and the MVC in the effort discounting
 task (Supplementary Fig. 7).

To investigate whether changes in physiological measures and mood ratings could be attributed to drug-induced changes in behaviour, we performed Bayesian correlation tests between each shift parameter that was credibly modulated by drug administration (i.e., $S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$ and $S_{\beta_{BIP}}$ in the delay discounting task and $S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$, $S_{\kappa_{BIP}}$, $S_{\beta_{HAL}}$, and $S_{\beta_{BIP}}$ in the effort discounting task) and the relative change in each control measure that credibly altered by drug intake (i.e., heart rate, systolic blood pressure, alertness ratings under biperiden and alertness ratings under haloperidol).

58 We found no credible correlation between any computational parameter that was 59 modulated by biperiden and changes in systolic blood pressure at T1 in the effort (r = 0.10, HDI_{95%} 60 = [-0.14; 0.33] for S_{KBIP} ; r = -0.16, HDl_{95%} = [-0.39; 0.07] for $S_{\beta_{\text{BIP}}}$) and delay (r = 0.06, HDl_{95%} = [-61 0.19; 0.29] for $S\beta_{BIP}$ discounting task. Similarly, we did not find any credible correlation between 62 the computational parameters and biperiden-induced changes in systolic blood pressure at T2 (r 63 = -0.04, HDl_{95%} = [-0.27; 0.20] for $S_{K_{BIP}}$ (effort); r = -0.08, HDl_{95%} = [-0.31; 0.17] for $S_{\beta_{BIP}}$ (effort); r = 64 0.13, HDI_{95%} = [-0.10; 0.35] for $S_{\kappa_{BIP}}$ (delay)). The same applies for biperiden-induced reductions 65 in heart rate at T1 (r = 0.05, HDI_{95%} = [-0.18; 0.28] for S_{KBIP} (effort); r = 0.06, HDI_{95%} = [-0.18; 0.28] for $S\beta_{BIP}$ (effort); r = -0.06, HDI_{95%} = [-0.29; 0.18] for $S\kappa_{BIP}$ (delay)) and at T2 (r = 0.23, HDI_{95%} = [-66 67 0.00; 0.45] for S_{KBIP} (effort); r = -0.09, HDI_{95%} = [-0.32; 0.16] for $S_{\beta_{\text{BIP}}}$ (effort); r = -0.18, HDI_{95%} = [-68 0.40; 0.07] for $S_{\kappa_{BIP}}$ (delay)) for both experimental paradigms. Alertness, which was affected by 69 both drugs at T2, also did not show any credible correlations with biperiden- (r = 0.14, HDI_{95%} = [-70 0.10; 0.37] for $S_{\kappa_{BIP}}$ (effort); r = 0.77, HDl_{95%} = [-0.16; 0.30] for $S_{\beta_{BIP}}$ (effort), r = -0.16, HDl_{95%} = [-71 0.38; 0.08] for $S\beta_{BP}$ (delay)) as well as haloperidol-induced changes (r = -0.05, HDI_{95%} = [-0.28; 72 0.19] for $S_{\kappa_{HAL}}$ (effort); r = -0.09, HDl_{95%} = [-0.33; 0.16] for $S_{\beta_{HAL}}$ (effort); r = 0.05, HDl_{95%} = [-0.20; 73 0.29] for $S \kappa_{\text{HAL}}$ (delay)).

74 <u>4. Drug Effects on Decision Times</u>

75 Having established distinct task-specific drug effects on participants' choice behaviour, we next 76 asked how the drugs affected the dynamics of choice, as reflected in how decision times were 77 modulated by key decision variables. We investigated this with Bayesian Linear Mixed Models, 78 using log-transformed decision times on each trial as the dependent variable. In both tasks, higher 79 reward magnitudes decreased, while higher cost levels (effort or delay) increased decision times 80 (reward effect on effort discounting: HDI_{Mean} = -0.183, HDI_{95%} = [-0.213; -0.154]; reward effect on 81 delay discounting: HDI_{Mean} = -0.168, HDI_{95%} = [-0.190; -0.145]; effort effect on effort discounting: 82 HDI_{Mean} = 0.084, HDI_{95%} = [0.063; 0.105]; delay effect on delay discounting: HDI_{Mean} = 0.036, 83 HDI_{95%} = [0.020; 0.053]; Supplementary Fig. 8b-c). Notably, in both tasks, haloperidol attenuated 84 this speeding effect of reward magnitude, indexed by a credible interaction effect between 85 haloperidol and reward in both tasks (effort discounting: HDI_{Mean} = 0.036, HDI_{95%} = [0.009; 0.063]; 86 delay discounting: HDI_{Mean} = 0.029, HDI_{95%} = [0.011; 0.046]: Supplementary Fig. 9b, 9e). 87 Haloperidol further attenuated the decelerating effect of delay (HDI_{Mean} = -0.020, HDI_{95%} = [-0.036; 88 -0.003]; Fig. 9f), but not effort (HDI_{Mean} = -0.021, HDI_{95%} = [-0.047; 0.003]; Supplementary Fig. 9c). 89 This aligns with the decreased delay sensitivity observed in the delay discounting task analysis. 90 Moreover, haloperidol administration induced an overall increase in decision times in the delay 91 discounting task (HDI_{Mean} = -0.077, HDI_{95%} = [-0.123; -0.031]; Supplementary Fig. 9d), while this 92 effect was not observed in the effort discounting task (HDI_{Mean} = 0.016, HDI_{95%} = [-0.047; 0.078]; 93 Supplementary Fig. 9a). Unlike under haloperidol, none of the effects of task parameters on 94 response speed were modulated by biperiden. See Supplementary Table 6 and 7 for full results.

95

96 <u>5. Computational Model Parameters & Self Ratings</u>

97 98

99 Robust linear regression models did not reveal any significant associations between sex, self-100 reported questionnaire ratings (total scores and subscales), and both effort and delay baseline 101 (placebo-condition) discounting parameters (Supplementary Tables 8 – 11). However, the analysis 102 did reveal a significant main effect of individuals age on the effort discounting parameter, indicating

- 103 a higher tendency to discount rewards in older compared to younger participants (*beta* = 0.007, *p*
- 104 = 0.008).
- 105
- 106

107 Supplementary Methods

108 <u>6. Fitting Procedure Bayesian Regression</u>

109 To examine the impact of varying levels of reward and/or costs, as well as the administered drug, 110 on choosing the high-reward/high-cost option, we employed Logistic Bayesian Generalized Linear 111 Mixed Models. For the effort discounting task, the fixed effects included reward (difference between 112 reward magnitudes of the high-cost versus low-cost option), effort (difference between effort 113 requirement of the high-cost versus low-cost option), the administered drug (with placebo set as 114 the reference category), and their interactions. For the delay discounting task, we followed a similar 115 approach, but instead of using difference values, we used the absolute reward and delay levels of 116 the high-cost option, given that the low-cost option remains fixed to a constant value throughout 117 the task. Furthermore, to mitigate the risk of false positive results, all models contained a full 118 random-effects structure (Barr et al., 2013). This approach allowed us to account for individual 119 variability, leading to more robust and reliable findings.

To control for potential confounding effects of fatigue and session, we ran additional separate GLMMs, extending the fixed-effects structures. Specifically, to test for fatigue, we included trial number and its two-way interactions with drug as additional predictors. In separate models, we controlled for session effects by adding session, as well as the two-way interactions between session and drug.

Further, to gain insights into choice behaviour in the absence of any pharmacological manipulations, we conducted additional GLMMs exclusively analysing data from the placebo sessions. These models were identical to the previously described regression analyses, including the full random-effects structure, but excluded the *drug* predictor. This analysis provided estimates of the main effects of task manipulations (i.e., reward and cost sensitivity) under the baseline condition.

To ensure robust and informative Bayesian parameter estimation and avoid issues of unstable parameter estimation that could appear with noninformative and flat priors, we followed the approach recommended by Gelman et al. and implemented weakly informative priors (2008). First, we standardized all nonbinary variables to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 0.5. Then, we used the following priors in our analyses:

Regression Coefficient	$\beta \sim Cauchy(0, 2.5)$
Intercept	$\beta_0 \sim Cauchy(0, 10)$
Correlation Matrix	$\Sigma \sim LKJcorr(1)$
Standard Deviation	$\sigma \sim Student(3, 0, 2.5)$

- 137
- 138

139 <u>7. Fitting Procedure Hierarchical Bayesian Model</u>

140

141 <u>7.1. Model Fitting and Comparison</u>

To identify the model that best describes how rewards are devalued by increasing levels of effort and delay, we employed four commonly used discounting models on participants' choice data from both tasks (Białaszek et al., 2017; Chong et al., 2017; Hartmann et al., 2013; Klein-Flügge et al., 2015): linear (Supplementary Eq. 1), parabolic (Supplementary Eq. 2), hyperbolic (Supplementary Eq. 3), and exponential (Supplementary Eq. 4). To minimize the potential impact of drug administration on the discounting function, we restricted the model fitting to choice data from the (baseline) placebo condition.

149

150
$$SV(t) = R(t) - \kappa * C(t)$$
 (1)

151

152
$$SV(t) = R(t) - \kappa * C(t)^2$$
 (2)

153

154
$$SV(t) = \frac{R(t)}{1 + \exp(\kappa) * C(t)}$$
(3)

156
$$SV(t) = R(t) * e^{-\kappa * C(t)}$$
 (4)

157

All discounting models assume that the subjective value (SV) of an offer is calculated by taking into account the reward (R) and the cost (C) level on trial (t). In the effort discounting task, the cost 160 level is represented by the effort level, which is scaled to the proportion of the maximum voluntary 161 contraction. In the delay discounting task, the cost level is represented by the delay of the high-162 cost option, indicating the number of days necessary to wait to obtain the reward. The degree to 163 which rewards are discounted by increasing levels of costs is modelled by a subject-specific 164 discounting parameter (κ), which quantifies the steepness of each individual's devaluation of 165 rewards as costs increase. Higher values of k represent higher steepness in devaluation, indicating 166 stronger sensitivity to increasing costs, while lower values represent lower steepness, indicating 167 less sensitivity to increasing costs. Importantly, in the effort discounting task, two options with 168 varying levels of reward and effort are presented on each trial, leading to the calculation of two 169 different SVs. In contrast, in the delay discounting task, one option varies in reward and delay, 170 while the other SV is fixed at 20, resulting in the calculation of a single SV for that option per trial. 171 Additionally, note that the κ values for the delay discounting task were modelled in log space to 172 prevent numerical instability caused by highly skewed k values. SVs for the high-reward/high-cost 173 (HC) and the low-reward/low-cost (LC) were then transformed to choice probabilities, using a 174 softmax function (Eq. 5).

175

176
$$P(HC_{(t)}) = \frac{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta)}{\exp(SV(HC_{(t)})*\beta) + \exp(SV(LC_{(t)})*\beta)}$$
(5)

177

178 The choice consistency was modelled using the inverse temperature parameter β .

To determine the best fitting models for describing participants' behaviour in each task, we employed the leave-one-out information criterion (LOOIC), which estimates out-of-sample prediction accuracy by utilizing the log-likelihood. The LOOIC was assessed using the loo package in R (Vehtari et al., 2017). Lower LOOIC values indicate better model fit, similar to traditional information criteria such as AIC and BIC (see Supplementary Table 3).

184

186 <u>7.2. Model Parametrization and Priors</u>

187 For all hierarchical models, we assume that the subject-level parameters are drawn from group-188 level normal distributions. We use Uniform and half-Cauchy distributions for the group-level mean 189 (μ) and standard deviations (σ) of the (baseline) placebo-condition discounting parameters κ and 190 inverse temperature β , respectively. For all shift parameters, which indicate drug-specific effects 191 on κ and β , Gaussian prior distributions were used for the means, and half-Cauchy distributions 192 were used for the standard deviations. Based on previous findings, the standard deviations of all 193 half-Cauchy distributions were set with a location of 0 and a scale of 2.5. Additionally, more 194 restrictive priors were set for the Gaussian distribution of all group-level shift hyperparameters with 195 a location of 0 and a scale of 2 (Knauth & Peters, 2022; Mathar et al., 2022; Wagner et al., 2020). 196 To account for the different degrees of discounting depending on the cost type and the logarithmic 197 transformation of κ in delay discounting, we used distinct ranges for the Uniform distribution of the 198 group-level means in both tasks. These ranges were based on numerically plausible values and 199 previous findings (Knauth & Peters, 2022; Lockwood et al., 2021, 2022; Mathar et al., 2022; 200 Wagner et al., 2020).

 $\mu_{\kappa(Effort)} \sim Uniform(0,5)$

201 In summary, the prior distributions for our hierarchical models are as follows:

- 202
- 203

204 $\mu_{\kappa(Delay)} \sim Uniform(-20,3)$

205 $\sigma_{\kappa} \sim HalfCauchy(0, 2.5)$

- 206
- **~**~~

207 $\mu_{\beta} \sim Uniform(0, 10)$

- 208 $\sigma_{\beta} \sim HalfCauchy(0, 2.5)$
- 209

210 $\mu_{S_r} \sim Normal(0,2)$

211 $\sigma_{S_x} \sim HalfCauchy(0, 2.5)$

212 8. Physiological Measures and Bond-Lader Visual Analogue Scale

213 Participants completed subjective mood ratings using the German version of the Bond and Lader 214 visual analogue scale (Bond & Lader, 1974) at three different time points (T₀, T₁, and T₂). 215 Additionally, blood pressure and heart rate measurements were taken at the same time points 216 using a digital blood pressure monitor (OMRON model M500, Healthcare Europe B.V., The 217 Netherlands). These manipulation checks were conducted at T_0 (before drug administration), T_1 218 (before starting the task, approximately 170 min after haloperidol or 50 min after biperiden intake), 219 and T_2 (after finishing the task, approximately 230 min after haloperidol or 110 min after biperiden 220 intake). These assessments allowed us to examine potential effects of the administered drugs on 221 subjective mood states and physiological parameters. Subjective mood rating scales involved 16 222 binary items presented on a horizontal line on a sheet of paper. Each item consisted of two words 223 describing opposing mood states (e.g., "happy versus sad"), and participants indicated their mood 224 by marking the line closer to one of the two words. Based on a factor analysis using a principal 225 component solution and orthogonal rotation of the factor matrix, three separate factor scores were 226 extracted: alertness, contentedness, and calmness. Self-ratings were analysed by measuring the 227 distance in millimetres from the end of the line to the subject's mark. These measurements were 228 then log-transformed to correct for skewness (Bond & Lader, 1974). In addition, once per session, 229 participants completed an effort rating, in which they were required to rate each effort level they 230 encountered during the tasks. Furthermore, prior to beginning the effort discounting task, 231 participants completed the trail-making test A, and we measured participants' maximum voluntary 232 contraction (MVC).

233 To analyse the effects of the drugs on mood ratings, physiological measures, trail-making 234 test response times, MVC, and subjective effort perception ratings, we applied Bayesian Linear 235 Mixed Effects Models. For mood ratings and physiological measures, the models included the 236 factors time (T₀, T₁, and T₂), drug (PLC, HAL, BIP), and their interaction as fixed effects, with 237 subject-specific intercepts. Similarly, for the trail-making test, MVC, and effort ratings, which were 238 measured once per session, the models included drug (PLC, HAL, BIP), session (Session 1, 239 Session 2, Session 3), and their interaction as fixed effects, with subject-specific intercepts. For 240 analysing effort ratings, we additionally included effort levels as fixed effects in the model. For parameter estimation, we used non-informative priors (the brms default) and ran four chains with
3000 samples (1000 samples for warmup).

Importantly, to test whether credible changes in physiological parameters or mood ratings induced by drug administration could explain changes in behaviour, we used Bayesian correlation tests to examine possible associations. We correlated difference values (T₀ vs. timepoints with credible drug-induced influences; i.e., T₂ for mood ratings, T₁ and T₂ for physiological parameters) with the mean estimates of all shift parameters that were credibly modulated by either haloperidol or biperiden.

249

250 <u>9. Decision Times Analysis</u>

Similarly, to the model-agnostic analysis of the choice data, we performed a separate analysis focusing on participants' decision times in both tasks using Bayesian Linear Mixed Models. In contrast to the previous analysis, with binary choice data as the outcome variable with a Bernoulli response distribution and a logit link function, here, we used the log-transformed decision times (in milliseconds) as the outcome variable with a Gaussian distribution function. We then regressed the decision times to the same set of fixed-effect predictors, including drug, reward, cost (i.e., delay or effort), and their respective interaction terms.

However, in order to ensure full model convergence, we reduced the random-effects structure (the full random-effects structure led to convergence issues, indicated by r-hat values > 1.05). Specifically, we removed the three-way interaction effect (interaction between drug, reward, and cost type), including only main and two-way interaction effects in the random effects structure. As mentioned earlier, we applied weakly informative priors, scaling nonbinary variables to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 0.5. Posterior distributions of parameter estimates were obtained by running four chains with 3000 samples, including 1000 samples for warmup.

265

266 <u>10. Computational Parameter Estimates, Self-Rating Scores, and Demographics</u>

As a last step of our analysis, we examined potential associations between the discounting parameters κ and self-reported questionnaire ratings, including the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES)

269 and Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-15 (BIS-15), with all subscales, and Beck Depression Inventory 270 (BDI). We also investigated the relationship of both model parameters with demographic variables 271 (sex and age). To this aim, we conducted four separate robust linear regressions, using the mean 272 estimates of the discounting parameter κ from the placebo condition of both tasks, serving as a 273 baseline value for each participants' discounting behaviour. We chose robust regression models 274 because they have been shown to be less sensitive to the influence of outliers (Yu & Yao, 2017). 275 We regressed this outcome against predictors of age, sex, and the z-scored total scores of all 276 questionnaire scores. Further, to gain insights into the effects of each subscale of the apathy and 277 impulsivity questionnaires, we again performed separate robust regression models, this time using 278 the z-scored subscale scores of both questionnaires as predictors.

Supplementary References

- Barr, D. J., Levy, R., Scheepers, C., & Tily, H. J. (2013). Random effects structure for confirmatory
 hypothesis testing: Keep it maximal. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 68(3).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2012.11.001
- Białaszek, W., Marcowski, P., & Ostaszewski, P. (2017). Physical and cognitive effort discounting
 across different reward magnitudes: Tests of discounting models. *PloS One*, 12(7),
 e0182353. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182353
- Bond, A., & Lader, M. (1974). The use of analogue scales in rating subjective feelings. *The British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 47(3), 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.20448341.1974.tb02285.x
- Chong, T. T.-J., Apps, M., Giehl, K., Sillence, A., Grima, L. L., & Husain, M. (2017).
 Neurocomputational mechanisms underlying subjective valuation of effort costs. *PLoS Biology*, 15(2), e1002598. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002598
- Gelman, A., Jakulin, A., Pittau, M. G., & Su, Y.-S. (2008). A weakly informative default prior
 distribution for logistic and other regression models. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 2(4),
 1360–1383. https://doi.org/10.1214/08-AOAS191
- Hartmann, M. N., Hager, O. M., Tobler, P. N., & Kaiser, S. (2013). Parabolic discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Behavioural Processes*, 100, 192–196.

299 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2013.09.014

- Klein-Flügge, M. C., Kennerley, S. W., Saraiva, A. C., Penny, W. D., & Bestmann, S. (2015).
 Behavioral modeling of human choices reveals dissociable effects of physical effort and
 temporal delay on reward devaluation. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 11(3), e1004116.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004116
- Knauth, K., & Peters, J. (2022). Trial-wise exposure to visual emotional cues increases
 physiological arousal but not temporal discounting. *Psychophysiology*, 59(4), e13996.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13996

Lockwood, P. L., Abdurahman, A., Gabay, A. S., Drew, D., Tamm, M., Husain, M., & Apps, M. A.
J. (2021). Aging Increases Prosocial Motivation for Effort. *Psychological Science*,
956797620975781. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620975781

Lockwood, P. L., Wittmann, M. K., Nili, H., Matsumoto-Ryan, M., Abdurahman, A., Cutler, J.,
Husain, M., & Apps, M. A. J. (2022). Distinct neural representations for prosocial and selfbenefiting effort. *Current Biology: CB*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2022.08.010

- Mathar, D., Erfanian Abdoust, M., Marrenbach, T., Tuzsus, D., & Peters, J. (2022). The
 catecholamine precursor Tyrosine reduces autonomic arousal and decreases decision
 thresholds in reinforcement learning and temporal discounting. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 18(12), e1010785. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010785
- Vehtari, A., Gelman, A., & Gabry, J. (2017). Practical Bayesian model evaluation using leave-oneout cross-validation and WAIC. *Statistics and Computing*, 27(5), 1413–1432.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11222-016-9696-4
- Wagner, B., Clos, M., Sommer, T., & Peters, J. (2020). Dopaminergic Modulation of Human
 Intertemporal Choice: A Diffusion Model Analysis Using the D2-Receptor Antagonist
 Haloperidol. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 40(41), 7936–7948. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0592-20.2020

Yu, C., & Yao, W. (2017). Robust linear regression: A review and comparison. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 46(8), 6261–6282.
https://doi.org/10.1080/03610918.2016.1202271

- 327
- 328
- 329
- 549
- 330
- 331
- 332

333 Supplementary Figures





Supplementary Fig. 1. Choice Behaviour in the placebo (baseline) condition. Posterior distributions and 95% HDI of the Logistic Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models depict the estimate of each task parameter on choosing the high-cost option. (a) Higher reward magnitudes increased the overall willingness to invest physical effort for a corresponding reward in the effort discounting task. (b) Higher levels of effort had the opposite effect. (c) Similarly, higher reward magnitudes increased the likelihood to choose the high-cost option in the delay discounting task. (d) In contrast, higher levels of delay decreased the willingness to choose the high-reward/high-delay option. Bold dots represent the mean group-level estimate of the posterior distribution. The horizontal bars represent the group-level 95% highest density interval.



Supplementary Fig. 2. Model Validation for the Effort (a-c) and Delay Discounting Task (d-f). Plots depict the averaged overall proportion of choosing the high-cost option as a function of reward and cost for both the effort (a, b, c) and the delay (d, e, f) discounting task. The upper panels display the actual data and the lower panels present the simulated data for comparison. Group-level means are indicated by dots, with error bars representing the standard error of the mean. In the effort discounting task, reward levels are presented as the difference in magnitude between the high- and low-cost option, and in the delay discounting task, reward levels are shown as the reward value of the high-cost option. Likewise, the effort level corresponds to the difference between the proportions of the individually calibrated MVC of the high and low-cost option, while the delay levels indicate the delay of the high-cost option.



Supplementary Fig. 3. Parameter Recovery of the Group-Level Posterior Distributions for the Effort (a-f) and Delay Discounting Task (g-l). We tested the ability of our models to recover parameters using simulated datasets. Each panel displays the actual distribution (red) of each parameter of interest alongside ten corresponding simulated datasets (blue). Horizontal bars, depicted in red, represent the group-level 95% HDI of the actual parameter estimate, with dots indicating the mean of the distribution. The shaded area in blue depicts the 95% HDI of the simulated parameter estimates. We evaluated whether the mean estimates of the simulated group-level parameter values fell within the 95% HDI of the true parameter distribution. The parameter recovery analysis of the group-level distribution demonstrated positive results, as all mean parameter estimates of the simulated data are located within the 95% HDI of the actual dataset.



Supplementary Fig. 4. Parameter Recovery of the Subject-Level Parameters for the Effort (a-f) and Delay Discounting Task (g-I). We calculated the Pearson correlation coefficients between the mean subject-level posterior distribution of the simulated and actual data. For the simulated data, subject-level means were averaged across each dataset. The correlation coefficients demonstrate strong to excellent correlations (all r > 0.8), further confirming that the models are able to accurately to recover the actual task parameter values.



Supplementary Fig. 5. Physiological Effects of Drug Administration. Plots depict the change in each physiological parameter following drug administration. (a) Diastolic BP decreased at T1 (HDI_{Mean} = -3.75, HDI_{95%} = [-5.71; -1.85]) and T2 (HDI_{Mean} = -2.99, HDI_{95%} = [-4.96; -1.07]) compared to T0. However, we did not find a credible main or interaction effect of drug, implying that diastolic BP decreases as the task progresses irrespective of drug administration. (b) Systolic BP reflected notable two-way biperiden interactions at T1 and T2 (Biperiden x T1: HDI_{Mean} = -3.91, HDI_{95%} = [-7.74; -1.07]; Biperiden x T2: HDI_{Mean} = -4.80, HDI_{95%} = [-8.74; -0.95]), suggesting a more pronounced decrease in systolic BP following Biperiden application. (c) Heart rate was reduced at T1 (HDI_{Mean} = -6.82, HDI_{95%} = [-10.74; -2.97]) and T2 (HDI_{Mean} = -7.88, HDI_{95%} = [-11.83; -3.89]) relative to T0. A credible two-way interaction was found between Biperiden at T1 and T2 (Biperiden x T1: HDI_{Mean} = -6.82, HDI_{95%} = [-11.83; -3.89]), indicating that, analogously to the drop in systolic BP, the drop in heart rate at T1 and T2 is more pronounced following biperiden administration compared to placebo. Dots represent the group-level mean, error bars depict the standard error of the mean.



Supplementary Fig. 6. Subjective Mood Rating Effects of Drug Administration. Plots show alterations in subjective mood ratings following drug administration. No credible effects of time or drug were found for (a) contentedness and (b) calmness ratings. However, (c) alertness ratings notably decreased over time, exhibiting a credible drop at both T1 (HDI_{Mean} = -0.08, HDI_{95%} = [-0.16; -0.01]) and T2 (HDI_{Mean} = -0.23, HDI_{95%} = [-0.30; -0.15]) compared to T0. Importantly, at T2, credible twoway interaction effects were found for biperiden and haloperidol (Biperiden x T2: HDI_{Mean} = -0.15, HDI_{95%} = [-0.26; -0.05]; Haloperidol x T2: HDI_{Mean} = -0.15, HDI_{95%} = [-0.25; -0.04]), suggesting that both drugs led to more pronounced reductions in alertness ratings towards the end of the experiment, compared to placebo. Dots represent the group-level mean, error bars depict the standard error of the mean.



483 484 405 406 407 408 409 410 411 412

Supplementary Fig. 7. Drug Effects on Trail-Making Test Performance, Subjective Effort Ratings, and MVC. (a) No credible drug effects were observed for response times during trail-making test A. However, credible main effects of session were found (Session 2: HDI_{Mean} = -4.77, HDI_{95%} = [-8.41; -1.17]; Session 3: HDI_{Mean} = -6.40, HDI_{95%} = [-10.14; -2.66]), suggesting that participants became faster after the first session, possibly due to familiarity with the task. (**b**) Effort ratings were modulated only by increasing effort levels (HDI_{Mean} = 5.15, HDI_{95%} = [4.81; 5.49]), suggesting no drug effects on the subjective experience of effort demand. (c) MVC was not credibly modulated by drug administration, indicating that participant's ability to exert effort was not modulated by drug either. Dots represent the group-level mean and error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Supplementary Fig. 8. Decision Times in milliseconds (ms) in the Effort (left panel) and Delay (right panel) Discounting Tasks. (a) Overall decision times in the effort discounting task (left) were not affected by haloperidol or biperiden. However, in the delay discounting task (right), haloperidol reduced the decision times. (b) Decision times decreased with larger rewards. Haloperidol reduced this speed-up effect in both the effort (left) and delay discounting task (right panel). (c) Conversely, decision times increased with higher cost levels. This effect was not modulated by any drug in the effort discounting task (left). However, in the delay discounting task (right), haloperidol diminished the decelerating effect of increasing delay levels. **a** shows group-level (single-subject) means represented by bold (light) dots. **b** and **c** display averaged group-level means per reward and cost level, with error bars representing the standard error of the mean. Reward levels are presented as the difference in magnitude between the high- and low-cost option in the effort level represents the difference between the proportions of the individually calibrated MVC of the high- and low-cost option, while the delay level indicates the delay of the high-cost option.



Supplementary Fig. 9. Drug Effects on Decision Times. Posterior distributions and 95% HDI of the Bayesian Linear Mixed Models depict the estimate of each effect on decision times. (a) In the effort discounting task, overall decision times were not credibly influenced by either haloperidol or biperiden. (b) Notably, a haloperidol-by-reward interaction revealed a reduced reward sensitivity after haloperidol administration. (c) On the other hand, sensitivity towards increasing levels of effort is not affected by either drug. (d) In the delay discounting task, haloperidol credibly reduced overall decision times, while biperiden did not show any credible effect. (e) Analogous to the effort discounting task, a credible haloperidol-by-reward interaction demonstrate reduced reward sensitivity following haloperidol administration. (f) Furthermore, haloperidol administration credibly reduced delay sensitivity, while biperiden had no effect on the impact of delay on decision times. Bold dots represent the mean group-level estimate of the posterior distribution. The horizontal bars represent the group-level 95% highest density interval.

Supplementary Tables

Supplementary Table 1. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Effort Discounting
Task, Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug, Reward
(Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Reward Level), Effort (Difference between High-Cost
vs. Low-Cost Effort Level), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	2.544	0.219	2.116	2.988
Biperiden	0.620	0.207	0.230	1.048
Haloperidol	-0.532	0.203	-0.943	-0.136
Reward	3.436	0.251	2.961	3.945
Effort	-1.638	0.122	-1.874	-1.402
Biperiden x Reward	0.802	0.292	0.256	1.409
Haloperidol x Reward	-0.296	0.257	-0.797	0.203
Biperiden x Effort	-0.011	0.153	-0.309	0.303
Haloperidol x Effort	0.084	0.121	-0.150	0.321
Reward x Effort	0.150	0.183	-0.212	0.509
Biperiden x Reward x Effort	0.104	0.295	-0.476	0.675
Haloperidol x Reward x Effort	-0.223	0.238	-0.682	0.256

451 **Supplementary Table 2.** Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Delay Discounting Task, Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug, Reward (High-Cost Option Reward), Delay (High-Cost Option Delay), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	19.555	2.629	14.436	24.643
Biperiden	-1.315	1.263	-4.147	0.655
Haloperidol	-0.046	1.095	-2.648	1.884
Reward	55.637	7.095	41.762	69.382
Delay	-2.291	0.522	-3.303	-1.250
Biperiden x Reward	-3.871	3.478	-11.873	1.453
Haloperidol x Reward	-1.271	2.952	-8.257	4.037
Biperiden x Delay	0.781	0.481	-0.104	1.807
Haloperidol x Delay	1.332	0.540	0.328	2.440
Reward x Delay	-2.804	1.382	-5.521	-0.142
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	1.054	1.333	-1.361	4.003
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	2.383	1.525	-0.465	5.514

458 459 460 **Supplementary Table 3.** Model comparison for the effort and delay discounting task. To compare the validity of each model, we used the leave-one-out cross-validation information criterion (LOOIC) procedure. A lower LOOIC score indicates a better-fitting model.

Model	Effort	Delay
	LOOIC	LOOIC
Parabolic	15109.7*	27279.6
Linear	17337.5	26041.5
Hyperbolic	18477.9	25662.4*
Exponential	17961.2	26217.5

463 Supplementary Table 4. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Effort Discounting Task –
464 Baseline Session; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Reward
465 (Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Reward Level), Effort (Difference between High-Cost vs.
466 Low-Cost Effort Level), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%	
(Intercept)	2.747	0.288	2.199	3.331	
Reward	3.802	0.342	3.174	4.512	
Effort	-1.664	0.148	-1.957	-1.373	
Reward x Effort	0.120	0.235	-0.345	0.587	

471 472 473 **Supplementary Table 5.** Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Delay Discounting Task – Baseline Session; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Reward (High-Cost Option Reward), Delay (High-Cost Option Delay), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	25.867	4.242	17.793	34.506
Reward	72.914	11.447	50.953	96.234
Delay	-3.793	1.036	-5.985	-1.853
Reward x Delay	-6.699	2.927	-12.868	-1.206

477 478 479 **Supplementary Table 6.** Bayesian Linear Mixed Models of the Effort Discounting Task, Regressing Decision Times on Predictors for Drug, Reward (Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Reward Level), Effort (Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Effort Level), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	7.047	0.038	6.973	7.124
Biperiden	-0.009	0.027	-0.062	0.045
Haloperidol	0.016	0.032	-0.047	0.078
Reward	-0.183	0.015	-0.213	-0.154
Effort	0.084	0.011	0.063	0.105
Biperiden x Reward	0.005	0.015	-0.024	0.035
Haloperidol x Reward	0.036	0.014	0.009	0.063
Biperiden x Effort	0.002	0.012	-0.022	0.025
Haloperidol x Effort	-0.021	0.013	-0.047	0.003
Reward x Effort	0.083	0.016	0.051	0.116
Biperiden x Reward x Effort	-0.020	0.023	-0.067	0.026
Haloperidol x Reward x Effort	0.000	0.023	-0.045	0.047

483 484 485 **Supplementary Table 7.** Bayesian Linear Mixed Models of the Delay Discounting Task, Regressing Decision Times on Predictors for Drug, Reward (High-Cost Option Reward), Delay (High-Cost Option Delay), and their Interaction Terms.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	6.974	0.028	6.922	7.032
Biperiden	0.019	0.023	-0.027	0.065
Haloperidol	-0.077	0.023	-0.123	-0.031
Reward	-0.168	0.011	-0.190	-0.145
Delay	0.036	0.008	0.020	0.053
Biperiden x Reward	0.002	0.010	-0.017	0.022
Haloperidol x Reward	0.029	0.009	0.011	0.046
Biperiden x Delay	-0.003	0.008	-0.020	0.013
Haloperidol x Delay	-0.020	0.008	-0.036	-0.003
Reward x Delay	0.005	0.011	-0.017	0.027
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	0.013	0.016	-0.019	0.044
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	-0.002	0.016	-0.033	0.030
490 491 492 Supplementary Table 8. Fixed effects from robust linear regression model with κ as dependent variable and questionnaire total scores, sex, and age as independent variable for the effort discounting task.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	p
(Intercept)	-0.059	0.051	-1.157	0.252
Sex	0.010	0.016	0.661	0.511
Age	0.007	0.002	2.770	0.008
BIS-15	-0.006	0.008	-0.828	0.411
AES	0.006	0.009	0.709	0.481
BDI	-0.006	0.011	-0.584	0.562

496 497 498 499 Supplementary Table 9. Fixed effects from robust linear regression model with κ as dependent variable and questionnaire total scores, sex, and age as independent variable for the delay discounting task.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	p
(Intercept)	-4.621	1.645	-2.808	0.007
Sex	-0.510	0.531	-0.962	0.340
Age	0.011	0.076	0.146	0.885
BIS-15	-0.197	0.282	-0.700	0.487
AES	0.458	0.312	1.471	0.147
BDI	-0.023	0.217	-0.108	0.915

Supplementary Table 10. Fixed effects from robust linear regression model with κ as dependent 503 variable and questionnaire subscales as independent variable for the effort discounting task.

505	
504	

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	p
(Intercept)	0.098	0.007	13.088	< 0.001
BIS-15 attentional	0.005	0.011	0.497	0.6212
BIS-15 motor	-0.025	0.013	-1.863	0.0678
BIS-15 non-planning	0.010	0.007	1.475	0.1459
AES - Apathy	0.016	0.009	1.781	0.0804
AES - Disinterest	-0.008	0.007	-1.083	0.2835
AES – Social Withdrawal	0.007	0.011	0.579	0.5650

508 509 Supplementary Table 11. Fixed effects from robust linear regression model with κ as dependent variable and questionnaire subscales as independent variable for the delay discounting task.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	q
(Intercept)	-4.728	0.228	-20.717	< 0.001
BIS-15 attentional	-0.605	0.336	-1.801	0.0771
BIS-15 motor	0.039	0.345	0.114	0.9100
BIS-15 non-planning	0.224	0.286	0.783	0.4372
AES - Apathy	0.311	0.294	1.056	0.2957
AES - Disinterest	0.432	0.262	1.647	0.1054
AES – Social Withdrawal	-0.252	0.232	-1.086	0.2824

Supplementary Table 12. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Effort Discounting Task
 Fatigue Effects; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug,
 Reward (Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Reward Level), Effort (Difference between High Cost vs. Low-Cost Effort Level), and their Interaction Terms, as well as Trial Number and two-way
 Trial number x Drug interactions.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	2.602	0.224	2.169	3.056
Biperiden	0.606	0.210	0.206	1.030
Haloperidol	-0.475	0.216	-0.903	-0.045
Reward	3.516	0.256	3.037	4.049
Delay	-1.682	0.122	-1.919	-1.438
Trial Number	-0.605	0.073	-0.747	-0.462
Biperiden x Reward	0.792	0.299	0.218	1.398
Haloperidol x Reward	-0.196	0.272	-0.718	0.348
Biperiden x Delay	0.012	0.157	-0.294	0.328
Haloperidol x Delay	0.024	0.124	-0.221	0.274
Biperiden x Trial Number	0.142	0.107	-0.068	0.350
Haloperidol x Trial Number	-0.431	0.101	-0.632	-0.232
Reward x Delay	0.132	0.186	-0.241	0.490
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	0.117	0.298	-0.480	0.676
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	-0.262	0.248	-0.740	0.238

Supplementary Table 13. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Delay Discounting Task
 - Fatigue Effects; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug, Reward
 (High-Cost Option Reward), Delay (High-Cost Option Delay), and their Interaction Terms, as well as
 Trial Number and two-way Trial number x Drug interactions.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	20.230	2.637	15.137	25.461
Biperiden	-1.318	1.235	-4.043	0.695
Haloperidol	-0.019	1.080	-2.477	1.921
Reward	57.451	7.123	43.829	71.553
Delay	-2.295	0.537	-3.341	-1.240
Trial Number	-0.204	0.064	-0.326	-0.079
Biperiden x Reward	-3.878	3.407	-11.446	1.564
Haloperidol x Reward	-1.219	2.927	-7.948	4.017
Biperiden x Delay	0.792	0.490	-0.106	1.843
Haloperidol x Delay	1.338	0.557	0.243	2.481
Biperiden x Trial Number	0.146	0.088	-0.028	0.320
Haloperidol x Trial Number	-0.003	0.087	-0.173	0.163
Reward x Delay	-2.808	1.409	-5.618	-0.059
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	1.086	1.363	-1.365	4.061
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	2.369	1.554	-0.687	5.574

Supplementary Table 14. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Effort Discounting Task
 - Session Effects; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug, Reward
 (Difference between High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Reward Level), Effort (Difference between High-Cost vs.
 Low-Cost Effort Level), and their Interaction Terms, as well as Session and two-way Session x Drug
 interactions.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	2.542	0.213	2.133	2.966
Biperiden	0.594	0.199	0.217	1.007
Haloperidol	-0.542	0.193	-0.924	-0.176
Reward	3.411	0.247	2.944	3.916
Delay	-1.648	0.120	-1.883	-1.409
Session	0.488	0.183	0.125	0.852
Biperiden x Reward	0.783	0.288	0.253	1.373
Haloperidol x Reward	-0.284	0.250	-0.776	0.207
Biperiden x Delay	-0.018	0.149	-0.308	0.279
Haloperidol x Delay	0.092	0.121	-0.142	0.326
Biperiden x Session	-0.158	0.305	-0.758	0.445
Haloperidol x Session	-0.426	0.293	-1.018	0.132
Reward x Delay	0.148	0.182	-0.216	0.499
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	0.090	0.290	-0.486	0.642
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	-0.222	0.237	-0.685	0.241

Supplementary Table 15. Bayesian Generalized Linear Mixed Models of the Delay Discounting Task 543 – Session Effects; Regressing Choices (High-Cost vs. Low-Cost Option) on Predictors for Drug, Reward 544 (High-Cost Option Reward), Delay (High-Cost Option Delay), and their Interaction Terms, as well as 545 Session and two-way Session x Drug interactions.

Parameter	Estimate	Est. Error	2.5%	97.5%
(Intercept)	20.491	2.751	15.007	25.963
Biperiden	-1.355	1.260	-4.100	0.616
Haloperidol	0.024	1.121	-2.543	2.007
Reward	58.132	7.390	43.331	72.868
Delay	-2.286	0.539	-3.353	-1.230
Session	0.400	0.242	-0.062	0.871
Biperiden x Reward	-3.924	3.464	-11.646	1.420
Haloperidol x Reward	-1.081	3.032	-8.141	4.302
Biperiden x Delay	0.787	0.487	-0.087	1.843
Haloperidol x Delay	1.347	0.567	0.219	2.495
Biperiden x Session	-0.064	0.375	-0.807	0.657
Haloperidol x Session	-0.315	0.370	-1.044	0.392
Reward x Delay	1.088	1.349	-1.314	4.003
Biperiden x Reward x Delay	2.430	1.585	-0.660	5.601
Haloperidol x Reward x Delay	-2.809	1.429	-5.678	0.008

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Brain and Cognition

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/b&c



Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in stroke patients

Mani Erfanian Abdoust^{a, c, *}, Stefan Knecht^b, Masud Husain^{d, e, f}, Campbell Le Heron^{g, h}, Gerhard Jocham^a, Bettina Studer^{b, c}

^a Biological Psychology of Decision Making, Institute of Experimental Psychology, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

^b Institute of Clinical Neuroscience and Medical Psychology, Medical Faculty, Heinrich-Heine-University, Düsseldorf, Germany

^c Mauritius Hospital Meerbusch, Meerbusch, Germany

^d Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

^e Nuffield Department of Clinical Neuroscience, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

^f Division of Clinical Neurology, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford University Hospitals Trust, Oxford, UK

^g Department of Medicine, University of Otago (Christchurch), New Zealand

^h New Zealand Brain Research Institute, Christchurch, New Zealand

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Motivation Stroke Effort Neurorehabilitation Cost-benefit decision making Decision making

ABSTRACT

Motivational deficits in patients recovering from stroke are common and can reduce active participation in rehabilitation and thereby impede functional recovery. We investigated whether stroke patients with clinically reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during functional rehabilitative training (n = 30) display systematic alterations in effort-based decision making compared to age, sex, and severity-matched stroke patients (n = 30) whose drive appeared unaffected. Notably, the two groups did not differ in self-reported ratings of apathy and depression. However, on an effort-based decision-making task, stroke patients with clinically apparent drive impairment showed intact willingness to accept effort for reward, but were more likely to fail to execute the required effort compared to patients without apparent drive impairments. In other words, the decision behavioural assessment revealed that stroke patients that displayed reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during inpatient neurorehabilitation failed to persist in goal-directed effort production, even over very short periods. These findings indicate that reduced drive during rehabilitative therapy in post-stroke patients is not due to a diminished motivation to invest physical effort, but instead is related to a reduced persistence with effortful behaviour.

1. Introduction

Stroke remains a leading cause of death and long-term disability worldwide (Feigin et al., 2022). Recovery of lost physical functions, cognitive abilities, and quality of life after a stroke can be achieved through neurorehabilitative training (Platz, 2019). Such neurorehabilitative therapy is characterized by effortful training of physical and cognitive abilities and requires active, effortful participation and a high level of motivation and perseverance (Studer & Knecht, 2016; Studer et al., 2021; Yoshida et al., 2021). Rehabilitation specialists apply multiple motivational strategies to encourage their patients to perform rehabilitative training actively and persistently (Danzl et al., 2012; Oyake et al., 2020a, 2020b). Yet, despite therapists' best efforts, reductions in motivation, drive, and persistence are well documented in stroke patients (Nicholson et al., 2013; West & Bernhardt, 2012). Potential reasons for some stroke patients failing to fully and enduringly engage in rehabilitative training have been discussed in the extant literature. These reasons include social and environmental factors (Maclean & Pound, 2000), patients' beliefs and attitudes (Morris et al., 2017), dissatisfaction due to boredom or feelings of disempowerment (Luker et al., 2015), as well as neuropsychiatric conditions such as depression and apathy (Gaete & Bogousslavsky, 2008; Mayo et al., 2009).

Since functional recovery after stroke is dose-dependent on the amount of neurorehabilitative training performed (Knecht et al., 2016; Kwakkel et al., 2004; Van Peppen et al., 2004), any reduction in therapy engagement and persistence is likely to reduce patients' outcomes. Yet, quantitative research on the motivational impairments after stroke

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2023.106123

Received 5 October 2023; Received in revised form 22 December 2023; Accepted 23 December 2023 Available online 6 January 2024 0278-2626/© 2023 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.



^{*} Corresponding author at: Biological Psychology of Decision Making, Institute of Experimental Psychology, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Universitätstraße 1 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany.

E-mail address: erfanian@hhu.de (M. Erfanian Abdoust).

remains sparse, and to the best of our knowledge, no objective measures that allow characterising individual patients' motivational impairments observed during clinical practice have been developed to date.

In the current study, we tested whether stroke patients that demonstrated low drive and persistence during post-acute inpatient neurorehabilitation, as identified by their treating rehabilitation specialists, showed systematic shifts in effort-based decision making assessed with an objective behavioural probe. Effort-based decision making is characterised by a trade-off between a rewarding outcome and the required physical and/or mental effort to obtain this reward (e.g., Chong et al., 2016), and is supported by mesolimbic and nigrostriatal dopamine pathways and medial frontal brain areas, including ventromedial prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex (see e.g., reviews by Bailey et al., 2016; Le Heron et al., 2019; Lopez-Gamundi et al., 2021; Salamone et al., 2018; Walton & Bouret, 2019).

Since neurorehabilitation requires engaging in effortful training for the prospect of a long-term reward (successful recovery), we reasoned that effort-based decision-making paradigms are well suited for identifying and characterising potential systematic and generalised motivational impairments after stroke that can manifest in reduced drive and endurance during neurorehabilitation. Indeed, previous research in other neurological (Le Heron et al., 2018a; Muhammed et al., 2016) and psychiatric conditions (Saleh et al., 2021a; Treadway et al., 2012) affecting dopaminergic and prefrontal networks have linked diminished motivation and goal-directed behaviour to systematic alterations in effort-based decision making. In stroke patients, some neuropsychological investigations were able to link (the risk of) apathy and depression to basal ganglia and frontal lesions (Carnes-Vendrell et al., 2019; Douven et al., 2017; Hama et al., 2011; Nickel & Thomalla, 2017 but see also Aubignat et al., 2023; Douven et al., 2020), broadly consistent with the idea that diminished motivation in stroke patients might be linked to neuropathological changes in networks supporting effort-based decision making.

We compared, for the first time, stroke patients with and without observed motivational impairments during neurorehabilitative training (matched in age, gender, and stroke severity) on a previously validated effort-based decision-making paradigm (Chong et al., 2016). In this task, patients were repeatedly presented with a monetary offer and a physical effort required to obtain it. Effort and reward magnitudes were parametrically varied from trial to trial, and on each trial, patients decided whether to accept or reject the offer. If they chose to accept a given offer, they next had to perform the physical effort indicated to obtain the reward. The design of the task allows to assess individuals' general willingness to exert physical efforts for rewards, as well as to dissect how much their motivation is affected by effort requirements ("effort sensitivity") versus by the magnitude of rewards ("reward sensitivity") (see also Bonnelle et al., 2015). We hypothesised that stroke patients with diminished drive during rehabilitative training would display a lower effort willingness than control patients, indicating that the motivational problems observed during rehabilitative training in some stroke patients are a manifestation of a situation-unspecific disbalance in the valuation trade-off between effort and reward. We also aimed to identify whether this expected reduced willingness to exert effort for reward in the patients displaying reduced drive and endurance during rehabilitative training was linked to an increased effort sensitivity or decreased reward sensitivity, in order to inform further development of therapeutic strategies during post-stroke rehabilitation.

The patients assessed in the current study were identified by their rehabilitation specialists as showing diminished drive, initiative, and perseverance during rehabilitative training, despite having the physical capacity and abilities to perform at higher levels. They required constant external motivational prompting to initiate and sustain with therapist-guided functional exercises and nurse-assisted self-care activities. These behavioural observations align with the manifestation of reduced goal-directed behaviour in the neuropsychiatric syndrome of apathy (Marin, 1990). Apathy, characterised by diminished goal-directed

behaviour, emotion, and cognition (Robert et al., 2009), is prevalent in a third of stroke survivors (van Dalen et al., 2013) and impedes physical and cognitive recovery post stroke (Mikami et al., 2013). Two recent effort-based decision-making studies in Parkinson's disease and cerebral small vessel disease found that patients with apathy demonstrated a reduced willingness to exert effort for rewards, driven by a reduced reward sensitivity (Le Heron et al., 2018a, 2018b). We therefore also administered an apathy self-report questionnaire to our stroke patients and tested whether the differences in effort-based decision making observed between our two clinical groups were explained by apathy. Finally, as depression has also been found to affect effort-based decisionmaking behaviour (Hartmann et al., 2013; Treadway et al., 2012), and post-stroke depression has been linked to lesions in the neural networks supporting effort-based decision making, specifically basal ganglia and frontal cortex (Douven et al., 2017), we additionally assessed patients' depression status through questionnaire measures.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Patients

The study was conducted at the Mauritius Neurorehabilitation Hospital in Meerbusch, Germany. Two groups of adult German-speaking stroke patients in the sub-acute stage of recovery took part in this study during inpatient neurorehabilitation: 1) patients who showed reduced (or no) drive, initiation, and endurance during rehabilitative training according to their treating rehabilitation specialists (n = 30, 13 women) and 2) patients who did not display any apparent motivational impairments during rehabilitative treatment. Throughout the methods and results section, we refer to group 1 as "drive-impaired stroke patients" (*DI* group) and group 2 as "not drive-impaired stroke patients" (*control* group). Drive is a distinct feature of goal-directed behaviour that refers to both energization and persistence towards a goal over time (Hebb, 1955; Kringelbach & Berridge, 2016; Wise, 1987). These two dimensions appeared to be lacking during rehabilitative treatment in the stroke patients within our target group.

Patients' drive during rehabilitative treatment was repeatedly rated by treating physical and occupational therapists and nurses during standard clinical practice using Likert scales, and were cross-validated through weekly interdisciplinary team discussions. We verified the clinical validity of these observations and ratings through a retrospective analysis of prospectively collected longitudinal data from an independent sample of 586 stroke patients which revealed that therapists' drive ratings in the first week of inpatient rehabilitative treatment predicted their achieved functional recovery five weeks later, independently of the degree of physical impairment (see Supplementary Material for further details of the Methods and Results). This validation analysis thus confirmed that the drive ratings used for classification in the current study were clinically meaningful.

Exclusion criteria for both groups included severe cognitive impairment, aphasia, and isolation due to colonization with multidrugresistant organisms. Furthermore, we matched DI and control patients for age, gender, and degree of impairment in activities of daily living (i. e., severity) quantified by the Barthel-Index (Lübke et al., 2004; Mahoney & Barthel, 1965). In total, out of the 465 patients that were screened for eligibility, n = 77 fulfilled the inclusion criteria for the DI group (i.e., showed no or little drive during therapy and daily life activities), and n = 388 fulfilled the inclusion criteria for the control group (i.e., were matched to DI individuals for age, gender, and Barthel-Index score). Eventually, 30 patients from each group completed the follow-up (see Supplementary Fig. S1 for a detailed description of the screening and recruitment process). All patients provided written informed consent, and the study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf (protocol no 2017014131).

2.2. Procedure

Patients were tested in a single behavioural testing session. Each session lasted approximately 60 min. The patients completed an effortbased decision-making task and self-report questionnaires assessing symptoms of depression and apathy.

2.3. Effort-based decision-making task

To investigate the willingness to exert effort in return for rewards, patients performed a task which was previously used in healthy volunteers and patients with neurological diseases (Bonnelle et al., 2015; Chong et al., 2018; Le Heron et al., 2018b; Saleh et al., 2021b). At the beginning of each experimental session, each participant's individual maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) was assessed by asking the subjects to grip a handheld dynamometer (Vernier, Orlando, USA) as strongly as possible with their preferred (non-affected) hand. The MVC was calculated by measuring the highest force exerted over three contractions. Then, patients performed a training session to be familiarized with the force required to reach each effort level. On each trial, patients were presented with an image of an apple tree (Fig. 1) that combined information about the obtainable reward (number of apples) and the required physical effort (vertical position of a bar on the trunk of the tree). Patients could either accept or reject the offer and indicated their choice by pressing a "yes" or "no" key of an external computer keyboard.

Accepting an offer resulted in a 5 s window to squeeze a handheld dynamometer to reach the required effort level and maintain the required force for at least 1 s. During this effort production period, a bar that filled the trunk as patients squeezed gave on-line visual force feedback. Successful trials were followed by a feedback phase visualizing the reward earned during the trial. If subjects failed to reach the denoted level or did not maintain the required force continuously for at least 1 s, no apples were gathered. In contrast, rejecting an offer led to a 5 s pause announcing the upcoming trial. To prevent strategic behaviour and temporal discounting effects, all blocks and trials lasted for the same duration, regardless of the previous choice. Importantly, patients had to squeeze after every accepted trial, thus no hypothetical choices were made. Five possible reward levels (2, 4, 8, 12, or 16 apples on the tree), and five possible effort levels (10 %, 27.5 %, 45 %, 62.5 %, or 80 % of the individually determined MVC) were used. Each reward and effort combination (5 x 5 = 25) was sampled a total of four times in a randomized order, adding up to a total of 100 trials split into four blocks consisting of 25 trials each. Patients were instructed to "collect" as many apples as possible by trading off the reward (number of apples) against the cost (the required effort level).

Based on task performance, they received a flexible payment consisting of 0.5 cents for each apple collected. We chose to use real instead of hypothetical payouts due to differences between choices made in hypothetical versus real settings (Camerer & Mobbs, 2017; Galotti, 2007). To reduce fatigue effects, a break of three to five minutes was introduced after each block. These breaks were used to fill out the questionnaires. For each trial, choice (accept/reject), success in performing the required effort (success/fail), decision latency, duration of force, and accomplished force (in Newton), as well as deviations from the effort demand (in Newton and percent), were recorded. To assess participants' subjective effort perception, we asked them to rate the perceived physical demand of each effort level on a 21-point visual rating scale at the end of the experiment, ranging from 0 (*not demanding at all*) to 20 (*extremely demanding*).

2.4. Questionnaires

Patients were administered two depression and apathy questionnaires: the depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (*HADS*) (Petermann, 2011; Zigmond & Snaith, 1983) and the depression subscale of the 21-item version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (*DASS*) (Antony et al., 1998; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). Patients were also asked to complete the German versions of the Apathy Evaluation Scale (*AES*) (Lueken et al., 2006; Marin et al., 1991) as well as a German translation of the Apathy Motivation Index (*AMI*) (Ang et al., 2017). These questionnaires have been extensively validated in clinical cohorts in previous research, with good internal consistency, reliability, specificity, and sensitivity results (Ang et al., 2017; Lueken et al., 2006, 2007; Osman et al., 2012). The questionnaires were completed during the breaks between the experimental blocks. Cronbach's alphas for the total scales of AES, AMI, HADS, and DASS were determined $\alpha = 0.87$, $\alpha = 0.71$, $\alpha = 0.67$, and $\alpha = 0.88$ respectively.

2.5. Analyses of behaviour and questionnaires

As a general measure of task performance, we calculated the proportion of accepted (acceptance rate) and successfully completed accepted trials (success rate) and compared them between groups using non-parametric Mann–Whitney *U* test (due to non-Gaussian distribution of the data: Shapiro-Wilk, p < 0.05 for acceptance and success rate). To test whether the patient groups differed in terms of how their choices and success were governed by reward and effort levels, we conducted two generalized linear mixed effects models with a logistic link function (to account for the binomial distribution of the data), using the *glmer* function from the *lme4* package in R (*lme4* Version 1.1.26; Bates et al.,



Fig. 1. On each trial, participants were presented with an image of an apple tree that combined information about a monetary reward available (number of apples) in return for physical effort required to exert (vertical position of a bar). Patients could either accept ("Yes") or reject ("No") each offer. After accepting an offer, participants had to perform the required effort (adjusted to the maximum force) and maintain the force for at least 1 s, while rejecting an offer led to a short pause. From Le Heron et al. (2018).

2015). These functions included either choice (accept versus reject) or success in performing the required effort (success versus fail) as a binary outcome variable, and fixed effects of effort level, reward level (both continuous), group (categorical), and their interactions.

Additionally, the models contained a random effects structure of subjects and both task-associated variables (i.e., reward and effort level). Categorical responses were coded as binary values and continuous variables were grand mean-centered. To disentangle the dissociable effects of reward and effort sensitivity, i.e., to which degree the choices were affected by variations in reward and effort levels, respectively, we specifically evaluated the following interaction effects: (i) Effort x Group, (ii) Reward x Group, and (iii) Effort x Reward x Group.

In addition, to test whether variations in effort-based decision making can be explained by differences in apathy or depression severity, we repeated the exact same analysis as above twice, but now, instead of categorizing patients as drive-impaired or non-impaired, we grouped them according to (a) apathy and (b) depression state based on questionnaires. Assignment to the apathetic/non-apathetic or depressed/ non-depressed group was performed according to clinical cut-off values. Patients were determined as apathetic when either of the two self-rating scores reached the cut-off value (*n* apathetic = 31 vs. *n* nonapathetic = 29). The same logic was applied to identify *depressed* individuals (n depressed = 13 vs. n non-depressed = 47). Comparisons of questionnaire results were performed with a two-sample unpaired *t*-test, or Mann–Whitney U test, depending on the variable type. Questionnaire scores were entered as continuous variables. Bonferroni correction was applied to correct for multiple comparisons. Self-reported ratings of the perceived effort demand were analysed using a mixed-model ANOVA with rating as dependent variable, group as a between-subject variable, and effort level as a within-subject variable.

Finally, in a supplementary analysis, we explored whether behaviour on the effort-based decision-making task, as quantified by acceptance and success rates, was associated with a specific pattern of brain damage using voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping (VBML; see Supplementary Material for an extended description of the applied methodology).

3. Results

3.1. Patient characteristics and questionnaire results

The two groups were matched on gender, age, type of stroke, and Barthel-Index. Demographics, clinical background variables, and descriptive statistics are presented as means and standard deviations in Table 1. Notably, there were no significant differences between DI and control individuals in apathy scores (as measured on AES and AMI) or depression scores (as measured on DASS and HADS).

3.2. Drive impaired patients differ in effort performance, but not in accept/reject choices

We first compared patients' willingness to engage in effortful trials, indexed by the overall percentage of trials accepted (acceptance rate). This did not reveal any significant differences between DI and control individuals (82.9 % \pm 2.97 and 81.4 % \pm 3.74 for DI and control patients, respectively, z = -0.517, p = 0.605). Next, we used logistic regression to assess how patients' trial-by-trial choices depended on reward and effort level, and whether this differed between patient groups. This analysis showed a significant effect of reward (b = 0.519, z = 5.121, p < 0.001) and effort (b = -5.763, z = -4.029, p < 0.001), but neither a significant main or interaction effect of group (Group: b = 0.057, z = 0.882, p = 0.949; Group × Effort: b = 2.649, z = 1.603, p = 0.109; Group x Reward: b = -0.085, z = -0.648, p = 0.517; Group x Reward x Effort: b = -0.198, z = -0.931, p = 0.352, Fig. 2). This indicates that patients' choices were sensitive to both reward and effort levels, but also that these effects did not differ between groups.

Contrary to our expectations, and unlike findings of previous studies

Table 1

Demographics	, clinical	background	data, and	questionnaire scores.
--------------	------------	------------	-----------	-----------------------

	DI group Control group		Group co	mparison
	(n = 30)	(n = 30)	χ^2/T	р
Gender (<i>n</i> , %)				
Female	13 (46.7)	12 (46.7)	0.07	0.702
Male	17 (53.3)	18 (53.3)	0.07	0.793
Age (M, SEM)	71.76 (1.54)	74.07 (1.57)	-0.84	0.407
Barthel-Index (M, SEM)	50.17 (1.26)	59.50 (1.38)	-1.59	0.117
Age (M, SEM)	71.76 (1.54)	74.07 (1.57)	-0.84	0.407
Days since stroke (M, SEM)	40.57 (4.44)	41.56 (3.56)	0.18	0.861
Diagnosis (n, %)				
Ischemic stroke	28 (93.33)	26 (86.67)	0.74	0.200
Hemorrhagic stroke	2 (6.67)	4 (13.33)	0.74	0.389
Questionnaires (M, SEM)				
DASS-21	5.17 (0.36)	4.03 (0.32)	0.96	0.339
HADS-D	7.10 (0.46)	4.97 (0.39)	2.34	0.061
AES	14.50 (0.65)	12.90 (0.62)	0.74	0.461
AMI				
Total Score	24.55 (0.89)	23.40 (0.88)	0.526	0.601
Behavioural	5.38 (0.39)	5.57 (0.39)	-0.20	0.839
Social	11.10 (0.59)	10.73 (0.59)	0.30	0.766
Emotional	8.07 (0.51)	7.10 (0.47)	1.08	0.281

Note. DASS-21 = depression subscale of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (clinical cut-off \geq 10), HADS-D = depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (clinical cut-off \geq 8), AES = Apathy Evaluation Scale (clinical cut-off \geq 18), AMI = Apathy Motivation Index.

using the same paradigm but in patients with Parkinson's disease and small vessel cerebrovascular disease (Le Heron et al., 2018a, 2018b; Saleh et al., 2021b), a substantial proportion of our sample did not show any effort discounting at all. In other words, they accepted all offers irrespective of effort and/or reward level (10 subjects (33.3 %) in the DI group and 8 subjects (26.6 %) in the control group). A post-hoc chi-square test comparing the number of such individuals did not show any significant group difference ($\chi^2 = 0.318$, p = 0.573). Hence, this behaviour does not appear to be associated with drive state. To ascertain that our pattern of results did not depend on this particular behaviour, we re-ran the same analyses as described above, while excluding individuals that accepted all offers. This analysis yielded the same pattern (no significant differences between groups in terms of choice behaviour, Supplementary Tables S1 and S2).

Next, we repeated the same analyses as above, but now using success (reward attained or not) instead of choice as the dependent variable of interest. On average, patients performed the required force and therefore obtained the reward in 83.9 % of accepted trials. There was a significant group difference, with the DI group achieving the required effort on lower percentage of accepted trials compared to controls (79.8 \pm 3.09 and 88.0 % \pm 2.43, mean \pm SEM for DI and controls, respectively, z = -2.004, p = 0.045). These results show that despite accepting effort-requiring offers as often as control patients, DI patients actually performed the required instrumental effort less consistently. The results of the logistic regression further corroborated these findings. Success rates were related to effort, but not reward level (Reward: b = 0.029, z =1.259, p = 0.208; Effort: b = -6.442, z = -7.925, p < 0.001). Notably, there was no interaction effect of group (Group \times Effort: b = -0.172, z =-0.161, p = 0.872; Group x Reward: b = 0.014, z = 0.495, p = 0.620; Group x Effort x Reward: b = -0.143, z = -1.350, p = 0.177), but a main effect of group (b = -0.885, z = -2.095, p = 0.036; Fig. 2). Together, this indicates that reduced success rates in DI subjects are not due to an increased sensitivity for efforts or a decreased sensitivity for rewards; but rather due to a lack of execution of the willingness to engage in effortful activities and short-term perseverance with effortful activities. This lack of effort execution and perseverance is observed across all levels of effort and is not limited to high efforts alone.

Voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping did not find any statistically significant associations between lesion location and acceptance rate or success rate across both groups.



Fig. 2. Averaged acceptance and success rates are plotted as functions of effort (A, C) and reward (B, D). Acceptance rates decrease as a function of effort (A) and increase as a function of reward (B), with no significant group difference. However, after accepting an offer, DI individuals fail significantly more often, compared to their unaffected counterparts (C, D). Effort levels are presented as proportions of the individually calibrated MVC. Bold (light) dots represent the group (single-subject) mean, error bars and shaded areas represent standard error of the mean.

3.3. DI individuals appear to lack perseverance, not strength

The finding that DI patients are more likely than controls to fail to perform the required instrumental effort may be caused by two factors. To successfully complete a trial after accepting an offer, patients have to pass two binary criteria: First, they must exceed the required effort (produced force; e.g., 80 % of MVC). Second, they have to maintain this force for at least 1 s (persistence). We therefore applied the same logistic regression model as above, with *produced force* and *persistence* as binary dependent variables. Fig. 3 illustrates the proportion of participants who

successfully achieved either of the two criteria across varying levels of effort. There were no significant effects of group on produced force (Group: b = -0.416, z = -0.822, p = 0.411; Group x Reward: b = 0.031, z = 0.830, p = 0.406; Group x Effort: b = -1.303, z = -0.825, p = 0.409; Group x Effort x Reward: b = -0.167, z = -1.162, p = 0.245). In contrast, however, we found a significant main effect of group on persistence (b = -0.937, z = -2.250, p = 0.025), without any significant interactions (Group x Reward: b = -0.013, z = -0.069, p = 0.945; Group x Effort: b = 0.151, z = 0.689, p = 0.491; Group x Effort x Reward: b = -0.035, z = -0.208, p = 0.835). Notably, both variables were modulated by effort



Fig. 3. Patient's performance in the physical effort task, illustrated by the averaged proportion of participants who met each criterion. (A) Across groups, individuals did not differ in their ability to achieve the necessary effort threshold. (B) However, we found a significant group difference in the capability to maintain the force over the target level for at least one second. Effort levels are presented as proportions of the individually calibrated MVC. Bold (light) dots represent the group (single-subject) mean, error bars and shaded areas represent standard error of the mean.

(Effort [produced force]: b = -4.673, z = -4.119, p < 0.001; Effort [persistence]: b = -1.510, z = -9.063, p < 0.001), but not by reward (Reward [produced force]: b = 0.010, z = 0.388, p = 0.698; Reward [persistence]: b = 0.259, z = 1.677, p = 0.094). Together, these results indicate that both groups did not differ in their ability to reach the required force demand. Instead, after reaching the force level, DI patients failed to hold and maintain the effort production more often than control patients, indicating a lack of short-time perseverance with effort. This lack of perseverance in force production occurred across all effort levels.

This finding raises questions about their understanding of the task requirements, specifically the need to sustain the effort for more than 1 s. To address this concern, an additional analysis was conducted, including block and the interaction between block and group as predictors. A Group x Block interaction would indicate that the two groups differed in their initial understanding of the task and potentially showed different patterns of performing the task over time (i.e., learning to maintain effort production for a certain duration). However, the interaction effect did not reach statistical significance (Group x Block: b =0.023, z = 0.190, p = 0.850), suggesting that the groups did not differ in their understanding of the task requirements or in their learning patterns throughout the task. More detailed information on this analysis, along with supplementary analyses of task performance, are presented in the supplementary material (Supplementary Table S3 and Supplementary Figure S2 and S3). Notably, voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping did not reveal statistically significant associations between lesion location and perseveration across both groups.

Finally, we asked patients to rate their subjective perception of effort. While both groups reported increased subjective perception with increasing effort levels, this did not differ between groups (Supplementary Figure S4).

3.4. Effects of depression and apathy on behavioural responses

While we did not find any significant effects of the depression state on behavioural responses, differences in the apathy state (i.e., an apathy score in the clinical range) were associated with changes in terms of choice behaviour. Our analyses revealed a significant two-way interaction between reward and apathy state upon accept/reject choices (b = -0.340, z = -2.750, p = 0.006), that was primarily driven by apathic patients accepting more offers with low rewards than non-apathic patients. These findings indicate altered processing of reward magnitude on decisions about engaging or not in effortful actions. In other words, patients that were less motivated according to self-reported apathy questionnaires displayed a reduced sensitivity to changing rewards (Fig. 4). There were no differences in performance between either depressed vs. non-depressed or apathetic vs. non-apathetic patients. A full table of these analyses and the corresponding results is presented in the Supplementary Material (Supplementary Table S4 – S7).

4. Discussion

Functional recovery after stroke requires motivation to engage in physically demanding rehabilitative training. Unfortunately, reductions in motivation and drive during rehabilitative training are not uncommon post stroke, with mechanisms underlying reduced persistence in effortful training still being elusive. Gaining a deeper understanding of deficits is crucial for enhancing functional rehabilitation strategies and optimizing outcomes for stroke patients.

Therefore, we aimed to investigate decision-making mechanisms underlying effort-based choices in stroke patients, comparing those with and without reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during rehabilitation training, according to their treating rehabilitation specialists. To this end, we used a behavioural probe of effort-based decision making outside of the direct therapy context. We found that stroke patients that demonstrated low drive and persistence during rehabilitative training did not differ from control patients in terms of their willingness to accept or reject an effortful offer. Instead, after choosing to engage in an effortrequiring option, those patients were more likely to fail the physical effort demand – not because of an inability to achieve their target, but because of a lack of persistence in effort production.

Taken together, stroke patients with apparent drive impairments during rehabilitative therapy were just as willing as patients without motivational impairments to commit to effort production for a certain



Fig. 4. Averaged acceptance and success rates as functions of effort (A, C) and reward (B, D) for apathetic and non-apathetic patients. Success rates (C, D) did not differ between the two groups, whereas choice rates in the apathy group reveal a reduced sensitivity to changing reward levels. Effort levels are presented as proportions of the individually calibrated MVC. Bold (light) dots represent the group (single-subject) mean, error bars and shaded areas represent standard error of the mean.

reward during the choice phase. However, after choosing an effortrequiring prospective reward, they did not maintain the required effort challenge to actually reap the reward during the action phase, suggesting a discrepancy between expectation and performance. Consequently, motivation and goal-directed decision making can be conceptualized as behaviour that does not solely involve the decision about engaging in a physical act or not, but also the performance resulting from the decision. Indeed, motivation is defined as a force or energy that activates, directs, and sustains a given behaviour (Hebb, 1955; Kleinginna & Kleinginna, 1981; Studer & Knecht, 2016). In line with that, a recent neurocognitive framework of cost-benefit decision making defines three different phases of goal-directed motivation: (a) choosing whether to act or not, (b) persisting with the chosen behaviour, and (c) learning about the outcome (Le Heron et al., 2018c).

Intriguingly, our results suggest that these different dimensions of goal-directed motivation and behaviour can be affected selectively. Functional neuroimaging studies in healthy individuals indicate that all three phases are supported by the ventral striatum and the anterior cingulate cortex, and deficits in goal-directed behaviour observed across different brain disorders appear to be linked to disruptions of functional networks involving these two core regions (Le Heron et al., 2018c). In our stroke sample, voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping did not reveal a specific localised neural correlate for the failure to execute effort-based choices, as operationalised in the success rate. This null finding may suggest that the behaviour is driven by a functional network rather than a single localised area that can be detected using VBLM (see e.g., Karnath et al., 2018). Alternatively, it could be due to the lesion overlap in our sample size being on the lower end of the threshold required to obtain reliable statistical results (Lorca-Puls et al., 2018). Future research may aim to elucidate the neurocomputational mechanisms underlying the observed selective change in effort execution.

Drive-impaired stroke patients appear to be affected uniquely in the persisting phase of effortful behaviour, even on the very short time scale of the trials of our paradigm. Such a reduced ability to maintain physical effort, even after choosing to produce this effort, could be a possible explanation for clinical observations of reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during functional rehabilitative therapy and training of activities of daily living. As perseverance in training programs is a crucial part of successful rehabilitation after stroke, a reduced ability to maintain goal-directed effort could ultimately limit patients' functional recovery and - in the long term - the quality of life (Danzl et al., 2012; Paolucci et al., 2012). Moreover, patients showing this type of behaviour may be falsely diagnosed as being depressed, since impaired drive and reduced persistence in completing tasks or activities are common symptoms of depression (Tay et al., 2021). We found no systematic differences in self-reported depression symptoms between our two patient groups.

In contrast to our hypothesis, patients who were identified by their rehabilitation specialists as showing diminished drive, initiative, and perseverance did not differ from unaffected control patients in terms of self-reported ratings of apathy. These results suggest a potential distinction between behavioural patterns that are captured by questionnaires versus those perceived by clinical professionals, and indicate that self-report apathy questionnaires might be unsuitable to identify all individuals that are at risk of reduced participation and persistence with rehabilitative training. It is plausible that the deficits observed in those patients, which primarily manifest during the persistence phase of goaldirected behaviour, may not be fully captured by the self-report questionnaires and their sub-scales used in our study. These questionnaires primarily assess global apathy levels and may not detect specific deficits in maintaining certain effortful behaviours over time. Additionally, as the questionnaires rely on self-reporting, there is a possibility of a lack of insight into one's own motivational impairments. Patients with impaired drive might exhibit reduced awareness or insight into their own deficits, leading to potential underestimation of their condition when relying solely on self-reported measures. Future research may test

if deficits in persisting with a certain behaviour may be a latent dimension of apathy that prevails independently and requires new questionnaires and instruments to be captured.

Self-reported apathy ratings were also not associated with any systematic changes in effort persistence on our task in our samples. However, apathy scores (measured with the AES and AMI) were linked to a reduced reward sensitivity when deciding about acting or not, such that patients with higher levels of apathy showed a reduced sensitivity for changing reward levels and a higher propensity to accept low reward options compared to non-apathetic patients. This result contrasts with previous work who found an apathy-related *decrease* in acceptance of low reward offer in Parkinson's and cerebral small vessel disease (Le Heron et al., 2018a, 2018b; Saleh et al., 2021b). Given that this is the first study in stroke patients, further research will be needed to determine if our result is coincidental or reflects a true, potentially diseasedriven difference.

Some limitations of the current study should be noted. First, as mentioned above, a considerable number of patients in both groups did not show any effort discounting at all. These patients accepted each offer that was presented, regardless of reward or effort level. Interestingly, the same behavioural pattern was also reported in a recent study investigating effort discounting in healthy controls and people with schizophrenia and major depressive disorder (Cathomas et al., 2021). In that study, a lack of effort discounting was present in both clinical groups, but not in control participants. Like the current study, these clinical groups were tested during in-patient treatment. Thus, one conceivable explanation is that the lack of effort discounting was driven by a social desirability effect driven by the treatment environment. Our patients may have unconsciously considered the experiment as a part of their treatment, given that it took part during and in direct relationship to their rehabilitation program. Therefore, the tendency to accept all presented offers could be seen as a result of a behavioural approach that aims to meet hypothetical requirements of participation and commitment. As we did not directly measure impulsive behaviour in our sample, it also remains possible that this choice pattern is based on alterations in impulse control and/or response inhibition. This potential link warrants further exploration in future studies. Another limitation of our study is related to the definition of *drive-impaired* stroke patients, as it is not a validated construct but rather based on subjective evaluations provided by clinicians. However, it is worth noting that these observations are robust due to the extensive experience, interdisciplinary exchange, and expertise of the clinical staff who made them. By regularly monitoring and evaluating patients' behaviour, clinical staff can provide a comprehensive and nuanced understanding of their deficits. Moreover, our independent validation study confirmed that these ratings had clinical validity by demonstrating that they predicted the functional recovery achieved by patients through rehabilitative training. Further, our task design included money, a secondary and extrinsic reward, as an incentive. Hence, the generalizability of the results to intrinsic benefits (such as positive feelings experienced through successful participation) may be limited. Finally, a supplementary voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping on the structural brain scans acquired as part of clinical routine did not reveal the neural substrates of impaired drive after stroke. In samples similar to ours, functional neuroimaging during an effort-based decision-making task may provide more insights into the precise neurocomputational underpinnings.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to characterize behavioural mechanisms that underlie perceived disruptions in drive, initiation, and persistence during rehabilitative training among stroke patients. Through use of value-based and effort-based decision-making paradigms, doctors and therapists may be able to reveal, classify, and quantify different domains of motivation that cannot be captured by self-report questionnaires, diagnostic manuals, and judgments alone, and develop new and individualised motivational approaches to be employed by neurorehabilitative specialists. Revealing the processes and phases that underlie aberrant goal-directed behaviour could therefore serve as a novel and promising new approach to eventually customize individual therapies for rehabilitation patients.

5. Conclusions

Stroke patients that show reduced drive, initiation, and endurance during neurorehabilitative therapy do not differ from control patients in terms of committing to effortful behaviour. Instead, they are characterized by deficits in maintaining the physical effort force for the required time, even after accepting to perform that action. Notably, this altered behavioural dimension of goal-directed activity was not captured by apathy questionnaires, but clinical observation only. These findings underscore the clinical significance of assessing and addressing persistence deficits in stroke patients, as they may provide valuable insights for optimizing neurorehabilitative therapies and enhancing functional recovery.

Funding

This work was supported by intramural funding of the Mauritius Hospital Meerbusch. The authors have no conflicts of interests to report.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Mani Erfanian Abdoust: Formal analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft. Stefan Knecht: Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – review & editing. Masud Husain: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Campbell Le Heron: Resources, Writing – review & editing. Gerhard Jocham: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. Bettina Studer: Data curation, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Software, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgements

We thank Gregor Maier and Heidrun Pickenbrock for provision of the validation dataset reported in the Supplementary Material that was collected in collaboration with Bettina Studer. We thank the patients for supporting this research by participating in this study and their treating clinicians for the comprehensive assessments conducted during standard clinical treatment.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2023.106123.

References

- Ang, Y.-S., Lockwood, P., Apps, M. A. J., Muhammed, K., & Husain, M. (2017). Distinct subtypes of apathy revealed by the apathy motivation index. *PloS One*, 12(1), e0169938.
- Antony, M. M., Bieling, P. J., Cox, B. J., Enns, M. W., & Swinson, R. P. (1998). Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales in clinical groups and a community sample. *Psychological Assessment*, 10(2), 176–181. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.10.2.176
- Aubignat, M., Roussel, M., Aarabi, A., Lamy, C., Andriuta, D., Tasseel-Ponche, S., Makki, M., Godefroy, O., & GRECogVASC study group.. (2023). Poststroke apathy:

Major role of cognitive, depressive and neurological disorders over imaging determinants. *Cortex; a Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior, 160,* 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2022.12.012

- Bailey, M. R., Simpson, E. H., & Balsam, P. D. (2016). Neural substrates underlying effort, time, and risk-based decision making in motivated behavior. *Neurobiology of Learning* and Memory, 133, 233–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2016.07.015
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, Articles, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi. org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bonnelle, V., Veromann, K.-R., Burnett Heyes, S., Lo Sterzo, E., Manohar, S., & Husain, M. (2015). Characterization of reward and effort mechanisms in apathy. *Journal of Physiology, Paris, 109*(1–3), 16–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jphysparis.2014.04.002
- Camerer, C., & Mobbs, D. (2017). Differences in behavior and brain activity during hypothetical and real choices. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 21(1), 46–56. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tics.2016.11.001
- Carnes-Vendrell, A., Deus, J., Molina-Seguin, J., Pifarré, J., & Purroy, F. (2019). Depression and apathy after transient ischemic attack or minor stroke: Prevalence. *Evolution and Predictors. Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16248. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-52721-5
- Cathomas, F., Klaus, F., Guetter, K., Seifritz, E., Hartmann-Riemer, M. N., Tobler, P. N., Kaiser, S., & Kaliuzhna, M. (2021). Associations between negative symptoms and effort discounting in patients with schizophrenia and major depressive disorder. *Schizophrenia Bulletin Open*, 2(1), sgab022. https://doi.org/10.1093/schizbullopen/ seab022
- Chong, T.-T.-J., Bonnelle, V., & Husain, M. (2016). Quantifying motivation with effortbased decision-making paradigms in health and disease. *Progress in Brain Research*, 229, 71–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.05.002
- Chong, T.-J., Bonnelle, V., Veromann, K.-R., Juurmaa, J., Taba, P., Plant, O., & Husain, M. (2018). Dissociation of reward and effort sensitivity in methcathinoneinduced Parkinsonism. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 12(2), 291–297. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jnp.12122
- Danzl, M. M., Etter, N. M., Andreatta, R. D., & Kitzman, P. H. (2012). Facilitating neurorehabilitation through principles of engagement. *Journal of Allied Health*, 41 (1), 35–41. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22544406.
- Douven, E., Köhler, S., Rodriguez, M. M. F., Staals, J., Verhey, F. R. J., & Aalten, P. (2017). Imaging markers of post-stroke depression and apathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology Review*, 27(3), 202–219. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11065-017-9356-2
- Douven, E., Staals, J., Freeze, W. M., Schievink, S. H., Hellebrekers, D. M., Wolz, R., Jansen, J. F., van Oostenbrugge, R. J., Verhey, F. R., Aalten, P., & Köhler, S. (2020). Imaging markers associated with the development of post-stroke depression and apathy: Results of the Cognition and Affect after Stroke - a Prospective Evaluation of Risks study. *European Stroke Journal*, 5(1), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2396987319883445
- Feigin, V. L., Brainin, M., Norrving, B., Martins, S., Sacco, R. L., Hacke, W., Fisher, M., Pandian, J., & Lindsay, P. (2022). World Stroke Organization (WSO): Global Stroke Fact Sheet 2022. International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society, 17(1), 18–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/17474930211065917
- Gaete, J. M., & Bogousslavsky, J. (2008). Post-stroke depression. Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics, 8(1), 75–92. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737175.8.1.75
- Galotti, K. M. (2007). Decision structuring in important real-life choices. Psychological Science, 18(4), 320–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01898.x
- Hama, S., Yamashita, H., Yamawaki, S., & Kurisu, K. (2011). Post-stroke depression and apathy: Interactions between functional recovery, lesion location, and emotional response. Psychogeriatrics: The Official Journal of the Japanese Psychogeriatric Society, 11(1), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-8301.2011.00358.x
- Hartmann, M. N., Hager, O. M., Tobler, P. N., & Kaiser, S. (2013). Parabolic discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Behavioural Processes*, 100, 192–196. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2013.09.014
- Hebb, D. O. (1955). Drives and the C.N.S. (conceptual nervous system). Psychological Review, 62(4), 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0041823
- Karnath, H.-O., Sperber, C., & Rorden, C. (2018). Mapping human brain lesions and their functional consequences. *NeuroImage*, 165, 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2017.10.028
- Kleinginna, P. R., & Kleinginna, A. M. (1981). A categorized list of motivation definitions, with a suggestion for a consensual definition. *Motivation and Emotion*, 5(3), 263–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00993889
- Knecht, S., Roßmüller, J., Unrath, M., Stephan, K.-M., Berger, K., & Studer, B. (2016). Old benefit as much as young patients with stroke from high-intensity neurorehabilitation: Cohort analysis. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 87*(5), 526–530. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2015-310344
- Kringelbach, M. L., & Berridge, K. C. (2016). Neuroscience of Reward, Motivation, and Drive. In *Recent Developments in Neuroscience Research on Human Motivation* (Vol. 19, pp. 23–35). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0749-742320160000019020.
- Kwakkel, G., van Peppen, R., Wagenaar, R. C., Wood Dauphinee, S., Richards, C., Ashburn, A., Miller, K., Lincoln, N., Partridge, C., Wellwood, I., & Langhorne, P. (2004). Effects of augmented exercise therapy time after stroke: A meta-analysis. *Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation*, 35(11), 2529–2539. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/01.STR.0000143153.76460.7d
- Le Heron, C., Apps, M. A. J., & Husain, M. (2018c). The anatomy of apathy: A neurocognitive framework for amotivated behaviour. *Neuropsychologia*, 118(Pt B), 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.07.003

- Le Heron, C., Holroyd, C. B., Salamone, J., & Husain, M. (2019). Brain mechanisms underlying apathy. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 90(3), 302–312. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2018-318265
- Le Heron, C., Manohar, S., Plant, O., Muhammed, K., Griffanti, L., Nemeth, A., Douaud, G., Markus, H. S., & Husain, M. (2018b). Dysfunctional effort-based decision-making underlies apathy in genetic cerebral small vessel disease. Brain: A. *Journal of Neurology*, 141(11), 3193–3210. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy257
- Le Heron, C., Plant, O., Manohar, S., Ang, Y.-S., Jackson, M., Lennox, G., Hu, M. T., & Husain, M. (2018a). Distinct effects of apathy and dopamine on effort-based decision-making in Parkinson's disease. Brain: A. Journal of Neurology, 141(5), 1455–1469. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy110
- Lopez-Gamundi, P., Yao, Y.-W., Chong, T.-T.-J., Heekeren, H. R., Mas-Herrero, E., & Marco-Pallarés, J. (2021). The neural basis of effort valuation: A meta-analysis of functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 131, 1275–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.10.024
- Lorca-Puls, D. L., Gajardo-Vidal, A., White, J., Seghier, M. L., Leff, A. P., Green, D. W., Crinion, J. T., Ludersdorfer, P., Hope, T. M. H., Bowman, H., & Price, C. J. (2018). The impact of sample size on the reproducibility of voxel-based lesion-deficit mappings. *Neuropsychologia*, 115, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuropsychologia.2018.03.014
- Lovibond, P. F., & Lovibond, S. H. (1995). The structure of negative emotional states: Comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 33(3), 335–343. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-u
- Lübke, N., Meinck, M., & Von Renteln-Kruse, W. (2004). The Barthel Index in geriatrics. A context analysis for the Hamburg Classification Manual. *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie* und Geriatrie, 37(4), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00391-004-0233-2
- Lueken, U., Seidl, U., Schwarz, M., Völker, L., Naumann, D., Mattes, K., Schröder, J., & Schweiger, E. (2006). Psychometric properties of a German version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. Fortschritte der Neurologie-Psychiatrie, 74(12), 714–722. https://doi. org/10.1055/s-2006-932164
- Lueken, U., Seidl, U., Völker, L., Schweiger, E., Kruse, A., & Schröder, J. (2007). Development of a short version of the Apathy Evaluation Scale specifically adapted for demented nursing home residents. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15(5), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1097/JGP.0b013e3180437db3
- Luker, J., Lynch, E., Bernhardsson, S., Bennett, L., & Bernhardt, J. (2015). Stroke Survivors' Experiences of Physical Rehabilitation: A Systematic Review of Qualitative Studies. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 96(9), 1698-708.e10. Doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.03.017.
- Maclean, N., & Pound, P. (2000). A critical review of the concept of patient motivation in the literature on physical rehabilitation. Social Science & Medicine, 50(4), 495–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(99)00334-2
- Mahoney, F. I., & Barthel, D. W. (1965). FUNCTIONAL EVALUATION: THE BARTHEL INDEX. Maryland State Medical Journal, 14, 61–65. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/14258950.
- Marin, R. S. (1990). Differential diagnosis and classification of apathy. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 147(1), 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.147.1.22
- Marin, R. S., Biedrzycki, R. C., & Firinciogullari, S. (1991). Reliability and validity of the Apathy Evaluation Scale. *Psychiatry Research*, 38(2), 143–162. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0165-1781(91)90040-v
- Mayo, N. E., Fellows, L. K., Scott, S. C., Cameron, J., & Wood-Dauphinee, S. (2009). A longitudinal view of apathy and its impact after stroke. *Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation*, 40(10), 3299–3307. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.554410
- Mikami, K., Jorge, R. E., Moser, D. J., Jang, M., & Robinson, R. G. (2013). Incident apathy during the first year after stroke and its effect on physical and cognitive recovery. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry: Official Journal of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21(9), 848–854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jagp.2013.03.012
- Morris, J. H., Oliver, T., Kroll, T., Joice, S., & Williams, B. (2017). Physical activity participation in community dwelling stroke survivors: Synergy and dissonance between motivation and capability. A qualitative study. Physiotherapy, 103(3), 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2016.05.001
- Muhammed, K., Manohar, S., Ben Yehuda, M., Chong, T.-T.-J., Tofaris, G., Lennox, G., Bogdanovic, M., Hu, M., & Husain, M. (2016). Reward sensitivity deficits modulated by dopamine are associated with apathy in Parkinson's disease. Brain: A. Journal of Neurology, 139(Pt 10), 2706–2721. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww188
- Nicholson, S., Sniehotta, F. F., van Wijck, F., Greig, C. A., Johnston, M., McMurdo, M. E. T., Dennis, M., & Mead, G. E. (2013). A systematic review of perceived barriers and motivators to physical activity after stroke. *International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society*, 8(5), 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00880.x
- Nickel, A., & Thomalla, G. (2017). Post-Stroke Depression: Impact of Lesion Location and Methodological Limitations-A Topical Review. Frontiers in Neurology, 8, 498. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2017.00498

- Osman, A., Wong, J. L., Bagge, C. L., Freedenthal, S., Gutierrez, P. M., & Lozano, G. (2012). The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 (DASS-21): Further examination of dimensions, scale reliability, and correlates. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(12), 1322–1338. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21908
- Oyake, K., Suzuki, M., Otaka, Y., Momose, K., & Tanaka, S. (2020). Motivational Strategies for Stroke Rehabilitation: A Delphi Study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 101(11), 1929–1936. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2020.06.007
- Oyake, K., Suzuki, M., Otaka, Y., & Tanaka, S. (2020). Motivational Strategies for Stroke Rehabilitation: A Descriptive Cross-Sectional Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 11, 553. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00553
- Paolucci, S., Di Vita, A., Massicci, R., Traballesi, M., Bureca, I., Matano, A., Iosa, M., & Guariglia, C. (2012). Impact of participation on rehabilitation results: A multivariate study. *European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 48(3), 455–466. https ://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22522435.
- Petermann, F. (2011). Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Deutsche Version (HADS-D). Zeitschrift Fur Klinische Psychologie, Psychiatrie Und Psychotherapie / Im Auftrag Der Gorres-Gesellschaft, 59(3), 251–253. https://doi.org/10.1024/1661-4747/a000077
- Platz, T. (2019). Evidence-Based Guidelines and Clinical Pathways in Stroke Rehabilitation-An International Perspective. Frontiers in Neurology, 10, 200. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00200
- Robert, P., Onyike, C. U., Leentjens, A. F. G., Dujardin, K., Aalten, P., Starkstein, S., Verhey, F. R. J., Yessavage, J., Clement, J. P., Drapier, D., Bayle, F., Benoit, M., Boyer, P., Lorca, P. M., Thibaut, F., Gauthier, S., Grossberg, G., Vellas, B., & Byrne, J. (2009). Proposed diagnostic criteria for apathy in Alzheimer's disease and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *European Psychiatry: The Journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, 24(2), 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. europsy.2008.09.001
- Salamone, J. D., Correa, M., Ferrigno, S., Yang, J.-H., Rotolo, R. A., & Presby, R. E. (2018). The Psychopharmacology of Effort-Related Decision Making: Dopamine, Adenosine, and Insights into the Neurochemistry of Motivation. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 70(4), 747–762. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.117.015107
- Saleh, Y., Jarratt-Barnham, I., Fernandez-Egea, E., & Husain, M. (2021). Mechanisms Underlying Motivational Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 15, Article 709753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2021.709753
- Saleh, Y., Le Heron, C., Petitet, P., Veldsman, M., Drew, D., Plant, O., Schulz, U., Sen, A., Rothwell, P. M., Manohar, S., & Husain, M. (2021). Apathy in small vessel cerebrovascular disease is associated with deficits in effort-based decision making. Brain: A. Journal of Neurology. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab013
- Studer, B., & Knecht, S. (2016). Chapter 2 A benefit–cost framework of motivation for a specific activity. In B. Studer, & S. Knecht (Eds.), *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 229, pp. 25–47). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.pbr.2016.06.014.
- Studer, B., Timm, A., Sahakian, B. J., Kalenscher, T., & Knecht, S. (2021). A decisionneuroscientific intervention to improve cognitive recovery after stroke. Brain: A. *Journal of Neurology*, 144(6), 1764–1773. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab128
- Tay, J., Morris, R. G., & Markus, H. S. (2021). Apathy after stroke: Diagnosis, mechanisms, consequences, and treatment. *International Journal of Stroke: Official Journal of the International Stroke Society*, 1747493021990906. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1747493021990906
- Treadway, M. T., Bossaller, N. A., Shelton, R. C., & Zald, D. H. (2012). Effort-based decision-making in major depressive disorder: A translational model of motivational anhedonia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 121(3), 553–558. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0028813
- van Dalen, J. W., Moll van Charante, E. P., Nederkoorn, P. J., van Gool, W. A., & Richard, E. (2013). Poststroke apathy. Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation, 44(3), 851–860. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.674614
- Van Peppen, R. P. S., Kwakkel, G., Wood-Dauphinee, S., Hendriks, H. J. M., Van der Wees, P. J., & Dekker, J. (2004). The impact of physical therapy on functional outcomes after stroke: What's the evidence? *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 18(8), 833–862. https://doi.org/10.1191/0269215504cr843oa
- Walton, M. E., & Bouret, S. (2019). What Is the Relationship between Dopamine and Effort? Trends in Neurosciences, 42(2), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tins.2018.10.001
- West, T., & Bernhardt, J. (2012). Physical activity in hospitalised stroke patients. Stroke Research and Treatment, 2012, Article 813765. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/ 813765
- Wise, R. A. (1987). Sensorimotor modulation and the variable action pattern (VAP): Toward a noncircular definition of drive and motivation. *Psychobiology*, 15(1), 7–20. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03327260
- Yoshida, T., Otaka, Y., Osu, R., Kumagai, M., Kitamura, S., & Yaeda, J. (2021). Motivation for rehabilitation in patients with subacute stroke: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences*, 2, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fresc.2021.664758
- Zigmond, A. S., & Snaith, R. P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 67(6), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x

1	
2	
3	
4	Supplementary material
5	
6	for
7	
8	"Effort-based decision making and motivational deficits in stroke patients"
9	

10 **1.** Assessments of patients' drive during rehabilitative training

Patients' drive, initiation and endurance during rehabilitative training, including self-care training, were observed continuously by the treating clinicians, and rated weekly by two different professional groups: physical/occupational therapists and nurses. Two separate rating scales were developed to account for the different interactions and situations of each professional group with the patients.

16

17 Physical/occupational therapists rated patients' drive, initiation and active participation in 18 rehabilitative training on the following six-level scale, ranging from 0 to 5 (original in German):

0 – the patient does not respond to encouragement, shows no interest in therapy, and is difficult
 to motivate

1 – the patient sometimes responds to encouragement, begins exercising after
 encouragement, but does not finish short exercises

23 2 – the patient waits for encouragement, needs frequent external motivational stimulation and
 24 finishes exercises only when supported continuously

3 – the patient sometimes waits for encouragement, performs some exercises without
 continuous support

4 - the patient initiates and executes exercises independently, is interested in new things, but
 sometimes fails to perform agreed self-directed training

- 5 the patient demands shaping of his exercise program to his developing skills, stays
 motivated throughout therapy sessions, performs self-directed training consistently and reliably
- 32 Nurses evaluated patients' drive and participation during activities of daily living and self-care
- training, using a 3-level Likert scale, with options ranging from 0 ("patient usually shows no
- drive and does not actively participate in self-care"), to 1 ("patient usually shows little drive of their sum") to 2 ("action to actively participate in activities of deity living ")
- their own"), to 2 ("patient actively participates in activities of daily living.").
- Patients were assigned to the DI group when they scored 2 or lower on the 6-level Likert scale used by physical and occupational therapists and/or when they scored 1 or lower on the nurseassessed 3-level Likert scale. Patients were recruited for the control group when their scores were higher than the cut-off levels on both rating scales.
- 41 42

43 2. Validation of the drive assessments: Impaired drive predicts weaker

44 rehabilitation outcome

45 To confirm the clinical validity of the drive assessment, a retrospective analysis of prospectively 46 collected anonymised data from a large set of other stroke patients (n = 518) undergoing 47 inpatient rehabilitation at the same hospital as our main sample was conducted, in 48 collaboration with Gregor Maier and Heidrun Pickenbrock. The dataset was collected as part 49 of a large project on predictors of recovery in stroke, which was approved by the independent 50 Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf 51 (registration ID: 2018034633) and for which written consent was collected from each patient 52 or, in case of inability to consent, from their representative. The dataset included data on the 53 proportional recovery of gait (n=400), transfers (n=361) and stairs climbing (n=394) abilities 54 achieved over five weeks of inpatient specialized high-intensive rehabilitation following acute 55 stroke care. This treatment is thus administered in the subacute phase, with the precise time 56 of onset post stroke varying between patients as a function of individual acute care needs. 57 Gait, transfer, and stair-climbing abilities were assessed for each patient at the beginning and 58 within week 6 of their inpatient treatment using the "Scores of Independence for Neurologic

- 59 and Geriatric Rehabilitation (SINGER)" (Gerdes et al., 2012). Proportional recovery was then 60 calculated as the archived percentage of the maximum possible recovery (Veerbeek et al., 61 2018). Patients' drive, initiation, and endurance during rehabilitative training at the start of the 62 treatment were assessed using the 6-level Likert scale explained above.
- Multiple linear regressions were used to test whether proportional recovery in patients' gait, transfer, and stair-climbing abilities achieved over five weeks of inpatient rehabilitative treatment were systematically predicted by their drive ratings at treatment onset. The models also included the following predictors: i) initial level of gait/transfers/stairs climbing abilities, ii) overall level of impairment at treatment onset [indicated in the German rehabilitation system by the "phase of rehabilitation" (B,C,D)].
- 70

71 Patients' drive ratings at the start of the treatment significantly predicted proportional recovery 72 achieved after five weeks of inpatient treatment in all three assessed physical abilities (gait: b 73 = 0.09, t(394) = 2.01, p = 0.046; transfers: b = 0.14, t(355) = 2.61, p = 0.009; stairs climbing: b 74 = 0.19, t(388) = 3.76, p < 0.001). In the case of proportional recovery of gait, a significant 75 interaction between initial drive and initial gait abilities was furthermore found (b = -0.19, t(394)) 76 = -3.47, p < 0.001), with higher drive having a stronger positive impact in the more impaired 77 patients. For all three assessed physical abilities, initial functional level had a positive effect 78 (gait: b = 0.32, p < 0.001; transfers: b = 0.27, p < 0.001; stairs climbing: b = 0.27, p = 0.005) 79 and overall degree of impairment had a negative effect on achieved functional recovery.

80

81 In summary, this large dataset analysis in an independent sample to the one recruited for our 82 main study confirmed that patients' drive, initiation, and endurance during rehabilitative 83 training, assessed by their treating clinicians, predicted the subsequently achieved 84 rehabilitation outcome. 85

- -

86

87 **3. Voxel-based lesion-behaviour mapping**

88 To test whether behavioral patterns in effort-based decision-making were associated with 89 specific brain lesions, MRI images (T1, T2, and flair sequences) taken as part of clinical routine 90 during acute care treatment or during subacute neurorehabilitation were extracted from 91 electronic patient records. Lesion tracing was conducted with MRIcron (Rorden & Brett, 2000), 92 and normalization of structural images and lesion masks were normalized with the Clinical 93 Toolbox (Rorden et al., 2012) in SPM 12. A voxel-based whole-brain lesion-behavior mapping 94 analysis was performed with NiiStat (https://github.com/neurolabusc/NiiStat), implemented in 95 MATLAB 2018b.

96

97 A general linear model (pooled-variance t-test, linear regression) tested whether the 98 acceptance rate, the success rate, and the proportion of trials with successful maintenance of 99 force for at least 1 second on our effort-based decision-making task (were related to localized 100 brain damage. Only voxels that were damaged in at least 6 subjects (~10% of patients across 101 both groups) were included in each analysis. The alpha level was set to 0.025 and a Bonferroni 102 correction was applied. Anatomical regions with significant lesion-behavior associations were 103 labeled by using the Automated Anatomical Labeling (AAL) atlas. Due to missing/damaged 104 data for one participant of the control and three patients of the DI group, the sample size for 105 this analysis was 56.

- 106
- 107



110

188

Supplementary Fig. S1. Flow-chart of screening and recruitment process. The classification of participants as drive impaired/not impaired was determined through repeated observations made by two professional groups: physical and occupational therapists during rehabilitative training, and nurses during activities of daily living. These observations were further cross-

115 validated through weekly interdisciplinary team discussions.

Supplementary Table S1. Mixed effects from logistic regression model after excluding
 participants that accepted all offers; 'choice' as dependent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	z	р
(Intercept)	3.38	0.45	7.46	> 0.001
Reward	0.61	0.10	6.04	> 0.001
Effort	-6.10	1.25	-4.88	> 0.001
Group	-0.48	0.62	-0.76	0.445
Reward x Effort	-0.29	0.17	-1.74	0.082
Reward x Group	-0.07	0.14	-0.52	0.600
Effort x Group	2.74	1.66	1.65	0.099
Reward x Effort x Group	-0.20	0.20	-0.97	0.334

Supplementary Table S2. Mixed effects from logistic regression model after excluding
 participants that accepted all offers; 'success' as dependent variable

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	р
(Intercept)	3.47	0.40	8.59	> 0.001
Reward	0.07	0.03	2.59	0.009
Effort	-6.70	1.04	-6.45	> 0.001
Group	-1.20	0.54	-2.22	0.027
Reward x Effort	0.16	0.11	1.48	0.139
Reward x Group	-0.02	0.03	-0.67	0.501
Effort x Group	0.62	1.30	0.48	0.635
Reward x Effort x Group	-0.19	0.14	-1.36	0.175





Supplementary Fig. S2. Illustration of the force overshoot (A), indicating the extent of effort produced beyond the required level in percent, and length of force (B), indicating the duration where force exceeded the required effort level in seconds, as a function of effort. On average, DI patients exceeded the required effort level by 19.5% (± 1.94), while controls surpassed the effort level by 18.1% (± 2.41). In contrast, DI patients maintained the necessary force for an average duration of 2.70 seconds (± 0.14), whereas controls sustained force for an average of 3.00 seconds (± 0.12). To further test the homogeneity of variance, we used Levene's test on participant-wise averages in force overshoot and length of force. This test showed no significant difference between both groups for both measures (force overshoot: F(1,58) =0.058, p = 0.811, length of force: F(1,58) = 1.830, p = 0.181), implying that force variability did not vary across both groups.



147 148

Supplementary Fig. S3. Patient's performance in the physical effort task, illustrated by the averaged proportion of participants who met each criterion per block. We investigated whether 149 150 patients learned the task requirements differently, reflected in their ability to achieve the effort requirement with an increasing number of blocks. Across groups, individuals did not differ in 151

152 their learning patterns throughout the task.

153

Supplementary Table S3. Mixed effects from logistic regression model with 'persistence' as
 dependent variable and 'block' included as independent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	р
(Intercept)	3.82	0.30	12.49	> 0.001
Reward	0.25	0.15	1.65	0.099
Effort	-1.50	0.17	-9.07	> 0.001
Group	-0.89	0.41	-2.15	0.032
Block	0.17	0.09	1.97	0.049
Reward x Effort	-0.09	0.13	-0.72	0.474
Reward x Group	-0.02	0.19	-0.11	0.912
Effort x Group	0.13	0.22	0.61	0.544
Group x Block	0.02	0.12	0.19	0.850
Reward x Effort x Apathy	-0.03	0.17	-0.16	0.876





Supplementary Fig. S4. Post-task effort ratings. To investigate patients' subjective

160 161 perception of increasing effort levels, we asked them to rate each of the five effort levels on a 162 21-point rating scale at the end of each experiment. An ordinal regression analysis was 163 conducted with effort rating as dependent variable. The results revealed that there was no 164 significant difference in perceived physical effort between the DI subjects and non-impaired 165 controls (Group: *b* = 0.163, *z* = 0.752, *p* = 0.452; Group x Effort: *b* = -0.013, *z* = 0.009, *p* = 0.150). As expected, increasing effort levels were associated with a greater level of 166 perceived demand (Effort: b = 0.065, z = -9.071, p < 0.001). These findings indicate that 167 168 although both groups perceived increasing effort levels as more demanding, they did not 169 differ in their subjective evaluation of the effort requirements. Effort levels are presented as 170 proportions of the individually calibrated MVC. Bold (light) dots represent the group (single-171 subject) mean, error bars and shaded areas represent standard error of the mean.

Supplementary Table S4. Mixed effects from logistic regression model with 'choice' as
 dependent variable and 'apathy' as independent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	ρ
(Intercept)	4.94	0.68	7.24	> 0.001
Reward	0.65	0.10	6.64	> 0.001
Effort	-4.57	1.49	-3.07	0.002
Apathy	-0.10	0.89	-0.13	0.910
Reward x Effort	-0.54	0.21	-2.57	0.010
Reward x Apathy	-0.34	0.12	-2.75	0.006
Effort x Apathy	0.18	1.70	0.11	0.913
Reward x Effort x Apathy	0.40	0.22	1.83	0.067

Supplementary Table S5. Mixed effects from logistic regression model with 'success' as
 dependent variable and 'apathy' as independent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	p
(Intercept)	2.81	0.32	8.71	> 0.001
Reward	0.05	0.02	2.40	0.017
Effort	-6.79	0.80	-8.44	> 0.001
Apathy	-0.16	0.44	-0.37	0.710
Reward x Effort	-0.05	0.08	-0.57	0.568
Reward x Apathy	-0.03	0.03	-1.24	0.216
Effort x Apathy	0.56	1.07	0.52	0.601
Reward x Effort x Apathy	0.03	0.11	0.32	0.752

184 Supplementary Table S6. Mixed effects from logistic regression model with 'choice' as
 185 dependent variable and 'depression' as independent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	р
(Intercept)	4.74	0.57	8.33	> 0.001
Reward	0.53	0.09	6.26	> 0.001
Effort	-5.40	1.28	-4.22	> 0.001
Depression	0.95	1.10	0.86	0.388
Reward x Effort	-0.37	0.19	-1.94	0.052
Reward x Depression	-0.24	0.16	-1.53	0.126
Effort x Depression	3.01	2.03	1.48	0.138
Reward x Effort x Depression	0.10	0.26	0.37	0.711

Supplementary Table S7. Mixed effects from logistic regression model with 'success' as
 dependent variable and 'depression' as independent variable.

Variables	Parameter Estimates	Standard Error	Z	p
(Intercept)	2.82	0.26	10.93	> 0.001
Reward	0.03	0.01	1.76	0.078
Effort	-6.52	0.66	-9.90	> 0.001
Depression	-0.26	0.53	-0.48	0.630
Reward x Effort	0.01	0.06	0.08	0.938
Reward x Depression	0.06	0.03	2.05	0.041
Effort x Depression	-0.48	1.30	-0.37	0.710
Reward x Effort x Depression	-0.21	0.12	-1.75	0.078

References

197	Gerdes, N., Funke, UN., Schüwer, U., Themann, P., Pfeiffer, G., & Meffert, C. (2012).
198	["Scores of Independence for Neurologic and Geriatric Rehabilitation (SINGER)" -
199	development and validation of a new assessment instrument]. Die Rehabilitation,
200	51(5), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0031-1287805
201	Rorden, C., & Brett, M. (2000). Stereotaxic display of brain lesions. Behavioural Neurology,
202	12(4), 191–200. https://doi.org/10.1155/2000/421719
203	Rorden, C., Bonilha, L., Fridriksson, J., Bender, B., & Karnath, HO. (2012). Age-specific CT
204	and MRI templates for spatial normalization. NeuroImage, 61(4), 957–965.
205	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.03.020
206	Veerbeek, J. M., Winters, C., van Wegen, E. E. H., & Kwakkel, G. (2018). Is the proportional
207	recovery rule applicable to the lower limb after a first-ever ischemic stroke? PloS One,
208	13(1), e0189279. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189279
209 210 211	